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Workspace is the leading provider of space
to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
across London. Our brand recognition is high,
underpinned by our reputation as a good
landlord providing a high quality of service.
Our leases are flexible and offer good value
with minimal paperwork.
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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS 2008

Total rent roll +11.5%

Overall occupancy +1.0%

£52.6m

85.8%

Cash from operations +12.1%

Trading profit +8.8%

£41.6m

£11.1m

Reversionary yield out 1.2%

Estimated rental value +16.5%

7.7%

£76.1m

Property valuation –4.6%

Loss before tax

£993m

£37.0m

Dividend per share +10.1%

Diluted adjusted NAV per share -7.4%

4.56p
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OUR STRATEGY AND
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Our strategy remains unchanged:

• To be a hotelier of space to SMEs providing
our customers with flexible, affordable leases;
• To deliver superior returns by active management
and giving a high quality of service;
• To focus on the London region within the M25;
• To maximise the alternative use value of the
portfolio; and
• To acquire properties where the Workspace brand
and business model can make a difference.
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DELIVERING ON OUR PRIORITIES

Priority

Short term

Medium term

First point of
contact for any
business looking
for space in
London:

• 8,000 sq ft of billboards on our sites
across London
• 9,400 enquiries in the year, 60% via the web
• 84% of customers surveyed would recommend
Workspace to a friend or colleague

• Raise profile as an SME specialist through
research and sponsorship
• Increased web-based advertising

Broad range of
properties and
locations close to
transport links:

• Six properties acquired for £29m
• 90% of customers surveyed think that their
location is ideal for business

• Top 20 property acquisition targets have
market value of £500m
• £50-£100m properties to be acquired per annum

Flexible,
customerfriendly leases:

• Standard lease four pages, with three month
customer break
• 77% of customers surveyed think Workspace
offers a competitive package

• Further streamlining of product offering

High quality
customer
service:

• 80% of customers surveyed think that service
from centre staff is excellent
• 77% of staff surveyed believe Workspace
is committed to high standards of service

• Rolling customer satisfaction surveys
• Exit and entry customer interviews
• Maintenance of overall high customer
satisfaction rating

Sustainable
business model:

• Environmental audits conducted
at 30 properties
• 23% of waste recycled
• Smart-metering trials at six properties

• Encourage more responsible business
practices amongst our suppliers
• Further roll-out of smart-metering

Investment
to improve the
quality of space
and maximise
usage:

• Refurbishment of Canterbury Court, Kennington
completed January 2008
• Four planning consents achieved in year
• Two further planning consents achieved
in Glebe joint venture

• 18 sites identified for planning consent and
intensification in next five years
• 50% of sites have redevelopment potential
over the next 10 years

Delivering
superior returns
to shareholders:

• Like-for-like occupancy level 88.8%
• 10.1% growth in dividend
• Top quartile performance vs IPD benchmark
achieved over one, five and 10 years

• Maintain like-for-like occupancy
level at around 90%
• Double-digit dividend growth
• Doubling of shareholder value over five years

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

03

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

This has been a year of strong operational
performance for the Group, both in absolute
and comparative terms.
This contrasts starkly with some of the reports
in the finance and property sectors and indeed
the economy as a whole. All parts of the business
showed good progress and the performance
demonstrates the robustness of our business model
with its focus on the property needs of London as a
Global City and in particular the needs of its smalland medium-sized business (SME) community.
Looking at the results for the year in more detail, the stand-out
feature has been the success in growing like-for-like rental values
by 12.2% while still maintaining occupancy at just under 90%. This
was not achieved by chance; it brings together many aspects of the
business model – the strength of the brand, a deep knowledge of the
needs of our customers and the right properties in the right locations
to meet those needs.

Tony Hales CBE, Chairman
Pictured at Canterbury Court, SW9
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Our focus on rental growth and occupancy has reduced the effects
of the yield shift that has occurred in the year. We are always
disappointed to see any reduction in the valuation, especially one
of the order of 5% resulting from the market movement in yields.
However, we have outperformed the market as a whole through our
active management of rents and occupancy and repositioning of our
portfolio. We target ourselves to continue to outperform the market
in this way.
We remain very focused on identifying opportunities to intensify
usage at our properties across London. We are actively progressing
these opportunities across some 20% of our portfolio with planning
consents received at four properties during the year. The Glebe joint
venture sits comfortably alongside the redevelopment of our core
portfolio. It has enabled us to pursue mixed use schemes across a
broader range of properties. There is very little included in our current
property valuation to reflect these opportunities.
It has been a quiet year for acquisitions with only £29m spent buying
six properties which we have tracked for some time and where we see
real opportunity to add value. Pricing of properties has been largely
unattractive, although vendors' expectations have become more
realistic in recent months. We monitor long-term over £8bn of
property across London and believe the forthcoming years will
bring forward attractive buying opportunities for the Group.

04
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The Group's operating cash flow has grown strongly over the year
and accordingly, a final dividend of 3.04 pence per share is proposed,
making a total dividend of 4.56 pence per share for the year up
10%, consistent with the 10% pa growth we have achieved over the
last 15 years.
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all our staff for their
efforts during the year.

Like-for-like rental values
have grown by

Like-for-like occupancy
remains just under

12.2% 90%

Outlook
Our strong level of enquiries and conversions to lettings has
continued since the year end driven by our successful marketing
activity. Occupancy continues to be at consistent levels, with
new refurbishments such as Canterbury Court letting well. In
our rent review and lease renewal programmes we continue to
see good progress.
Of course, we have to temper this with the knowledge that we cannot
be immune to a serious economic downturn; indeed we expect yields
in the first quarter to soften further. However, our experience in past
downturns has demonstrated the fundamental resilience of the
overall SME sector and the continuing demand from small
businesses for flexible, affordable space.
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The strength of our brand, a deep
knowledge of the needs of our
customers and having the right
properties in the right locations have
helped us grow in 2008.

2008
growth

K

Our business model has delivered outperformance in economic
circumstances similar to the present. We aim to continue to build a
company which can continue delivering superior returns.

Focused on growth

B

We believe the current property investment market will present
opportunities in the next couple of years to acquire and create value
from properties in our sector.

R

Identifying opportunities
We are actively progressing
development opportunities
across 20% of our portfolio.
This year we received planning
consent at four properties.

20%
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REVIEW

We continue to build on the strength of our brand
as the leading provider of space to small and
medium-sized businesses across London.
In this huge, growing and fragmented marketplace
we are by far the biggest supplier of space to small
businesses – with 4,500 customers in a marketplace
of over 180,000 SMEs there remains a significant
growth opportunity.
This year has seen double-digit increases in both rent roll and rental
income. We have achieved this from growth in rental pricing levels
and the successful take-up of space at refurbishments. As always,
the key has been to ensure that we do not compromise occupancy
levels as we put through price increases. Occupancy levels have
in fact improved slightly despite the level of price increases we
have achieved.
Our brand recognition is high with our distinctive signage visible
across London and our website successfully attracting a significant
proportion of hits from businesses searching for space. This is
underpinned by our reputation as a good landlord providing a high
quality of service and an active commitment to sustainability, a key
concern for many of our customers. Our business model opposite
is simple, flexible and offers good value with minimal paperwork –
aspects that are even more attractive to our customers when the
economic outlook is uncertain. Indeed, our customers themselves
provide a rich source of referrals and many have grown with us,
moving internally as their space needs have evolved.

Harry Platt, Chief Executive
Pictured at Westbourne Studios, W10
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Figure 2 – Total return performance vs IPD (percentile ranking)
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The net reduction in the portfolio valuation of 4.6% over the year
compares favourably to a fall of 12.5% in total ungeared capital
returns reported by IPD (Investment Property Databank) for the
UK property sector as a whole to 31 March 2008. It highlights the
resilience of our business model which has consistently shown
returns well ahead of the property sector. Our record of annual
outperformance over the last 10 years is shown in figure 1 left
whilst figure 2 shows our percentile ranking on a one, three, five
and 10 year basis.
Even in more difficult economic conditions, we see no change
in the fundamental attractions of our business model, which has
consistently delivered superior levels of performance and returns
to shareholders.
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5 Years

10 Years

A highly visible brand

1-3.

1. Hatfield House, SE1
2. Exmouth House, EC1
3. Online.

Our business model is simple but in
many ways unique, bringing together
three key elements:

1.

2.

3.

1
The small business
sector in London
The demand for space from the
occupational market underpins
everything we do. The small-and
medium-sized business sector in
London is a deep and liquid market
which offers strong growth potential
when the economy is doing well, and
resilient qualities in a more challenging
economic environment. A significant
part of its strength is that many of our
customers are knowledge-based rather
than capital-based and therefore much
less dependent upon credit, rents are
also a relatively small proportion of their
cost base.

2
The nature of
our estates
Our properties are of a relatively small lot
size with some 70% of the properties
valued at £10m or less. The average rent
is £250 per week for 1,000 sq ft of space
with a capital value of £193 per sq ft.
These are at the low end of the size and
value spectrum for London. As London
grows it creates demand for all types
of space, particularly in improving areas
of London where Workspace is well
represented.

The model relies, of course, on the long-term
durability of the London economy with its
attributes of being:

3
Intensification of use
and regeneration
A growing London economy and
increasing population increases
the premium on land value.
Workspace's portfolio of
147 acres of land with relatively
low density mostly within
six miles of central London
is well positioned to benefit
from this trend and to exploit
value adding initiatives for
intensification and/or change
of use. Over time, at least half
of the portfolio will benefit from
these initiatives.

• a world-class city acting as a global hub for
business and culture;
• a diverse multi-cultural population with a
significant inward migration; and
• the primary engine of growth in the UK economy
with our customers representing the highest
concentration of the fastest growing small
businesses.
Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008
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Westbourne Studios, W10
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DYNAMIC
CUSTOMERS
FLEXIBLE
SPACE

OUR MARKETS AND CUSTOMERS

London is a global hub for business and
culture with the highest concentration
of the fastest growing small businesses
in the UK. We know the SME sector well
and understand its needs.

Workspace Group PLC
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OUR MARKETS AND CUSTOMERS

Characteristics
London is a knowledge and service based economy, and its small
business sector is characterised by a high proportion of highvalue-added, high-growth, creative and business services firms.
• London’s status as a world city and leading financial hub
means that it is dominated by business service and knowledge
based businesses;
• 42% of all businesses in London operate in business services
(including the creative industries)4 and the creative industries
alone account for 12% of all London workers.
• The creative industries employ more than 550,000 and contribute
in the region of £25 bn to the London economy. It is estimated that 1
in 20 new jobs in London are within the sector 5.
Contribution to the economy
The small business sector, led by London, is a major driver of
growth in the UK economy, through:

Chris Pieroni, Operations Director
Pictured at Clerkenwell Workshops, EC1

Our markets
It is our understanding of our markets and our
customers that make us experts in the provision of
business accommodation to London’s small
businesses.
Size and scale
The number of businesses in the UK have grown by over 1 million
between 1994 and 2006 driven almost exclusively by growth
in the small business sector. Much of this growth emanates
from London, the heartbeat of the small business sector.
See figure 1.
• London accounts for 16% of all UK businesses and the
London Development Agency estimates that 75% of these
are micro-businesses (0-9 employees)1;
• There are about 675,000 businesses in London and about 75%
are one-person businesses without employees. Of businesses
with employees, 138,000 employ between one and nine people2.
• In London, small businesses – employing less than 50 people –
account for approximately 25% of employment and total
sales turnover3.

Figure 1: Rise in business stock – All UK businesses
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4.02m
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• Job generation; 20% of all new business start ups are in London.
This, coupled with its concentration of high growth businesses
mean small businesses are also a significant source of new jobs;
• Innovation; short lines of communication enable small firms to
respond to changing consumer demand through new or modified
products and services and the application of new technologies
and services;
• Supply chain; small firms form an important part of the business
infrastructure as suppliers to larger organisations and other SMEs,
contributing to the external competitiveness of these firms;
• Level of competition; London’s high business formation rate
(greater than the rest of the UK) increases levels of competition as
new firms enter the market and incumbent firms are forced to adapt
to remain competitive;
• Serving niche markets; many small firms operate in niche markets
that are insufficient in size and scope to be attractive to larger
organisations, but which are important to a particular group of
customers. Without small firms, such niches may go unserved.
Factors affecting the sector – churn
Business churn is a vital function of a competitive market system
and an indicator of an entrepreneurial economy. London has a
higher rate of business churn than anywhere else in the UK.
• London has the highest business density in the UK, the highest
number of business starts and business closures – all indicators
of a highly entrepreneurial economy;
• VAT registrations in London have exceeded deregistrations every
year since 1995. During this time registrations have fluctuated
between 30-38,000, and deregistrations between 25-29,0006;
• Churn is driven in part by increased competition from new
entrants to the market resulting in incumbent businesses being
driven to find new ways to compete. This is particularly true in
a knowledge-based economy, like London.

4.47m
4.28m 4.34m

04

05

06

1. London Development Agency (2007a) – London Annual Business Survey 2006.
2. Data from Small and Medium Enterprise Statistics for the UK and Regions 2005
published by BERR. Regional data is produced biannually and 2007 figures are due
for release in August 2008.
3. Small and Medium Enterprise Statistics for the UK and Regions 2005 published by BERR.
4. London Development Agency (2007a) – London Annual Business Survey 2006.
5. London’s Creative Sector: 2007 Update, GLA Economics.
6. Business Start-ups and Closures: VAT Registrations and De-registrations, BERR, 2007.
7. Workspace Customer Satisfaction Survey, April 2008. Sample of 557 tenants.
8. Entrepreneurs & Enterprises: Profiles of the Workspace Customer Base,
Kingston University, May 2008.

Our customers
The characteristics of London’s small business
population are mirrored in our customer base:
• Size and scale
As we have expanded our property portfolio, our customer base
has grown steadily from 3,200 in 2001 to more than 4,500 in 2008;
• Characteristics
More than 55% of Workspace customers operate in the creative
industries and the business services. The spread of our customer
base, across a broad range of business sectors, gives it a collective
resilience. See figure 3 right.
• Contribution to the economy
We estimate that our customer base of more than 4,500 small
businesses collectively employ more than 30,000 people across
London. Many of these operate in niche markets and work as
suppliers for larger organisations. Some of these are also
suppliers to Workspace Group!
• Churn
Last year, 884 businesses left our portfolio but 1,007 new tenants
joined our portfolio. This churn resulted in an evolving, dynamic
customer base and allowed us to grow rents naturally.
• Performance
Our customers have performed solidly over the last 12 months.
And, even at a time of economic uncertainty our April 2008 survey
of customers revealed that 65% forecast a rise in turnover over the
next 12 months and 40% a rise in employment. See figure 2 right.

Highlights from our Customer Survey 2008
80% agreed that the customer service
from the centre staff/team is excellent.

90% indicated that their business centre
is in an ideal location for their business.

80%

90%

80% agreed that their business centre
reflects the right image for their business.

84% would recommend their current
business centre to a friend or colleague.

80%

84%

77% indicated that, overall, Workspace
offers a competitive package.

77%

Typical customer
A typical customer occupies an average sized unit of 1,000 sq ft and
pays an average annual rent of £12,000 which, typically, accounts for
around 5% of their business turnover8. Average rent in 2008 equates
to about £250 a week and rents remain clearly affordable.
Our customers occupy the micro end of the small business sector,
typically employing 3-4 employees. The majority of our customers
are second stage businesses looking for growth. Although many
leave as their businesses develop we put great emphasis on retaining
our customers.

Figure 2: Our customer base’s prospects

Those who do see through the term of their lease are offered the
opportunity to renew. Last year 400 customers decided to renew
their lease.
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Figure 3: Our customers by business sector
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OUR MARKETS AND CUSTOMERS continued

Workspace at work
Working hard at servicing the SME sector.

Our role
Our customers move faster than most. They are smaller, and
need to be nimble to compete in their ever-changing markets. As
a consequence, their space requirements are rarely stable. During
the last financial year, 273 customers moved within our portfolio:
136 expanding, 74 contracting and 63 relocating to another business

centre. Furthermore 1,007 new customers moved into our portfolio,
whilst 884 left us. Managing this turnover and churn requires
specialist in-house resources. The full cycle of our property and
customer management is all carried out in house.

Driving portfolio performance
Objectives

Delivery

Results

Generate enquiries

Marketing team

Last year we generated a total of 9,414 enquiries through a
mixture of web based and more traditional techniques such as
radio advertising, banners, mail shots and brochures. Almost 60%
of our enquiries come via the web, with a further 23% coming from
outdoor billboards.

Increase occupancy,
ERV and rent roll

Lettings team

We negotiated 1,007 new lettings during the year: 19 per week.
This is our main source of income uplift and requires continuous
monitoring of our pricing and process management.

Retain occupancy whilst
increasing ERV

Renewals team

About 10% of our tenants renew their leases with us every year. This
is an important source of our rental growth and last year, 400 new
leases were negotiated.

Ensure highest possible
levels of customer
satisfaction

Centre management team

Our staff are our ambassadors in the market. Tenant’s perceptions
of Workspace are heavily dependent on the integrity and services
offered by our on site staff. In our last customer survey we scored
76% for overall customer satisfaction and 80% rated the service
from our centre staff as excellent.
Our on-site staff are there to present our estates to the
marketplace; customers, potential customers and any other
stakeholders in the business (such as investors, analysts and
local authority representatives). They conduct site visits for
potential tenants and therefore have an extremely important
marketing role.

12
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Portfolio update
Details of all of our properties can be found
at www.workspacegroup.co.uk

Workspace Group property portfolio at 31 March 2008
Workspace properties within the M25
Workspace Glebe Joint Venture properties
Property acquired in 2008
Property disposed in 2008
Greater London
North/South circular orbital

High Barnet

Southgate

Edgware
Wood Green
Wanstead

Hendon
Hornsey

Romford

Harrow
Ilford
Wembley

Hampstead
Hackney

Dagenham
East Ham

Islington
Bow
Marylebone
Hayes

Southall

CITY AIRPORT
CITY OF LONDON

Ealing
Acton

Kensington
Chiswick

Westminster

Woolwich

Lambeth
HEATHROW AIRPORT

Camberwell

Erith

Greenwich

Clapham

Hounslow

Lewisham

Richmond
Ashford

Eltham
Bexley
Streatham

Sidcup

Wimbledon
Bromley

Mitcham

Croydon

Targeted marketing
Almost 23% of our enquiries come
from outdoor billboards.

Workspace Group PLC
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INVESTING
IN A GROWTH
MARKET

OUR COMPETITORS AND THE INVESTMENT MARKET

London’s growth creates a demand for
all types of space, particularly in
improving areas where we are well
represented.

14
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Neil House, E1
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OUR COMPETITORS AND THE INVESTMENT MARKET

The property investment market and our
relative performance
The last financial year has been remarkable for the
change in sentiment that has taken place within the
property investment market. After a long period of
stability and positive returns, the market turned
from mid 2007. IPD, the industry benchmark, has
recorded annual All Property Total Returns for the
year to March 2008 of -8.5%, caused by a 12.5% fall
in value. The Group has inevitably been impacted,
with the value of the portfolio falling by 4.6%. In
relative terms, however, the Group has once again
substantially outperformed the sector as a whole.
The main contributor to the outperformance this year has been the
growth in rent (up 8.7%) and in particular rental values (up 12.2%).
This growth in rental values has been widely spread across the
portfolio, in both our business centres and industrial estates, as
illustrated below. See figure 1.

Patrick Marples, Property Director
Pictured on Brick Lane, E1

Rental growth has been particularly strong in our Inner London
portfolio, particularly around Clerkenwell, where we have been
able to achieve record rents. Industrial estates in Inner London
also benefited from strong demand, allowing the Group to achieve
higher rents as units became available. We are seeing many
competing industrial estates being redeveloped for other uses.

Figure 1: Estimated rental value growth (like-for-like) for the year to 31 March 2008
Greater London
North/South circular orbital

+12.7%
Business
Centres

+11.2%
Industrial
Estates
+8.1%
+3.7%

North London
17 properties

Outer East
4 properties

+17.7%
Inner East
13 properties

+19.1%
+15.0%
+2.5%
Outer West
20 properties

Central London +16.0%
5 properties
Southbank
8 properties

Inner West
9 properties

1.

+11.0%
+16.9%
Wandsworth
8 properties

Clerkenwell Workshops, EC1

2.

1-2.

Located in our Clerkenwell and
Farringdon cluster of properties.
Clerkenwell Workshops has seen rental
value growth of 40% over the year.

16
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South East
8 properties

For the latest information
www.workspacegroup.co.uk

Competitors and our acquisition strategy
Workspace faces competition in all areas of its activities but there is
no other provider of space for small businesses in London which is
comparable in terms of the range of space on offer, the customer
service or brand recognition. Competition for customers comes from
other business centres and industrial estates that offer space to the
market, but these are in widely dispersed ownership. Competitors
include private investors that own small unit accommodation and
compete at a local level. Often undercapitalised, local competition is
unable to generate the volume of enquiries for space that is a
characteristic of the Workspace model and brand. Other space
providers also include institutional investors and the public sector,
both of whom tend to manage their holdings more conventionally,
without offering the flexibility and customer care that is a feature of
the Workspace offer.
Competitors are also a source of new acquisitions. We maintain an
acquisition database with records of all potential properties across
the Greater London area which are of interest and currently totals 600
properties. Of these 400 are target acquisitions and the remainder are
adjacent to existing properties and are monitored for potential site
assembly opportunities. This database represents a substantial pool
of potential acquisitions for future growth; the top 20 target
acquisitions alone are estimated to have a value in excess of £500m.
Owners are contacted regularly and over the last year 89% of our
acquisitions have been made off-market using this database.

In a quiet year for acquisitions, six properties have been acquired at an
aggregate cost of £29 million. These investments added 268,000 sq ft
of space to the portfolio at an average cost of £108 per sq ft, a
substantial discount to average value across the rest of the portfolio
and offering considerable growth potential. All new acquisitions
are required to satisfy the following investment criteria:
• To meet the needs of the local small business community.
• Have potential for adding value by letting of vacant space and
improving the rents.
• Have prospects for potential change of use or intensification.
• Located in areas of change, with above average rental growth
prospects.
• Good access to public transport.
The only disposal to have taken place in the year has been Parmiter
Industrial Estate, E2. The estate totals 35,572 sq ft on 2 acres and
has been sold for redevelopment for £11m. This was a long-term
investment dating from the founding of the Company in 1987,
the property has achieved attractive average annual returns
of 28% during the period of ownership.

Main acquisitions made during the year
Price
(£m)

Initial
Rent
(£000)

Rental
Value
(£000)

Property

Description

St Ives Warehouse, SE1

Vacant 3 storey building of 14,455 sq ft, adjacent
to existing ownership.

4.7

–

318

Littleton House, Ashford, TW15

A business centre of 43,213 sq ft.

3.8

244

372

Mallard Place, N22

9,000 sq ft single industrial unit near to our
other buildings in Haringey Heartlands

0.8

43

46

10.8

452

1,008

28,000 sq ft single industrial unit near to our
other buildings in Haringey Heartlands

2.0

102

136

A multi-storey warehouse on ground and
five floors, totalling 130,000 sq ft.

6.9

268

1,205

Neil House, E1
Quicksilver Place, N22
Enterprise House, Hayes, UB3

Predominantly multi-let offices with retail on
ground and basement, in all totalling 43,592 sq ft.

Total

29.0

All of these acquisitions satisfy the key investment criteria described above.
1.

Neil House, E1

1.

Acquired in October 2007 for refurbishment
and reletting at higher rents.
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Enterprise House, Hayes, UB3
Proposals to create a high value business
centre and 70 apartments from existing
industrial uses.

18
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+1·2M SQ FTFROM
INTENSIFICATION
OVER FIVE YEARS

REGENERATION

As London’s economy grows
intensification of land usage will
increase. 20% of our properties have
development potential over the
next five years.
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REGENERATION

Refurbishment and regeneration strategy
Our strategy for adding value falls into two
categories. We reposition the type of space we offer
to our customers by refurbishing existing buildings
or we regenerate by redeveloping the site to create
a greater amount of commercial space together
with a range of other higher value uses.
At each of our sites we keep closely in touch with our customers
in order to fully understand their business requirements and the
business image they wish to portray. This allows us to understand
how we can best use any capital expenditure to refurbish or redevelop
buildings to match our customers’ needs.
The success of this approach is demonstrated by our high levels of
customer satisfaction and our continued growth in rental income.
One of our developments undertaken this year is described on
the right.
Angus Boag, Development Director
Pictured at Enterprise House, Hayes, UB3

Four planning consents achieved
in core portfolio

Two business centres
developed/refurbished

4

2

Two planning consents achieved
in Glebe joint venture

18 sites being progressed
for redevelopment

2

18

Acquired in February 2008, Enterprise House, Hayes (right) is a
Grade II listed building of architectural interest dating from c.1913.
Previously a gramophone factory and a part of the original EMI
headquarters. Located within easy reach of Heathrow and Paddington
by public transport, this property offers great potential to create
a high value business centre together with residential apartments.
Enterprise House, Hayes, UB3
• 130,000 sq ft purchased for £6.85m
• Five minutes walk to proposed Crossrail
at Hayes Station
• Area of significant change and
improvement
• Mixed use development proposed
• Industrial/storage space to be
repositioned to high value Business
Centre
• Apartments to be created as part of our
Enterprise House mixed use development

Apartments to be created

70
20
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Canterbury Court, SW9
Major redevelopment Kennington Park to provide new
business centre.
Kennington Park was purchased as an industrial estate
but we recognised the potential to reposition the site as
a centre for small businesses in the creative sector. The
site is well served by public transport linking customers
to the City and mid town.
The redevelopment of Canterbury Court at a total
cost of £12.2m has provided a 100,000 sq ft business
centre with a café and glazed atrium as a focal point.
Emphasis has been placed on the sustainability of
the new buildings with renewable energy being
generated from helix windmills and photovoltaic cells.
The building opened for business in January 2008 and
is already 40% let, recent lettings having been achieved
at £30 per sq ft.

Redevelopment of Canterbury Court

£12m
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REGENERATION continued

Planning strategy
In addition to meeting our customers specific
demands, Workspace is well placed to meet the
social and environmental targets set by the Mayor of
London and Central Government.

Housing:
Intensification will create much needed private, affordable and shared
ownership homes close to areas of employment.

In almost all cases planning policy dictates that employment on our
sites is protected, but where there is the opportunity we are promoting
mixed use employment led regeneration. This will enable higher
density schemes with uses such as residential (private, affordable and
student accommodation) together with improved and more valuable
commercial space for our customers.

Transport:
Our sites are close to public transport as this is a key criteria in the
acquisition. This is recognised as an important factor in ensuring the
success of high density mixed use schemes.

Spending:
Spending by the new households will improve the local economy for
small shops and cafés.

Sustainability:
We are dedicated to creating sustainable mixed communities with a
Local authorities will often resist mixed use development in areas
critical mass of business and residential uses. The energy demands
designated for employment and as a consequence planning consent
of such developments make it possible to provide efficient and
is likely to take longer and require more complex justification than
renewable sources of energy on site reducing the carbon footprint
applications that comply in all aspects with local Unitary Development for our customers.
Plans. Our approach to obtaining planning consent is to emphasise
the following benefits:
Whilst the change from employment to mixed use represents a
challenge with local authorities, our credibility as a provider of
Employment:
employment space and our understanding of the accommodation
Existing properties often have low density accommodation
needs of small businesses puts us in a good position to achieve a
that no longer meets the requirements of the SME market.
change of planning policy.
Redevelopment would produce workspace better suited to current
SME demands and increase the amount of employment on the site.
During the year, we have achieved planning consent for the following:

Core Workspace Properties obtaining planning consent 2007/08
Property

Existing

Consent

Increase

Future strategy

Thurston Road, SE13 46,433 sq ft

406 apartments,
40,000 sq ft retail,
4,000 sq ft live workspace

6 times the existing
floorspace

Site to be sold

Aberdeen Works, N5 56,283 sq ft

72 apartments,
66,000 sq ft workspace

2 times the existing
floorspace

Residential site to
be sold, Workspace
to develop Business Centre

Parmiter Industrial
Estate, E2

34,571 sq ft

106 apartments,
54 student studios,
27,000 sq ft mixed
commercial uses

3 times the existing
floorspace

Site sold

Linton House, SE1

35,013 sq ft

Extension of existing building
to create a total of 50,000 sq ft
workspace

1.5 times the existing
floorspace

Workspace to develop
Business Centre

1.

2.

Wandsworth Business Village, SW18 1.
One of the properties in the Glebe Joint
Venture for which detailed consent has
been obtained for the site to be developed.

22

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

Grand Union Centre, W10

2.

An application for detailed planning
consent will be submitted in respect of this
property which is in the Glebe Joint Venture.

Neil House, E1
Simple repositioning of existing building to produce
new business centre
Neil House comprising two adjacent buildings was
purchased in October 2007. The main building was
configured as conventional offices, and is located close
to our Whitechapel Technology Centre. The building was
achieving rents of £12 psf. We recognise that the demand
in this location is from small businesses where in excess
of £20 psf could be achieved. Currently, work is underway
to reposition the building to suit our core customer base
by dividing it into small units. The refurbishment is costing
£1m and work is scheduled for completion by July 2008.

Neil House scheduled for completion

July2008
In addition, we submitted a planning application for our Greenheath
Business Centre to provide 76,500 sq ft of new business space and
253 student housing units which we have agreed to sell to Unite plc.
In spite of planning officer recommendation for a grant of planning
consent and Greater London Authority support for the scheme,
the planning committee refused the application. The decision
is now subject to an appeal to the Secretary of State.

received planning for alternative use, we will generally sell the sites
or develop with a partner in a joint venture.
In some cases, where we have a mixed use redevelopment, a
developer will return to us the new commercial space as part of the
overall development. This model has been used at our Wharf Road
scheme where United House will return 30,000 sq ft of new business
centre in July 2008 as part of a development including 82 apartments.

Business model for redevelopment
Our property portfolio provides a rich range of opportunities for
regeneration over time. Over a longer time horizon, we estimate that
a least half of the portfolio has redevelopment potential. In addition
to the reprovision of new Business Centres more aligned to local
customer demand, we are able to provide a range of other uses
to generate the highest value. These include student housing,
residential, self-storage and budget hotels.

Planning consents are valid for three years so we are well placed to
continue to derive income from those sites with consent whilst we
carry out a thorough analysis of the market and choose the timing
of any development to suit prevailing economic conditions.

Over the next five years, we have identified 18 properties where we
believe it is realistic to achieve planning consent and redevelop.

Workspace’s role in the joint venture is to asset manage the sites
whilst they are prepared for development. The majority of the Glebe
joint venture sites are income producing and development will only
commence in suitable economic conditions.

Our business model for development is that, in general, we will only
undertake development ourselves where we intend to hold the
properties for the longer term for commercial letting. Where we have

Glebe Joint Venture
The joint venture with Glebe was formed to promote development of
the 11 sites which were sold into the joint venture by Workspace in 2006.

During the year, the joint venture has achieved planning consent on
two sites:

Glebe Joint Venture Properties obtaining planning consent 2007/08
Property

Existing

Consent

Increase

Future strategy

Wandsworth Business Centre,
SW18 (Detailed consent)

86,684 sq ft

206 apartments,
84,000 sq ft workspace

2.5 times the existing
floorspace

Site to be developed

Grand Union Centre, W10
(Outline consent)

50,794 sq ft

145 apartments,
110,000 sq ft workspace,
11,000 sq ft retail

4 times the existing
floorspace

Application for
detailed consent
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OUR PEOPLE

Workspace aims to provide a high level of customer
service and standards of performance which can
only be achieved through the efforts and
commitment of its employees.
The Group has grown significantly over the last 10 years with the
number of employees increasing from 82 to 194. Despite this growth,
33% of staff have been with the Group for over five years and 9% for
more than 10 years. The average period of service with the Group is
four years.
We hold regular meetings with our staff both informally and formally,
through a staff conference held yearly and quarterly staff forums
chaired by the Chief Executive. The directors and senior management
also spend a significant amount of time visiting our properties
meeting staff and customers.

Training and development of staff is essential for the successful
growth of the business. These plans are based on the foundations
established through the Investors in People accreditation that the
Group has held since 1998.
A training plan for the Group is agreed yearly by the Executive
Committee which is built up from the training needs determined
in individual staff reviews. During 2007/08 £133,000 was invested
on formal staff training, providing 635 days of training. Development
plans are a key element of the staff review process. This process
involves review of personal targets and achievements each year
and the setting of business and personal development targets
for the following year. An important aim of the development plans
is to develop credible internal candidates for succession across all
senior posts.

In addition to basic salary, all staff are offered a range of benefits and
incentives. The intention is that overall salary packages should be
We believe it is important that staff have the opportunity to share in the competitive in the London employment market. The average annual
salary of all staff at March 2008, excluding directors, was £22,517.
corporate performance of the Group. All staff are invited yearly to
subscribe to a Sharesave Scheme which provides an opportunity to
invest in Workspace shares at a discount to the prevailing share price. An annual staff survey is conducted which provides useful
independent feedback to management. The 2008 staff survey was
Over 56% of eligible staff have currently taken up this offer.
completed by 72% of the workforce. Overall, the results were very
positive, in particular, it highlighted that there was a high level of staff
The Group works in an ethnically diverse cosmopolitan city. Many
engagement with specific comments that staff enjoyed their job and
of our customers are in such groups. 36% of our workforce (2007:
found their roles varied and interesting. Areas noted for improvement
36%) reflect that diversity. The Group is an equal opportunities
which will be addressed during 2008/09 were:
employer and seeks to avoid any discrimination on ground of gender,
sexual orientation, race, religion, age or disability and to actively
• More awareness of the challenges that staff are experiencing
promote diversity. The average age of a Group employee is 39.1 years
day-to-day in their working environment.
(2007: 40.1) with 15% of employees aged 55 or over and 32% aged 45
• Recognition of the contribution made by individual staff.
or over.
• Clearer, more effective communication across the Group.

Our People
Operational and administrative employees
working at Magenta House, E1, the Group’s
Head Office.
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MANAGING OUR RISKS

The Group views effective risk management as integral to the
delivering of superior returns to shareholders. The Board regularly
reviews the Group’s risk management activities with a view to
confirming that, to the extent reasonably possible, all principal
sources of risk are identified. The principal risks and uncertainties

facing the business and the controls and processes in place by which
the Group aims to manage these risks are set out in the table below.
The internal control process including the role of the Risk Committee
which is an integral part of the risk management process is explained
in more detail on page 42 of the Corporate Governance Report:

Risk

Mitigation

Operational
Fall in occupancy levels

• Weekly monitoring of occupancy levels and update of pricing
at each property.
• Rolling customer satisfaction surveys.
• Weekly monitoring of reasons for customers vacating
and monitoring of trends.
• On-site staff maintain regular contact with customers
and local monitoring of competitors offering space.

Property development
Changes to policy and/or procedures
increase time to obtain planning consent.

• Regular monitoring of government announcements and active
involvement on industry responses.
• Maintain good working relationships with the Mayor of London
and local London authorities.
• Alignment of our regeneration proposals with the London Plan
and local strategic plans.
• Timing of actual developments can be deferred with properties
retained for existing rental use.
• Vacant possession not obtained until exchange achieved
for properties being sold for alternative use.

Changes in economic environment
impacts the viability or returns from
planned developments.

Property valuation
Economic and market factors adversely
impact on valuation.

• Independent valuations conducted quarterly by CB Richard Ellis.
• Alternative use opportunities regularly reviewed across
all properties and planning consent progressed.
• Market yields and pricing of property transactions monitored
closely across the London market.

Property investment
Properties acquired do not meet
performance expectations.

• Thorough due diligence conducted ahead of any
property acquisitions.
• All acquisitions required to deliver a return of at least
8.5% on a current use basis for the property.
• Regular monitoring of acquisition performance against
target returns.

Treasury
Breach of borrowing covenants triggering default.
Insufficient liquidity to progress development plans.

• Covenants tested on monthly results, budgets and forecasts
and reported regularly to the Board.
• Business plan regularly reviewed and sufficient facilities
put in place ahead of funding requirements.

Regulations
REIT conditions breached and REIT status
lost or tax penalties incurred.

• REIT conditions monitored and tested on a regular basis
and reported to the Board.
• Eligibility of shareholders to receive PIDs clarified prior
to payment.
• Close working relationship maintained with HMRC and all
relevant issues openly disclosed.

Business continuity
Failure to recruit and retain key staff with
appropriate skills.

• Succession plans for all key positions.
• Competitive salary and incentive schemes in place.
• Ongoing investment in training and development for all staff.
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SUSTAINABILITY

In recent years the link between the sustainability profile of our
properties and their outstanding financial performance has become
even clearer through a portfolio benchmarking exercise known as
The Third Dimension. Figure 1 right illustrates the strong financial
return and sustainability score typically associated with Workspace
Group properties compared with the eleven other property
classifications used in the Investment Property Databank. This is
the latest available information. An updated report will be available
at: www.workspacegroup.co.uk/sustainability later this year.

High

Figure 1: 2006 Sustainability/ RAR by property type

Risk-adjusted return

Workspace
property type

Retail
warehouses

OOT shopping
centres
Residential
Leisure

Industrial
(distribution
warehouse)

Industrial
(standard)

Provincial
units
Business parks

CL offices
TC shopping
centre

Retail
units

Low

Workspace Group believes the case for
sustainability is as simple as it is compelling: it
makes good business sense. Sustainability is an
integral part of our business and each year we set
challenging targets that seek to maximise our
positive impacts on society and minimise our
negative impacts on the environment. We believe
that our sustainability targets make a significant
contribution to the creation of longer-term returns
for shareholders and the Group is fully committed to
its responsibilities to the environment and the
communities in which it operates.

Good

Sustainability score

Poor

Our approach
Workspace continues to use a cyclical sustainability management
system to drive continuous improvements in sustainability. Targets
are set – according to priority areas of risk and opportunity – and
reviewed annually. In addition, we have recently set some longerterm, aspirational targets out to 2012.
Responsibility for each target lies with appropriate senior members
of staff who are encouraged to identify priority action areas and set
targets under guidance of our sustainability consultants. Last year,
ten senior members of staff assumed responsibility for thirty one
different targets. Half-yearly meetings are held to discuss progress
and strategy, chaired by the Chief Executive who assumes Board level
responsibility for the delivery of our sustainability strategy.
Targets are set across seven areas, representing the seven key
principles of our core values. The table opposite provides more detail
on these areas and what progress we have made in the last year.

More online
For more information on the Group’s
sustainability initiatives please visit
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/sustainability
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Sustainability management framework
Ten senior members of staff
assume responsibility for thirty
one different sustainability targets.
Half-yearly meetings are chaired
by the Chief Executive.

CEO

Description

2007/08 Target

Achievement

Investors and
marketplace

We work hard to engage with our investors
and analysts, believing that a more proactive
approach will result in better understanding
of our business and a more open relationship.

To continue to increase
shareholder value as
measured by net asset value
per share.

Net reduction in portfolio valuation
of 4.6% compares very favourably
to 12.5% reduction reported by IPD
for UK property sector as a whole.

Community

The spread of our portfolio means that we
have a significant presence in local communities
across London. Our business centres and
development schemes are often focal points
of these communities, providing space for
local businesses and jobs for local people.
Through our activities we develop relationships
with a range of local stakeholders including
Borough Councils and local residents.

Encourage at least 10% of
employees to take part in
the volunteering scheme.

We have introduced a volunteering
scheme through which all employees
are entitled to take two days paid-leave
to contribute to a community project.
Over the year, a total of 383 man
hours have been donated to charitable
causes over seven different
events by 37 individual volunteers
(20% of our workforce).

Customers

We aim to be a good landlord – this means
offering a totally competitive package to all
our customers in terms of price and exceptional
management and customer service. It is vital
that we continue to manage the needs
and expectations of our customers in a
rapidly changing business environment.

To co-ordinate a campaign,
in partnership with national
and regional environmental
agencies, to encourage
behavioural change among
our customers around
energy and water use and
waste production.

We developed a customer engagement
campaign under the brand Blue &
Yellow Make Green. Working with
the Carbon Trust, Thames Water and
Envirowise, the campaign promoted
changes in behaviour by demonstrating
the collective impact of small changes.
Blue & Yellow Make Green is the brand
under which future customer
campaigns will be promoted.

Environment

Our business activities have a direct impact
on the environment, particularly through
our refurbishment and development of new
properties. We also have a significant role to
play through the management of our buildings
and working with the primary users of our
buildings, our customers.

To conduct environmental
audits on at least 25
buildings within the
portfolio to identify technical
improvement areas.

Environmental audits have been
carried out at 30 business centres
across the year. Examples of action
taken as a result include: improved
energy efficiency through regulating
boiler and heating controls at Leroy
House and The Chocolate Factory
and steps taken to mitigate
overheating through natural
ventilation at Holywell Centre.

To implement external
H&S audits on a minimum
of five randomly selected
sites.

Health and safety audits have been
carried out by RPS, an independent
health and safety consultancy at five
of our sites: Clerkenwell Workshops,
Barley Mow Centre, Aladdin Business
Centre, Poplar Business Centre,
Acton Business Centre.

Health and safety We are absolutely committed to health and
safety and take every reasonable step to ensure
the health and safety of our staff, customers
and anyone else who may be affected by
our business.

Employees

The success of our business depends on our
people. We recognise the contribution our staff
make through exceptional management and
customer service.

To increase by 10% the
proportion of staff with
sustainability targets in
2007/08 compared with
2006/07.

In 2006/07, 42 members of staff were
bonused on at least one sustainability
target and this has risen to 62 in
2007/08. These targets largely centre
on improved energy efficiency and
increasing recycling rates at our
business centres.

Suppliers

Our suppliers are integral to the maintenance
and management of our business centres.
We recognise that we have a responsibility
to work with suppliers that adhere to good
business practices and whose approach
complements our own. As such, we view all our
suppliers as partners and aim to work with them
to improve responsible business standards.

To develop and launch a
group-wide responsible
procurement policy,
incorporating sustainability
standards relevant to
our suppliers.

Our focus for 2008/09 is on
encouraging more responsible
business practices amongst our
suppliers. This year we will introduce
a supplier questionnaire to help us
monitor the actions our suppliers
are taking – and year on year
improvements – and launch a
sustainability guide for small
businesses as suppliers.
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SUSTAINABILITY continued

This year, the Group will publish its ninth annual report on
sustainability (previously called Our Responsible Approach to Society).
In these reports, the Group has demonstrated how its social,
economic and environmental commitments have added value to the
business and contributed to the delivery of its business objectives. The
report serves three primary functions:
(1) to review progress against targets
(2) to outline targets and objectives for the coming year
(3) to demonstrate how our approach to sustainability contributes to
wider business objectives and is embedded across the organisation.
Our 2008 Sustainability Report is available to download at:
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/sustainability.
Our priorities and challenges
Sustainability is at the heart of our business. As London’s leading
provider of business space for small businesses, we breathe life into
old buildings, creating multi-tenanted business centres rooted in
local communities. Our core activities include the acquisition,
refurbishment and management of commercial property, with an
increasing emphasis on development to accommodate London’s
growth and regeneration targets. Within these activities, we view our
key priorities to be:

Total spend with suppliers

£43m
Number of suppliers

700

Energy management

Customer engagement

Energy use and management is a major issue for us due to the
scale of our portfolio and the variety of metering arrangements
across all of our sites. This situation arises because in purchasing
an old building, we sometimes inherit its problems too – outdated,
unsuitable metering arrangements is one such challenge. Over
the last 12 months we have committed considerable time and
resources to devising an energy management strategy and policy
and initiating smart-metering trials at six sites.

One of the greatest challenges facing the property industry is that
property owners do not have direct control over the way in which
occupiers use the building. It is therefore essential that we try to
work in partnership with our customers and help them become
more sustainable businesses. Over the last 12 months we
successfully launched awareness raising campaigns in partnership
with The Carbon Trust, Thames Water and Envirowise. We have also
worked with Global Action Plan, an environmental charity, to offer
free environmental audits to our customers. In addition, during the
year we recycled 23% of waste produced at our business centres,
up from 19.5% in the prior year.

Legislation

Suppliers

There are a number of changes affecting the property industry in
response to overwhelming evidence about climate change. This
year, Energy Performance certificates have been introduced and
by the end of the year will be required to be made available to
tenants and vendors for all properties let or sold. This is a major
undertaking, but Workspace has been prominent in consultations
with the British Property Federation to manage this process as
effectively as possible. We have similarly engaged with DEFRA
on the forthcoming Carbon Reduction Commitment to ensure
legislative compliance and reduce associated risks

Last year we spent £43m with 700 suppliers. We recognise
our responsibility in this area and the opportunity we have
to encourage responsible business principles across our
supply chain. As a priority area for 2008/09, we are launching
a responsible procurement policy and supplier questionnaire
to better understand the actions and areas for improvement
across our supply chain. This policy is supported by our guide
for suppliers published in partnership with leading organisations
such as Business in the Community and The Carbon Trust.
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Working together

1-3.

In 2007 we produced a short, readable
report aimed primarily at our customers.
The positive feedback we have received
has convinced us to adopt a similar
approach this year, though with a
focus on suppliers. Again, as last year,
this report is supplemented by more
detailed information on our website:
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/sustainability.
This report summarises our performance
against the sustainability targets we
set ourselves last year (reporting from
April 2007 to March 2008, in line with
our financial year), highlights some of
the key achievements and challenges
we faced during this time, and sets out
our programme and priorities for the
year ahead.

Blue & Yellow Make Green

1.

2.

3.

4-6.

We have developed a customer
engagement campaign under the brand
Blue & Yellow Make Green, a reference
to the potential of partnership between
Workspace and its customers. Working
with the Carbon Trust, Thames Water
and Envirowise, the campaign promotes
changes in behaviour by demonstrating
the collective impact of small
changes.Caption

Canterbury Court, SW9

4.

5.

6.

7.

7.

The refurbishment of Canterbury Court
has recycled an industrial use building
creating a modern, attractive business
centre in-tune with the demands of
today’s small businesses.

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

29

BUSINESS REVIEW

The CBRE calculated equivalent yield is 6.9%, the same as the
equivalent yield reported above, which assumes a 90% occupancy
target across all properties. A summary of the scale of this softening
in equivalent yields across the portfolio is set out below:
Increase in Equivalent Yield
Total number of properties 106
100 – 149 bps/51 properties
150 – 200 bps/17 properties
0 – 49 bps/16 properties
50 – 99 bps/22 properties

16

17

22

51

Offsetting the softening in yields there has been strong growth in
estimated rental values (ERVs), reflecting the significant rental price
increases we have been able to achieve.

Graham Clemett, Finance Director
Pictured at Neil House, E1

A year of strong operational performance although our property
valuation has been impacted by a softening in yields.
Valuation
The property portfolio is valued on a quarterly basis by our valuers
C B Richard Ellis (CBRE). This, together with our quarterly reporting
to shareholders on enquiries, lettings and occupancy, gives
transparency on underlying trends. A summary of the movements
in our wholly-owned portfolio during the year is set out below:
£m

Valuation at 31 March 2007
Property acquisitions (including fees)
Property disposals
Other expenditure on properties
Valuation surpluses/deficits:
– quarter to June 2007
– quarter to September 2007
– quarter to December 2007
– quarter to March 2008
Valuation at 31 March 2008

1,001
31
(10)
19
21
(9)
(51)
(9)
993

In total, our portfolio has been revalued down by 4.6% (£48m) during
the year. There has been a significant softening in yields during the
year, particularly in the second half, with the reversionary yield
moving out by 120 bps over the year to 7.7% at 31 March 2008, a level
of yield we last saw three years ago in March 2005.
March
2008

Reversionary Yield
Equivalent Yield

30

Outward Yield Movement
3 months 6 months 12 months

7.7% +50bps +100bps +120bps
6.9% +40bps +90bps +100bps
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March
2008

Growth
3 months

Growth
Growth
6 months 12 months

ERV – like-for-like properties* £57.5m
– total
£76.1m

+4.2%
+5.5%

+7.0% +12.2%
+9.8% +16.5%

*Like-for-like properties are those which have been owned for at least 12 months
and where there has not been any major refurbishment over the last 24 months.
As at 31 March 2008, 92 of our 106 properties in total were in this category.

The portfolio covers some 147 acres and has a capital value of £193
per sq ft. 79% of our portfolio by floorspace is located within six miles
of Central London with the replacement value of the buildings alone of
our properties at £765m. These fundamentals restrict a ready supply
of quality, competitively priced space.

Properties

North London
South London
West London
Central London
East London
Outside London
Total

Valuation
£m

Capital
Value
£ per sq ft

Acreage

129
202
211
296
138
17
993

147
189
174
368
141
80
193

26
31
31
10
38
11
147

The vast majority of our properties are valued purely on a current
use basis. While we expect that over a 10 year period there would be
significant potential for intensification and change of use at more than
50% of our sites, this alternative use value is only included at a limited
number of sites where development plans are well advanced and
planning consent is very likely. The 31 March 2008 valuation included
£21m of alternative use value at seven properties.
A more detailed analysis of the yields at our properties by type
is set out below:
Business
Centres/
Offices

Number of properties
65
Valuation
£719m
Alternative use value
£3m
Reversionary Yield
7.9%
Equivalent Yield*
7.1%
Initial Yield#
5.3%
Reversionary income (at 90% occupancy)£12.9m

Industrial
Estates

Total

41
106
£274m £993m
£18m
£21m
7.1%
7.7%
6.3%
6.9%
5.3%
5.3%
£3.0m £15.9m

*The equivalent yield assumes a 90% occupancy level.
#
The initial yield is based on rent roll at March 2008.

A further breakdown of the £15.9m reversionary income at 90%
occupancy is set out below:
Number of
Properties

Like-for-like properties
Refurbishments
Acquisitions – current year
Total

Equivalent
Yield

92
8
6
106

6.8%
6.7%
9.3%
6.9%

Achieving the reversionary potential at the 14 refurbishments and
acquisitions will depend upon the nature of the asset and scale of
refurbishment required. The estates with the most significant
reversionary opportunities are set out below:
Reversionary
Income

Kennington Park £2.5m
Wharf Road
£0.7m
Enterprise, Hayes £0.8m

Current
Status

Canterbury Court opened January 2008
New building to open July 2008
Acquired February 2008

At Kennington Park the bulk of the reversionary income should be
achieved from increasing occupancy at the newly refurbished
Canterbury Court building to the targeted occupancy level of 90%.
We hope that this can be achieved within the next 12 months.
Key Performance Indicators
The demand for space from SME customers has been strong
throughout the year. Our enquiry levels are up on prior year with
queries averaging 800 per month and some 80 new deals signed
each month. There has also been a high level of lease renewal activity
with over 400 renewals completed in the year delivering significant
uplifts in rents in line with current market prices. On the back of this
demand, we have been able to achieve good growth in rents while still
maintaining high occupancy levels.

Initial Reversionary
Yield
Income

Renewals in year

New deals per month

5.7%
4.1%
3.6%
5.3%

400

80

£8.7m
£5.5m
£1.7m
£15.9m

It can be seen that our core like-for-like portfolio of 92 properties
delivers stronger initial yields. Of these properties we aim to achieve
this reversionary income of £8.7m from the natural churn of our
customers’ leases over the next three to four years.

1.

2.

Kennington Park, SW9
A strategic purchase near Oval being
remodelled to form a new vibrant
business centre.

1.

Wharf Road, N1

2.

Our latest commercial waterfront scheme
near completion in Islington.
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At Canterbury Court, Kennington, which was opened in January 2008,
contracted lettings have now reached 40% with a further 15% agreed
in principle. We are now achieving rents of £30 per sq ft for some
of the smaller second and third storey units, well ahead of our
original plans.

Rent roll +11.5%

£52.6m

Profitability and cash flow
There are very different trading and cashflow characteristics
between:
• Like-for-like properties where there has been no significant
refurbishment work in the last two years and the focus is on
growing rents while maintaining occupancy around the 90%
target level.

Average rent per sq ft +4.9%

£11.88m

• Properties recently acquired, generally off lower yields, that require
repositioning and other properties where occupancy levels are
managed down ahead of refurbishment or redevelopment.

Let floor space +6.3%

A summary of the performance split between like-for-like (L4L)
properties and other properties (comprising acquisitions and
refurbishments/ redevelopments) is set out below:

£4.4msq ft

No of properties

Rent roll at the end of March is £52.6m, up 11.5% in the year with
average rent per square foot still at a very affordable £11.88, up 4.9%
in the year, and let floorspace up 6.3% from 4.2m sq ft to 4.4m sq ft.

Rent Roll – like-for-like
properties
– total

March 2008

3 months

Growth
6 months 12 months

£43.0m
£52.6m

+2.4%
+2.8%

+4.2% +8.7%
+6.1% +11.5%

Of the £3.4m (8.7%) growth in rent roll at our like-for-like properties,
£1.0m (29%) came from renewals by existing customers and £2.4m
(71%) came from new customers.
High levels of occupancy have been maintained across the portfolio,
with like-for-like occupancy of 88.8% at 31 March 2008, up from 87.9%
last year. This level of occupancy allows sufficient customer churn to
achieve rental increases, while still generating strong underlying
rental income. An analysis of the trend in occupancy is set out below.

No. of
Estates

Like-for-like properties
Refurbishments
Acquisitions – current year
Total

92
8
6
106

Occupancy
March September
2008
2007

88.8%
72.2%
73.9%
85.8%

89.6%
68.1%
76.6%
86.4%

March
2007

87.9%
66.9%
–
84.8%

We would typically expect to reach our target occupancy level of 90%
within 18-24 months of completion of a refurbishment and achieve
further increases in rental pricing once occupancy has reached these
levels. The strength of demand for some of our newly refurbished
space has been sufficiently strong that in many cases we have been
able to accelerate these timescales.
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2008
L4L (1) Other
92
14

Total
106

2007
Total
101

£m

£m

Trading
Net rental income
Administrative expenses
Other income
Trading profit before interest

39.2
(2) (8.1)
2.2
33.3

7.9 47.1 41.6
(1.6) (9.7) (9.9)
–
2.2
1.8
6.3 39.6 33.5

Interest
Share of joint venture loss
Trading profit before tax

(3) (21.7)
–
11.6

(6.4) (28.1) (23.2)
(0.4) (0.4) (0.1)
(0.5) 11.1 10.2

£m

£m

Cash flow inflow/(outflow)
£m
£m
£m
£m
Cash from operations
(4) 35.0
6.6 41.6 37.1
Capital expenditure
(4.3) (14.4) (18.7) (20.3)
Interest paid
(5) (23.2) (6.9) (30.1) (22.9)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operations
(after capex and interest)
7.5 (14.7) (7.2) (6.1)
(1) L4L performance excludes all properties held for less than 12 months or where there
has been significant refurbishment expenditure on all or part of the site in the last
24 months.
(2) Administrative expenses have been apportioned on a pro rata basis to net rental income.
(3) Interest has been apportioned on a pro-rata basis to the valuation of properties at
31 March.
(4) Cash flow from operations has been apportioned on a pro-rata basis to trading
profit before interest.
(5) Interest paid has been apportioned on a pro-rata basis to interest in the
Trading statement.

The main features of operating performance in the current year are:
• Strong net rental income growth at our like-for-like properties of
13.6% from £34.5m to £39.2m.
• A significant increase in interest costs reflecting the increase in
LIBOR rates during the current year. The average interest cost during
the current year was 6.7% compared to 6.3% in the prior year.

Net Assets and Financing
Net assets have fallen in the current year by £45.8m to £536.8m
largely as a result of the revaluation reduction of £47.5m. This
translates to a basic net asset value (NAV) per share of £3.13 (down
7.9% in the year) and £3.11 at a diluted level (down 7.4% in the year).
The only other significant movement in the balance sheet is an
increase in bank borrowings by £60.3m to £438.4m. The main
elements of this increase are set below:

• A net trading loss of £0.5m from the lower income yielding
acquisitions and refurbishments.

£m

• The strong correlation between operating profit and cash flow
reflects the Group’s operating model with some 70% of rents
collected monthly (with the remainder quarterly). In addition, 72%
of rents are collected by direct debit on the due date and the Group
has a track record of a low level of bad debts (running at less than
0.2% of revenue). The low level of bad debts reflects customer
rent deposits held (typically three months) and active credit
management of any arrears.
• Net cash flow generated by our like-for-like properties of £7.5m
where capital expenditure is relatively low offset by a net cash
outflow from acquisitions/refurbishments where the income yields
are lower and high levels of capital expenditure are being incurred.
• We expect the high level of investment on acquisitions and
refurbishment, which adversely impacts performance in the shortterm, to deliver strong returns over the medium-term as occupancy
levels reach 90%.
At an overall Group PBT level the revaluation reductions during the
year have resulted in a loss before tax of £37.0m.

Total trading profit
Revaluation (reductions)/surpluses
– Wholly owned portfolio
– Glebe JV
Other non-trading items
Total (loss)/profit before tax

2008
£m

2007
£m

11.1

10.2

(47.5)
(2.0)
1.4
(37.0)

95.3
1.4
5.6
112.5

• The revaluation reduction for the wholly owned portfolio in the
current year includes an outward movement in reversionary yield
by 120 bps and strong growth of 16.5% in rental values. In the prior
year, the revaluation surplus of £95.3m arose from a strengthening in
the reversionary yield of 20 bps and a growth of 6% in rental values.
• Other non-trading items in 2008 includes a £0.8m surplus on the
disposal of Parmiter Industrial Estate for £11.0m in February 2008.
2007 included the net profit from the disposal of 11 properties to the
Glebe joint venture at a value of £146m (exit yield of 4.9%).
The taxation credit of £2.3m in the current year reflects tax
adjustments relating to prior periods. Trading profit during the year
arose mostly from activities that fell within tax exempt categories and
has not incurred a tax charge. In 2007 there was a tax credit of £80.9m
arising principally from the elimination of deferred tax following the
conversion to a REIT.

Acquisitions
Disposals
REIT entry tax charge paid
Capital expenditure
Other

31.3
(10.4)
18.8
18.7
1.9
60.3

At 31 March 2008 the Group had total facilities of £499m (2007: £444m)
with unutilised borrowing capacity of £61m (2007: £65m). The
maturity of the facilities is summarised below:

Repayable between 4-5 years
Repayable between 3-4 years
Repayable between 2-3 years
Repayable in less than 1 year

2008
£m

2007
£m

150
–
270
79
499

–
270
150
24
444

The weighted average term of the Group’s debt at March 2008 is 2.9
years (2007: 2.8 years) . In November 2007 £150m of existing debt
previously falling due in 2010 was extended out in term to November
2012. £270m of term facility falls due in August 2010. Facilities of
less than one year comprise a £75m 364 day revolver and £4m
overdraft facility. The 364 day revolver facility has been extended for a
further year to June 2009. As at March 2008 the Group had £152m of
uncharged assets available for additional facilities.
The Group’s hedging strategy is to progressively move towards at least
50% of its interest rate exposure being covered by fixed rate swaps to
give more certainty on funding cost. A £150m fixed rate swap was taken
out alongside the extension of the term facility in November 2007.
A summary of the key ratios in relation to our current interest cost and
debt are set out below:

Average Interest Rate
Hedging:
– Fixed rate
– Collars
Interest Cover (net rental income)
Interest Cover (trading profit)
Loan to Value (LTV)

2008

2007

6.7%

6.3%

34%
27%
1.68x
1.41x
44%

5%
55%
1.79x
1.44x
38%

At an earnings per share (EPS) level the improved trading
performance results in an increase in trading EPS from 6.4p to 6.5p
but the impact of the revaluation reduction in 2008 results in an
overall loss per share of 20.2p compared to earnings of 115.1p in 2007.

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

33

BUSINESS REVIEW continued

At March 2008 the Group was well within all its banking covenant tests:
• At current debt levels (excluding uncharged assets), interest
rates would need to increase by 300bps for the interest covenants
to be breached.
• The valuation of the property portfolio (excluding uncharged assets)
would need to fall by 29% for the LTV covenant to be breached. At
current ERVs, this would require a softening in reversionary yield
on 300bps.
Glebe Joint Venture
We are continuing to make good progress in our joint venture with
Glebe that was established in June 2006 to promote intensification
and change of use at 11 estates. Planning consent was received at
Wandsworth Business Village in September 2007 for a mixed use
residential and commercial development and outline planning
consent was received in December 2007 at Grand Union, Kensington
for a mixed use residential and commercial development. Planning
discussions for a mixed use development at Bow Enterprise Park are
also well advanced and we would hope to make an application later
this year.
Redevelopment plans at Wandsworth are progressing and we
obtained vacant possession of the property at the end of March 2008.
Excluding Wandsworth, the overall occupancy at the other properties
was 86.8% at the year end, reflecting the strong demand for space.
The valuation of the properties in our Glebe joint venture conducted by
CBRE is set out below:
£m

Valuation at 31 March 2007
Acquisitions/capital expenditure
Valuation deficit in year
Valuation at 31 March 2008

163
10
(4)
169

There has only been a small reduction of £4.0m (2.3%) in the value of
the Glebe JV properties during the year. The valuation at 31 March 2008
includes £22m of alternative use value reflecting the good progress on
planning that has been made.
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The Glebe joint venture has standalone debt funding provided by
HBOS who are also an equity shareholder in Glebe. It comprises a
£130m revolver facility which funds the purchase of properties and
capital expenditure and a £14m pre-development facility. The term
of the facilities run to June 2013 and December 2011 respectively. The
facilities provide funding for the properties through planning up to the
start of redevelopment. Funding of development activity is subject to
separate funding arrangements, that may require additional equity
investment by the joint venture partners. Key ratios in relation to the
HBOS facility are set out below:
2008

Facilities
Amount drawn
% of facilities drawn
Fixed rate swap
LTV

£144m
£127.4m
88.5%
£110m at 5.16%
75.3%

If overall LTV exceeds 85%, then the joint venture partners are
required to contribute additional equity.
The plans for the joint venture to progress the planning and
development programme envisage around £10m of additional
equity being required over the next year, £5m from each partner.
Dividend
A final dividend of 3.04p per share is proposed. Combined with the
interim dividend of 1.52p, this gives a total dividend proposed for the
year of 4.56p, an increase of 10% over last year. The full amount of the
final dividend will be in the form of a Property Income Distribution
(PID) which will be subject to a 22% withholding tax unless tax
exemptions apply.

KEY STATISTICS

Quarter
ending
31/03/2008

Quarter
ending
31/12/2007

Quarter
ending
30/09/2007

Quarter
ending
30/06/2007

Quarter
ending
31/03/2007

Workspace Group directly owned portfolio
Number of estates
Lettable floorspace (million sq ft)◆
Number of lettable units
ERV
Reversionary Yield
Net annual rent roll of occupied units
Average annual rent per sq ft
Overall occupancy•
Like-for-like lettable floor space (million sq ft)
Like-for-like net annual rent roll
Like-for-like average annual rent per sq ft
Like-for-like occupancy

106
5.2
4,611
£76.1m
7.7%
£52.6m
£11.88
85.8%
4.2
£43.0m
£11.55
88.8%

106
5.0
4,522
£72.1m
7.2%
£51.1m
£11.80
86.2%
4.2
£42.0m
£11.23
89.1%

104
5.0
4,441
£69.3m
6.7%
£49.5m
£11.54
86.4%
4.2
£41.3m
£10.98
89.6%

101
4.9
4,394
£66.5m
6.5%
£48.2m
£11.47
85.8%
4.2
£40.5m
£10.86
88.8%

101
4.9
4,304
£65.3m
6.5%
£47.2m
£11.34
84.8%
4.2
£39.6m
£10.73
87.9%

Workspace Glebe joint venture portfolio
Number of estates
Lettable floorspace (million sq ft)◆
Number of lettable units
ERV
Reversionary Yield
Net annual rent roll of occupied units
Average annual rent per sq ft
Overall occupancy•

18
1.2
866
£11.2m
6.6%
£7.2m
£7.80
79.8%

17
1.2
866
£10.7m
6.6%
£7.2m
£7.64
81.7%

16
1.2
823
£10.4m
6.2%
£7.8m
£7.87
85.3%

15
1.2
813
£10.3m
6.3%
£7.9m
£7.77
87.7%

15
1.2
813
£10.3m
6.3%
£8.1m
£7.81
89.7%

11.8
9.7
(50.8)
(52.9)
1,002
542
£3.16
£3.13
1.66x
1.44x
81%
44%
62

11.4
11.0
(8.8)
(5.0)
1,035
597
£3.48
£3.43
1.71x
1.52x
71%
41%
79

11.8
9.7
21.0
24.9
1,028
608
£3.54
£3.49
1.76x
1.45x
63%
39%
118

10.9
10.2
23.0
27.3
1,001
583
£3.40
£3.36
1.79x
1.44x
65%
38%
65

Financial Performance (£m)
Net rental income
Trading operations – operating profit
Revaluation (reduction)/surplus
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Property valuation
Net assets
Net asset value per share (£)
Diluted adjusted net asset value per share (£)
Net rental income interest cover (cumulative)
Trading interest cover (cumulative)
Gearing (%)
Loan to value (%)
Available borrowing facilities (£m)

12.1
9.2
(8.9)
(1.7)
993
537
£3.13
£3.11
1.68x
1.41x
82%
44%
61

◆

Excludes storage space
• Includes floor space withdrawn for refurbishment

The like-for-like portfolio is defined as properties that have been held throughout a 12 month period and have not been subject to a
refurbishment programme in the last 24 months.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND
THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Pictured at Canterbury Court, SW9
From left to right
Chris Pieroni, Patrick Marples, Graham Clemett, Angus Boag, Harry Platt ,
Antony Hales, John Bywater, Bernard Cragg, Rupert Dickinson.
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Board of Directors
Antony Hales CBE BSc
Non Executive Chairman
Tony Hales (60), joined the Board in
November 2002 and was appointed
Chairman in December 2002. He is
currently Chairman of NAAFI Ltd and
British Waterways and a non-executive
director of International Personal
Finance Plc. He was previously Chief
Executive of Allied Domecq plc and a
non-executive director of HSBC Bank
plc, Aston Villa plc and Reliance
Security Group PLC. Chairman of
the Nominations Committee.
Harry Platt MA MRTPI
Chief Executive
Harry Platt (56) joined the Board as
Director and General Manager in April
1991, became Managing Director in
April 1992 and Chief Executive in
October 1999. He was Chief Executive
of Harlow District Council between
1983 and 1989 and before that
Assistant Chief Executive at the
London Borough of Greenwich. Prior
to joining the Group he was Operations
Director of Dixons Commercial
Properties Limited. He is also a
non-executive director of the Real
Hotel Company plc.
John Bywater FRICS
John Bywater (61) joined the Board in
June 2004. He is Managing Director
of Caddick Developments Ltd, having
retired as an executive director of
Hammerson plc in March 2007. He
is a non-executive director of British
Waterways and the West Bromwich
Building Society. Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit and Nominations
Committees.

Bernard Cragg BSc ACA
Senior Independent
Non-Executive Director
Bernard Cragg (53) joined the Board
in June 2003. He is Chairman of i-mate
Plc, and a non-executive director of
Mothercare Plc and Astro All Asia
Networks PLC. He retired as Chairman
of Datamonitor Plc and as a nonexecutive director of Bristol & West plc
in July and October 2007 respectively.
He was formerly Group Finance
Director and Chief Financial Officer
of Carlton Communications Plc and a
non-executive director of Arcadia plc.
Chairman of the Audit Committee and
a member of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committees.
Rupert Dickinson MRICS
Rupert Dickinson (48) joined the Board
in August 2006. He is Chief Executive of
Grainger plc. Rupert joined Grainger
plc in 1992, was appointed a Director
of the company in 1994 and Chief
Executive in October 2002. Prior to
joining Grainger plc Rupert was at
Richard Ellis (now CBRE) where he
worked for five years in commercial
development. A member of the Audit,
Remuneration and Nominations
Committees.
Patrick Marples MRICS
Property Director
Patrick Marples (52) joined the Board
in November 1996 as Property Director
responsible for the investment
management of the Group's property
portfolio. He had previously worked as
a property consultant for the Group
since 1987.

The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee comprises
the executive directors; Harry Platt,
Patrick Marples and Graham Clemett,
together with Angus Boag and
Chris Pieroni.
Angus Boag MSc CEng MICE
Development Director
Angus Boag (48) joined the Group in
June 2007 as Development Director
responsible for identifying and
implementing improvement and
regeneration opportunities within the
Group's property portfolio. Prior to
joining the Group he was at Manhattan
Loft Corporation for 12 years joining as
Development Director and appointed
as Managing Director in 2001.
Chris Pieroni BA MSc PhD
Operations Director
Chris Pieroni (50) joined the Group
as Operations Director in October
2007. He was previously at KPMG,
specialising in real estate and
infrastructure finance. He began
his professional career teaching
economics at Cambridge University.
He joined Colliers Erdman Lewis in
1993, later becoming Chief Operating
Officer. Chris was a non-executive
director of Workspace Group from
2000 until his retirement from the
Board in August 2006.

The responsibilities of the Executive
Committee members include:
Harry Platt
Strategic management; investor
relations; health & safety; staff;
equal opportunities, remuneration
and training and development.
Graham Clemett
Finance; Company Secretarial;
investor relations; energy and the
Group’s IT strategy.
Patrick Marples
Property acquisitions and disposals;
property valuation issues. Chair of
Risk Committee.
Angus Boag
Intensification and refurbishment of
assets across the portfolio (including
joint ventures); lead on social
environmental and ethical issues.
Chris Pieroni
Maximising portfolio performance:
occupancy, rent roll and estimated
rental value through asset management,
lettings and marketing.

Graham Clemett BSc ACA
Finance Director
Graham Clemett (47) joined the Board
as Group Finance Director in July 2007.
Previously he was Finance Director,
UK Corporate Banking at RBS Group
PLC for a period of five years. Prior to
that he spent eight years at Reuters
Group PLC, latterly as Group Financial
Controller.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2008.
Principal activities
The Group is engaged in property investment in the form of letting of
business accommodation to small and medium sized enterprises
located in London and the South East of England. At 31 March 2008
the Company had seven active subsidiaries, four of which are engaged
in the Group's core activities. Details of the Company's subsidiaries
are listed on page 83. LI Property Services Limited procures
insurance on behalf of the Group. Workspace Management Limited
acts as manager for all the Group’s property investment companies.
Workspace Holdings Limited is an intermediate holding company.
Business review
The Business Review contains a detailed review of the business of the
Group, the development and performance of the Company during the
year and at the year end and of its strategy and prospects, including
an analysis using Key Performance indicators.
This information together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Company, details of the Company’s health
and safety policies and its corporate responsibility activities can be
found on pages 2, 8 to 23 and 25 to 35, which are incorporated into this
report by reference.
Profit and dividends
The Group’s loss after tax for the year attributable to shareholders
amounted to £34.7m (2007: £193.4m profit after tax). The directors
recommend the payment of a final distribution of 3.04p (2007: 2.76p),
making a total of 4.56p for the year (2007: 4.14p).
Land and buildings
The Group's fixed assets include investment properties, of £994.3m
(2007: £1,001.6m) and owner occupied property of £2.0m (2007:
£2.0m). Included in non-current assets is the Group’s £15.7m (2007:
£18.5m) investment in a joint venture. This joint venture company
holds investment property totalling £169.3m (2007: £162.9m) at the
balance sheet date. The Group's investment properties and those of
the joint venture have been independently valued by CB Richard Ellis,
Chartered Surveyors, at 31 March 2008 at open market value.
Directors
The present directors of the Company are shown on page 37; with the
exception of Mr G Clemett, they all held office throughout the year.

The Group has a Directors' and Officers' liability insurance policy
which indemnifies the directors and officers against breach of
fiduciary duty.
The Company’s Articles of Association were amended on 31 July 2007
to permit the Company to indemnify its directors, in certain
circumstances, as permitted under the Companies Act 2006.
Following the amendment to the Articles, the Company has executed
a Deed Poll under which it will indemnify its directors, subject to
certain limitations and as permitted by law, for liabilities incurred in
connection with their appointment as a director and in certain
circumstances fund a director’s expenditure on defending criminal or
civil proceedings brought against the director in connection with his
position as a director of the Company or of any Group Company.
No director had, during the year, any beneficial interest in any
contract significant to the Company's business, other than a contract
of employment.
Details of the directors’ shareholdings and options over shares are
provided on pages 48 to 52.
Share capital and control
Details of the Company’s issued share capital are set out on page 77.
All of the Company’s issued ordinary shares are fully paid up and rank
equally in all respects. As at 31 March 2008, there were 174,313,887
ordinary shares in issue.
Substantial shareholdings in the Company
At 6 June 2008 the directors had been notified of the following
substantial shareholdings, amounting to 3% or more of the ordinary
share capital of the Company:
Shareholder

ING
Trefick (IOM) Limited
F&C Asset Management
Trefick Limited
Insight Investment
KBC Peel Hunt as principal
Legal & General Investment Management
Rovida Asset Management
Aegon Asset Management
APG Investments

% of share capital

9.55%
9.04%
8.08%
7.78%
5.66%
5.06%
5.00%
4.83%
3.98%
3.15%

Mr R M Taylor and Ms M Carragher resigned as directors of the
Company with effect from 31 July 2007 and 12 October 2007
respectively.

Donations
The Group has made no political donations (2007: £nil). It has made
charitable donations of £120,086 (2007: £119,975), principally through
rental concessions.

Re-election of directors
Messrs H Platt and B Cragg retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held
on 29 July 2008. Mr G Clemett was appointed to the Board on 31 July
2007 and, in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
will retire at the Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting,
and being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

Health and safety
The Group’s policy is to provide and maintain safe and healthy working
conditions, equipment and systems of work for all its employees and
to provide such information, training and supervision as they need for
this purpose. The Group accepts responsibility for the health and
safety of other people, who may be affected by its activities.

Of the directors proposed for re-election, Messrs Platt and Clemett
have a service contract with the Company that is terminable by either
the Company or by them giving not less than 12 months’ notice
in writing.

38

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

Whilst all employees of the Group have a responsibility in relation
to health and safety matters, certain staff have been designated
‘workplace’ responsibilities or other co-ordinating responsibilities
throughout the Group, and ultimately, at Board level, the Chief
Executive has overall responsibility. Reports on Health and Safety
are made to each Board meeting.

Employment policies
The Group aims to create a working environment in which every
current or prospective employee is given equal opportunity in
selection, development and promotion. A further explanation of the
Group’s people policies can be found in the Our People section of this
report on page 24.
A Staff Forum has been established to improve communication and
consultation with employees.
Employee share ownership trust
The Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)
to purchase shares in the market for distribution at a later date in
accordance with the terms of the 1993 and 2000 Executive Share
Option Schemes. Dividends are waived on shares held by the ESOT,
except for shares held in respect of Invested Awards granted under
the Company’s Co-Investment Plan where shares are beneficially
owned by the participants. Participants who beneficially own Invested
Shares may instruct the trustee of the ESOT to vote on their shares.
The Company may make a voting recommendation to the trustee
regarding the remaining shares held in the ESOT.

Annual General Meeting
The 22nd Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at
Magenta House, 85 Whitechapel Road, London E1 1DU on Tuesday
29 July 2008. Accompanying this report is the Notice of the Annual
General Meeting, which sets out the resolutions to be considered and
approved at the meeting. As well as more routine matters such as the
renewal of authority to allot shares, to disapply pre-emption rights
and to purchase own shares, resolutions are being proposed to adopt
new Articles of Association to update the Company’s current Articles
primarily to take account of changes in English company law brought
about by the Companies Act 2006. The resolutions are explained in a
letter from the Chairman which accompanies the Notice.
By order of the Board
Amanda Whalley
Company Secretary
6 June 2008

Purchasing policies and payments
The Group tries, wherever possible, to procure from within its own
tenant base providing tenants are competitive on price and quality.
The Group’s policy is that, unless agreed otherwise at the time of
the transaction, its own payments to others for goods and services
received are made on average one month of the date of invoice.
During the year to 31 March 2008 the Group’s average payment term
from the date of invoice was 31days. The parent company has made
no trade purchases.
Going concern
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Group and the Company have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts.
Risk management
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Company are set out in note 18 to the financial statements and
in the Corporate Governance section of this report on page 42.
Audit information
As far as the directors are aware there is no relevant information of
which the Group’s auditors are unaware. The directors have taken all
steps that they ought to have taken in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Group’s auditors are aware of that information.
Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their
willingness to continue in office and a resolution that they will
be reappointed is included as ordinary business at the Annual
General Meeting.
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The Combined Code
The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance within the Company. The Board believes that good
governance is assisted by transparent detailed reporting and that
strong and sustainable long-term economic performance is aided by
compliance with best practice in corporate social responsibility. The
Group publishes a range of material both on its website and in hard
copy, for details see page 91. This information is complementary to
this statement of compliance with the Combined Code, which the
Group is required to publish.
Overall compliance with the Combined Code
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2008 the Company has complied
with the provisions set out in section 1 of the revised Combined Code
on Corporate Governance issued in June 2006 save for one exception
which concerns the composition of the Board. The Code advises that
for FTSE 250 companies the number of independent non-executives,
excluding the Chairman, should at least equal the number of
executive directors. Until the retirement of Maddy Carragher as an
executive director on 12 October 2007 the Board comprised four
executive directors, three independent non-executive directors and
the Chairman. Although the Board itself regards the Chairman as
independent he is not considered as independent under the Code.
In the opinion of the directors the composition of the Board was
appropriate. However following the retirement of Maddy Carragher
the Company has since 12 October 2007 been in full compliance with
the Code.
The Board
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Company’s overall
management, its business and its financial strategy and there is a
schedule of matters reserved for its approval including:
• Strategy
• Business plans and budgets
• Dividend policy
• Acquisitions and disposals of more than £5m
• Significant capital projects
• Provision of guarantees
• Risk management

the Company. All directors were present at the seven Board meetings
held during the year except that John Bywater, Rupert Dickinson and
Maddy Carragher were unable to attend one meeting each.
Board of Directors and directors’ independence
As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the Chairman, three
executive directors – a Chief Executive, a Finance Director and a
Property Director – and three non-executive directors. A short
biography of each current director is set out on page 37.
The roles of the Chairman, Tony Hales, and the Chief Executive, Harry
Platt, are separate and clearly defined. The Chairman is responsible
for leadership of the Board, securing its effectiveness and ensuring
that it operates effectively in the interests of shareholders. He is not
involved in an executive capacity in any of the Group’s activities. The
Chief Executive is responsible for the delivery of the strategic and
financial objectives of the Group.
The Board considers that Bernard Cragg, John Bywater and Rupert
Dickinson, the non-executive directors of the Company, are
independent in character and judgement. Their considerable
experience enables them to make a valuable contribution to the
Company. The Board believes that an effective balance of power and
authority is maintained through the number and calibre of its nonexecutive directors. Bernard Cragg is the Senior Independent
Director.
Graham Clemett was appointed as a director and Finance Director
on 31 July 2007 following the retirement of Mark Taylor as Finance
Director on 31 July 2007. Maddy Carragher resigned as a director
and Operations Director on 12 October 2007.
Resources, training and development
The Board has a written framework for the induction of new directors.
This includes visits to estates, meetings with senior management and
advisers and the provision of corporate documentation. Resources
are provided for the continued training and development of all
directors.
All directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary and there is an agreed procedure for directors to take
independent advice at the Company’s expense.
The Company arranges appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal actions against its directors. As at the date of this Report the
Company has also indemnified its directors as described on page 38
of the Directors’ Report.

• Treasury
The schedule of matters is reviewed on a regular basis. Matters
outside the scope of this formal schedule are decided by
management in accordance with delegated authorities approved by
the Board.
More routine matters are currently delegated to the Executive
Committee, comprising the three executive directors, the Operations
Director, Chris Pieroni, and the Development Director, Angus Boag.
The Company also operates a Development Board, an Investment
Board and an Operations Board which comprise various members of
the Executive Committee and the senior management team. These
Boards, each of which has written terms of reference, report to the
Executive Committee on a regular basis. The terms of reference are
available on the Company’s website.
The full Board meets on a fixed bi-monthly frequency and holds an
annual strategy meeting at which it considers the future strategy of
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In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, directors
are required to submit themselves for election at the first opportunity
after their appointment and thereafter for re-election at least every
three years.
Board effectiveness
The effectiveness of the Board and its Committees is vital to the
success of the Company. The Board reviews its performance and
that of each of its committees annually. Each committee also reviews
itself. These performance reviews are conducted internally by the
Chairman of the Board or of the respective committees, using selfassessment questionnaires. The Board and each of the committees
review these assessments, taking action where considered necessary.
The review includes the assessment of individual directors’
performance, which in the case of the executive directors is
undertaken as part of the wider performance appraisal process
applied to staff across the entire Company.

The evaluation undertaken during the year concluded that the Board
and its committees were operating effectively.
The Chairman meets as necessary, but at least once each year, with
the non-executive directors without the executive directors present.
The non-executive directors meet annually without the Chairman in
order to appraise his performance. This meeting is chaired by the
Senior Independent Director.
Standing Committees of the Board
In addition to the Executive Committee, referred to above, the Board
has Remuneration, Audit and Nominations Committees and a City
Committee, each of which has written terms of reference which are
regularly reviewed and which deal clearly with their authorities and
duties. Copies of these terms of reference are available on the
Company’s website.
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee currently comprises the following
Non-Executive Directors John Bywater (Chairman), Bernard Cragg
and Rupert Dickinson all of whom served on the Committee
throughout the year.
The Chairman and the Chief Executive are (other than in respect of
their own positions) invited to attend the meetings.
The Remuneration Committee met on four occasions during the year
at which there was full attendance.
The Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board the
Company’s broad policy for executive remuneration, including both
short-term and long-term incentive arrangements. The Committee is
also responsible for recommending the Chairman’s remuneration to
the Board in compliance with the Combined Code. The Directors
Report on Remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2008 is on
pages 43 to 54.
Nominations Committee
The Nominations Committee comprises Tony Hales (Chairman)
together with the three other non-executive directors. During the
year, the Committee met on three occasions at which there was full
attendance. In addition, Committee members are in contact with each
other on a regular basis, particularly during the recruitment process
of an additional director or member of the Executive Committee.
The Nominations Committee is responsible for the selection and
appointment of all directors and taking an overview of the general
staffing and management of the business including succession
planning. It is a key objective of the Company that each director
should have one or more members of staff whose skills and abilities
could make them suitable for progression over time to the Board.

In addition, during the year the Committee conducted searches for a
new post of Development Director and for an Operations Director to
replace Maddy Carragher who retired from this position in October
2007. Angus Boag was duly appointed to take up his post as
Development Director and Chris Pieroni to take up his post as
Operations Director in June and October 2007 respectively. Although
not main Board appointments, Angus Boag and Chris Pieroni are
considered as key members of the executive management team and
they have been appointed as members of the Executive Committee.
All of these appointments involved the use of external executive
search agencies. Chris Pieroni was previously a non-executive
director of the Company, retiring in 2006 after serving six years.
Biographies of Angus Boag and Chris Pieroni are given on page 37.
The Committee reviewed the proposed appointment/reappointment
of Messrs Platt, Cragg and Clemett and recommended their
re-appointment to the Board.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee currently comprises the following
non-executive directors Bernard Cragg (Chairman),
John Bywater and Rupert Dickinson, all of whom served on the
Committee throughout the year.
Bernard Cragg, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, is a Chartered
Accountant and the Board is satisfied that he has the required recent
and relevant financial experience. The Audit Committee collectively
has the skills and experience required to fully discharge its duties,
and it has access to independent advice at the Group’s expense.
The Chairman of the Company, the Chief Executive, the Group
Finance Director, and other senior finance and (when necessary)
operational management together with senior representatives of the
external auditors may attend meetings by invitation.
During the year, the Audit Committee met on four occasions,
coinciding with key dates in the financial reporting and audit cycle.
There was full attendance by all the Audit Committee members
except that John Bywater was unable to attend one meeting. The
Committee Chairman reports the outcome of meetings to the Board.
The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors in the absence
of management at least twice each year.
During the year the Committee was responsible for reviewing, and
reporting to the Board, on a range of matters including:
• the quarterly, interim and annual financial statements;
• the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies and
practices;
• the property valuations;

Whilst the Nominations Committee leads the appointment process of
additional directors or members of the Executive Committee the
Chairman will consult with all of the directors on a regular basis
throughout the process. All appointments are also subject to the
review and approval of the full Board and all of the directors will be
invited to meet with a candidate before their appointment is
recommended to the Board.
During the year, the Committee identified and recommended to the
Board the appointment of Graham Clemett as Finance Director to
replace Mark Taylor who retired from the Board on 31 July 2007. As
required under the Articles, Graham Clemett will be standing for
election at the forthcoming AGM.

• the review of the Company’s internal control and risk management
systems;
• the external auditor’s management letter; and
• the need for an internal audit function.
The Audit Committee advises the Board on the appointment of
external auditors, their remuneration for audit and non-audit work,
and their cost effectiveness, independence and objectivity; and
discusses the nature, scope and results of the audit with the external
auditors.
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responsive controls are in place and that these are checked on a
The engagement of the Group’s auditors on non-audit activities is not
regular basis. Each Risk Controller has been asked to confirm that
specifically excluded. However, such work is usually only awarded
the appropriate preventative detective and responsive controls are
following competitive tender and after careful analysis by the Audit
currently in place. They will also be asked to confirm, every six
Committee to ensure that any such appointment will not result in a
months, whether the appropriate controls have been effective or
potential conflict of interest. During the year, Pricewaterhouse
report any exceptions; and
Coopers, the Company’s auditors, were appointed to advise the
Company on matters concerning inter-company interest and financial
instruments. They also advised on an issue relating to the accounting • an ‘Early Warning’ process. During the year the Group introduced
treatment for a transaction matter. This transaction did not proceed
an ‘Early Warning’ process under which all employees are required
although it may be progressed at a later date. The Committee is
to report any incidents or events that could have a significant or
satisfied that the non-audit work undertaken by Pricewaterhouse
important financial, reputational or operational impact on the
Coopers required a detailed understanding of the Group and did not
Group. All incidents are reviewed and monitored by the Executive
Committee. This process ensures that any issues are highlighted to
impair their independence.
senior management and are dealt with promptly. We learn from any
mistakes that we make and ensure that appropriate systems and
Due to its size and structure, the Group does not have an internal audit
controls are put in place and working.
function, a matter which is kept under review by the Committee.
However the Committee has strengthened the Company’s resource
The Risk Committee meets quarterly and formally reports to the Audit
on managing areas of risk through the appointment of external
advisors, PKF, one of the UK’s leading business advisers. PKF assist
Committee twice a year. During the year PKF assisted management
the Group and particularly the Risk Committee in identifying risks and and the Risk Committee in ensuring that it has identified all of the
ensuring that appropriate controls are in place to mitigate and
relevant operational risks that may affect the Group and that adequate
manage those risks. PKF attend meetings of the Risk Committee and controls and procedures are in place to mitigate any such risks.
they are invited to attend Audit Committee meetings to report to the
Committee on specific areas of risk.
The Company has ‘whistleblowing procedures’ under which staff may
report any suspicion of fraud, financial irregularity or other
City Committee
malpractice. There were no incidents reported this year.
The City Committee, comprises the Chairman, the Chief Executive,
the Senior Independent Director and the Finance Director. The City
The above systems of internal control continue to ensure that
Committee reviews the quarterly, interim and annual reports and
risk management processes are embedded as part of the culture
associated announcements prior to their review by the Audit
of the Group.
Committee and the Board.
Further information on the Group’s risks procedure is detailed on
Internal control and risk management
page 25.
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board has
Shareholder contact
reviewed the Group’s system of controls including financial,
The Company maintains good relationships with its shareholders
operational, compliance and risk management on a regular basis
through its interim and annual reports and through information
throughout the year. However any such system can only provide
posted on its website. The executive directors hold regular meetings
reasonable and not absolute assurance against any material
throughout the year with major shareholders, analysts and the
misstatement or loss.
financial press, in particular following the announcement of its
interim and preliminary results. It is also the Company’s practice,
The Group has established a risk management framework and
following the preliminary results, that these meetings are followed up
procedures necessary to enable the directors to report on internal
by a telephone conversation between the Chairman and the relevant
controls in compliance with the Code. The risk management
shareholders. The Company’s stockbrokers also discuss the outcome
procedures involve the analysis, evaluation and management of the
of meetings with shareholders and report their findings to the Board.
key risks to the Group.
The Board believes that this provides a better form of governance than
attendance at meetings by non-executive directors. Other ad hoc
The other key elements of the Group’s system of internal control
meetings, presentations and site visits are arranged for shareholders
include:
throughout the year. In addition the Company likes to hold a dinner
each year with its principal shareholders which the full Board attends.
• a comprehensive system of financial reporting;
This has been found by both the Board and shareholders to be an
effective means by which the entire Board may be accessed by major
• an organisational and management board structure with clearly
shareholders. Due to the changes in the Board during the year and
defined levels of authority and division of responsibilities;
the addition of three new members to the Executive Committee this
dinner was not arranged during 2007. However it is the intention, now
• a Risk Committee, chaired by the Property Director, comprising the that the new team is fully established, to hold a dinner for the
Finance Director, the Operations Director, the Development
Company’s principal shareholders later this year.
Director and representatives from senior management. The Risk
Committee reviews and identifies risks facing the Group and
The Company’s annual general meeting is used as an opportunity to
ensures that appropriate controls are in place to review each issue
communicate with private investors. Shareholders attending the
raised. During the year each identified risk was assigned a ‘Risk
annual general meeting are invited to ask questions and to meet with
Owner’ and ‘Risk Controller’. The Risk Controller has responsibility the directors informally after the meeting. Notice of the annual
to ensure that the appropriate, preventative, detective and
general meeting is sent to shareholders at least 20 working days prior
to the date of the meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

This report covers the remuneration policy for directors and includes specific disclosures relating to directors’ emoluments, their shares and
other interests and is being put to shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting for an advisory vote. It describes how the Board
has applied the principles of good governance relating to directors’ remuneration as set out in the Combined Code on Corporate Governance
referred to in the Corporate Governance Statement on page 40. This report includes information which is required to be audited and this
information is stated as such in the relevant table.
1. The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee (the ‘Committee’) currently comprises the following non-executive directors John Bywater (Chairman),
Bernard Cragg and Rupert Dickinson all of whom served on the Committee throughout the year. The Chairman and the Chief Executive are
(other than in respect of their own positions) invited to attend the meetings.
2. Principles of our executive remuneration policy
Our remuneration policy aims to be:
Competitive:
• Below-median basic salaries plus above-median incentives provide opportunity for competitive total reward for superior performance.
Performance linked:
• A significant part of the executive directors’ remuneration is variable and is determined by the Group’s success.
Shareholder aligned:
• A considerable part of the reward is related to share price performance and is paid in shares that have to be retained until minimum
shareholding requirements have been met. The Group aims that all executive directors build up shareholdings equal to one times basic
salary.
a) Review of executive remuneration arrangements
During the year the Committee undertook a comprehensive review of the Company’s executive remuneration arrangements in conjunction
with its independent advisor, Kepler Associates. As part of this review, the Committee benchmarked executive committee remuneration
against other property companies and companies of a similar size. Notwithstanding the strong performance of the Group over recent years,
the benchmarking showed that the fair value of executive total remuneration was around lower quartile and was uncompetitive. This was due
in part to low fixed pay and the use of performance targets for vesting of long-term incentives which were more challenging than those used by
most of our competitors.
Following this review the Committee proposed structural changes to its long-term incentives which it believes will be more motivational. As a
consequence a new long-term equity incentive plan was designed. This was approved by shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 23 April 2008. Further details of the new long-term equity incentive plan are provided on page 46 of this Report. In
addition the Committee reviewed the structure of annual bonuses. Following this review it has increased the annual bonus opportunity for the
executive directors and members of the Executive Committee from 100% to 120% of annual basic salary with effect from the financial year
commencing 1 April 2008.
No significant changes to the fixed level of remuneration, including basic salary, car allowance and pension, were proposed following the
review or are anticipated.
b) Alignment of short-term and long-term incentive arrangements with the Group’s business priorities
During the Committee’s review of remuneration arrangements the Committee sought to align the performance conditions of both the
Company’s short-term and long-term incentive arrangements for the Executive Committee members with those of the Group’s business
priorities. By focusing and achieving its short-and medium-term priorities the Group aims to continue to deliver enhanced shareholder return.
The following table illustrates how the Company’s current short-term and medium-term priorities are aligned with the relevant
performance targets:
Short-and Medium-Term Priorities

Maximising rental income
Maintain occupancy level at 90%
£70-£100m of properties acquired
per annum (medium-term objective)
High quality customer service
Investment to improve the quality of
space and maximise usage

Annual Bonus Plan Target
(short-term goals)

Long-Term Equity Incentive
Plan Performance Condition (medium-term goals)

Return against the Investment
Property Databank Index (IPD)
Profit Before Tax

Absolute Total Shareholder Return
(share price growth plus reinvested dividends)
Relative Net Asset Value
Relative/Absolute Total Shareholder Return

Assessed on response received
from customer satisfaction surveys
Relative Net Asset Value
Total Shareholder Return
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c) Remuneration structure for the year and proposed structure for 2008/09
The elements of the Executive Directors’ remuneration for the previous two years and the arrangements for the year commencing 1 April 2008,
following the review of executive remuneration arrangements referred to above, are summarised below:
2006/07

Base salary:
Chief Executive
Property Director
Finance Director
Annual bonus
Executive share options
Co-investment Plan

Long-Term Equity
Incentive Plan

Pension – employers
contribution
Car allowance

2007/08

2008/09

increase
£330,750
5%
£215,250
5%
£217,300
6%
Maximum of 120% of
annual basic salary.
No further grants will be made
under this scheme.

Opportunity to invest up to 75%
of annual bonus to purchase
shares in return for a 1 for 1
matching. The vesting of
matching shares is subject
to the satisfaction of
performance targets
n/a

5% increase:
£315,000
£205,000
£205,000
Maximum of 100% of
annual basic salary.
Grant in respect of 100%
of annual basic salary
(200% for new participants).
Opportunity to invest up to 75%
of annual bonus to purchase
shares in return for a 1 for 1
matching. The vesting of
matching shares is subject
to the satisfaction of
performance targets.
n/a

16.5% of salary

16.5% of salary

(1) Performance share award
in respect of 200% of salary.
(2) Invested share award –
opportunity for the executive
directors to invest up to 50%
of net salary in shares in
return for a 2 for 1 matching
on a gross basis.
(3) Vesting of performance
and matching shares is
subject to satisfaction of
performance targets.
16.5% of salary

£15,000

£15,000

£15,000

£300,000
£195,000
£195,000
Maximum of 100% of
annual basic salary.
Grant in respect of 100%
of annual basic salary.

No further awards will be made
under this plan.

d) Fixed elements of pay
The fixed elements of remuneration are salaries, pension and other benefits.
(i) Base salary
The base salaries for the Executive Directors are reviewed and analysed annually taking into account advice from independent sources on the
rates of salary for similar jobs in a selected group of comparable companies, and based on the performance of the individuals. As stated above
it is the policy of the Committee to pay below median salaries. The base salary of the Chief Executive was £315,000 per annum during 2007-08
having increased from £300,000 in the previous year. With effect from 1 April 2008 his salary is £330,750 (5% increase).
The base salary of the Property Director and the Finance Director was £205,000 per annum during 2007/08 having increased from £195,000
in the previous year. With effect from 1 April 2008 their base salaries are £215,200 and £217,300 respectively (representing an increase of 5%
and 6%).
(ii)Pension
The Company operates a defined contribution (‘money purchase’) pension scheme for executive directors. Pension contributions are made
on salary payments only and are in respect of 16.5% of basic annual salary.
(iii) Other fixed elements
Other fixed elements of all executive directors’ remuneration comprise car allowance (£15,000 per annum), private medical, personal accident
and life insurance.
Details of Remuneration paid to the executive directors’ during the year is shown on page 48.
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e) Variable elements of pay
During the year there were three variable elements of pay. An annual bonus, a three-year co-investment plan and a long-term share option
scheme. Through the latter two schemes (the Co-Investment Plan and Share Option Scheme) the Group sought to encourage and reward good
long-term performance by providing incentives to both invest in and retain equity in the Company. The value of these schemes is linked to the
performance of the Company’s shares.
Following the adoption by shareholders of the new long-term equity incentive plan, referred to above and detailed below, no further awards will
be made to participants under the Co-Investment Plan or the Share Option Scheme.
(i) Annual bonus
The Group operates an annual bonus scheme which provides for a capped variable (performance related) cash bonus. During the year the
maximum bonus potential for the Executive Directors was set at 100% of basic annual salary. The overall bonus comprised three distinct
elements based on trading profit before tax, portfolio performance and personal targets.
The trading targets are linked to achievement of a defined budgeted trading profit before tax based on IFRS profits but excluding certain items,
the major ones being valuation surpluses or deficits, interest capitalisation, new acquisitions net contribution, fair value adjustments to
derivative financial instruments and IFRS 2 adjustments. Bonus awards on trading profit before tax increase from 0% to 50% of salary in line
with increases in profitability. The maximum bonus was payable on this element in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2008.
The portfolio performance bonus is based upon achievement of a capital return from the portfolio better than that for the defined comparator
index compiled by IPD. Where the combined relative performance of Workspace exceeds the index by 1% in each of the latest three years, then
a bonus of 5% of salary is payable with increments to a maximum of 30% of salary where the outperformance is 2.5% over the reference period.
Full 30% bonus was payable on this element in the financial year ended 31 March 2008.
A bonus of up to 20% was payable on achievement of individual personal targets.
The bonus is awarded by the Committee after consideration of the Group’s and individual’s performance against these targets for the year.
The annual total bonus for the financial year ended 31 March 2008 for all Executive Directors was between 84% and 97% of base salary.
As stated above, the Committee has reviewed the structure of annual bonuses for members of the Executive Committee and has increased the
annual bonus opportunity from 100% to 120% with effect from the financial year commencing 1 April 2008, with the incremental opportunity
earned only for performance over and above that captured in the existing annual bonus. For the financial year ending 31 March 2009, up to 90%
of salary is based on corporate performance. Corporate performance is based on trading profit before tax (40%), portfolio performance (40%)
and customer satisfaction (10%). The corporate performance bonus may be adjusted ±30% of salary based on individual performance by
applying a multiplier between 0.67 and 1.33 dependent on the satisfaction of personal objectives. For example if the Corporate bonus achieved
was 80% of salary, an individual may, if he had not satisfied his personal objectives, only receive a bonus of 53.6% of salary. However, if the
performance of the individual was considered as excellent, a multiplier of 1.22 would be applied to the Corporate bonus of 80%, resulting in the
individual receiving a bonus of 97.6% of salary. Awards in excess of 110% of salary will only be awarded for exceptional corporate and individual
performance. In the event that the Company does not achieve any of its Corporate objectives, resulting in a ‘nil’ payment for the Corporate
bonus element, the Committee will retain discretion to award a bonus of up to 20% of annual basic salary to an Executive Committee member
for exceptional individual performance. Individual performance is based on achievement of personal objectives.
(ii) Co-Investment Plan
This plan, approved in March 2004, was directed at increasing the directors’ direct share ownership in the Company, incentivising them on a
medium-term basis in relation to total shareholder return (TSR) and aligning shareholder and directors interests. Under the plan up to 100%
of the net annual bonus awarded to directors may be invested in the Company’s shares. In June 2007, the Executive Directors were invited
to invest up to 75% of their bonus payable for the year ended 31 March 2007 in shares (the Invested Award). The Company then purchased,
in the market, shares equivalent to the value of the pre-tax amount of the invested bonus (the Matching Award). These shares are held over
a subsequent three-year qualification period.
In order for the shares in the Invested Award to vest, the Company must satisfy the performance condition. The performance condition is linked
to the Company’s TSR Performance against the FTSE Real Estate Index, its comparator group, during the three-year reference period. For
awards to vest the Company must achieve the following ranking:
Rank

% of award vesting

Performance above that of the company at the bottom of the top quartile
Bottom of fourth decile

100
0

In between the above measures there is a scaled award.
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In addition the participants must retain all of the shares in the Invested Award during the three year performance period.
Details of the awards made to the executive directors under the Co-Investment Plan are shown on page 50.
(iii) Executive Share Options
Following the adoption of the new long-term equity incentive plan, no further grants will be made under the Company’s Executive Share
Option Scheme.
Options granted in 2005 to 2007 are subject to performance targets based on the relative assessment of the Group’s NAV growth against other
companies in the real estate sector (with a market capitalisation greater than £300m).
Full vesting of options will arise for top quartile performance, whilst no options will vest for below median performance. Within the second
quartile options will vest on a pro rata basis. Options lapse on termination of employment unless termination arises due to exceptional
circumstances, such as redundancy or death.
All grants of executive share options awarded since 2004 have been on the basis of a single performance test and where this test is not fulfilled
or is only partly achieved, no retesting in future periods is allowed. Further, for all grants of options from this time, in the event of a change in
ownership of the Company, options only vest to the extent that exercise conditions have been fulfilled.
All options granted prior to 2005 have satisfied their performance targets and are exercisable.
(iv) Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan (the ‘Plan’)
The Plan was approved by shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 23 April 2008.
The Plan provides for the grant of two types of awards:
(i) ‘performance awards’, these are conditional rights to receive shares at no cost to the participant subject to continued employment during
the three year vesting period and the satisfaction of challenging performance conditions over a fixed three-year period; and
(ii) ‘matching awards’, these are similar to ‘performance awards’. To align the interests of participants with those of shareholders, the granting
and vesting of the matching award is contingent on the participant acquiring and retaining linked ‘invested shares’. Invested shares are shares
that are purchased using funds provided by the participant which are held in Trust during the fixed three year vesting period. The vesting of
matching awards is also subject to the satisfaction of challenging performance conditions over a fixed three-year period.
It is the intention of the Committee that the first grant of awards will be:
• made to participants in June 2008 following the release of the Company’s preliminary results for the year ended 31 March 2008.
• made to members of the Executive Committee (Messrs Platt, Marples, Clemett, Boag and Pieroni) in respect of 200% of annual gross salary
(excluding bonuses and benefits in kind). The Committee believes this proposal is necessary to provide a motivational package, and to help
reinforce the team dynamic following the recent changes in the senior executive team.
• Awards will also be made to other members of the senior management team based on a sliding scale.
The vesting of both performance and matching awards will be subject to performance criteria set by the Committee. It is intended that there
will be three parts to each award, each part being assessed over the same three-year period:
• One-third will be dependent on the growth in net asset value of the Company relative to companies in the FTSE350 Real Estate Index over a
three-year period (‘Relative NAV’):
• One-third will be dependent on the Company’s total shareholder return (share price growth plus re-invested dividends) relative to companies
in the FTSE 350 Real Estate Index over a three-year period (‘Relative TSR’); and
• One-third will be dependent on the Company’s total shareholder return (share price growth plus re-invested dividends) over a three year
period (‘Absolute TSR’).
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The following table summarises the amount of an Award which would vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant for each level of
performance:
Relative NAV
(one-third of an award)

Level of performance*

Company’s rank
versus companies
in the FTSE 350
Real Estate Index

Threshold
Maximum

Relative TSR
(one-third of an award)

Percentage of
award released

Company’s
performance
relative to
companies in
the FTSE 350
Real Estate Index
20%
Median
100%
Median +
7.5% p.a.

51st percentile
75th percentile

Absolute TSR
(one-third of an award)

Percentage of
award released

Company’s
total return

Percentage of
award released

20%
100%

8% p.a.
15% p.a.

20%
100%

* There will be a pro-rata vesting of awards in between the ‘threshold’ and ‘maximum’ performance levels

Furthermore, for any shares to vest on either Relative TSR or Absolute TSR, the Committee must satisfy itself that the recorded total
shareholder return is a genuine reflection of the underlying business performance of the Company.
Full details of the terms of the Plan were provided in the circular to shareholders dated 28 March 2008, a copy of which is available on the
Company’s website at www.workspacegroup.co.uk. Full details of awards to be made in 2008 will be included in the 2009 Directors’
Remuneration Report.
f) Total package and fixed/variable balance
Assuming that the performance criteria for the exercise of options and receipt of Co-Investment Plan matching shares during the year are
satisfied and that the share price at maturity of these schemes is 60% above the option price and the award price of the co-investment
matching shares, then the composition of the total package and fixed/variable balance is shown below:
Harry Platt
Chief Executive

Patrick Marples
Property Director

Fixed
Remuneration
(37%)

Co-investment
plan
(14%)

Total variable (63%)
Fixed (37%)

Bonus
(29%)

Options
(20%)

Graham Clement
Finance Director

Fixed
Remuneration
(36%)

Co-investment
plan
(13%)

Total variable (64%)
Fixed (36%)

Bonus
(31%)

Options
(20%)

Fixed
Remuneration
(26%)

Bonus
(21%)

Co-investment
plan
(26%)

Options
(27%)

Total variable (74%)
Fixed (26%)

g) External appointments
Executive Directors are able to accept external non-executive board appointments normally limited to one each and provided permission
is obtained from the Chairman of the Company. Fees from such appointments are retained by the executive. The Chief Executive held one
external Non-Executive Board position during the year. Mr Platt retained fees paid to him in performance of his external commitment at
The Real Hotel Company plc of £25,000. No other Executive Directors held any external non-executive appointments during the year.
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3. Directors’ emoluments, interests and incentive awards (audited)
(a) Emoluments During The Year
Total emoluments (excluding options) of the current directors for the year are shown below:

Emoluments to directors who
resigned during the year

Total
emoluments
2007
£000

Pension
scheme
contributions
2007
£000

Fees
£000

Base
salary
£000

Performance
bonus
£000

Other
benefits
£000

Other1
£000

–

315.0

265.5

23.6

–

604.1

52.0

431.3

49.5

–

136.7

198.8

10.9

100.0

446.4

26.0

–

–

–
–

205.0
656.7

196.8
661.1

26.7
61.2

–
100.0

428.5
1,479.0

33.8
111.8

291.6
722.9

32.2
81.7

100.0
38.0
38.0
33.0

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

100.0
38.0
38.0
33.0

–
–
–
–

100.0
33.0
31.3
18.7

–
–
–
–

–
209.0

179.3
836.0

–
661.1

15.2
76.4

–
100.0

194.5
1,862.5

29.6
141.4

574.8
1,480.7

64.4
146.1

Executive Directors
H Platt (Chief Executive)
G Clemett1
(Finance Director)
J P Marples
(Property Director)
Non-Executive Directors
A J Hales (Chairman)
B Cragg2
J Bywater 2
R Dickinson

Pension
scheme
contributions
2008
£000

Total
emoluments
2008
£000

Notes:
1. Mr Clemett commenced employment with the Company on 25 June 2007 and he was appointed as a director on 31 July 2007. The salary and benefits detailed above include
remuneration paid to him from the date of his appointment as a director. Mr Clemett, was required to invest a signing-on bonus of £100,000 (less income tax and employee’s national
insurance contributions) in acquiring shares in the Company. In addition, he was required to invest a further £31,000 of his own funds in acquiring shares in the Company. Mr Clemett
received matching shares in respect of the shares acquired in accordance with the Rules of the Co-Investment Plan. The signing-on bonus was paid on the basis that Mr Clemett had
given up benefits under his current employer’s long term incentive plan with a value of at least £100,000. Upon commencement of his employment with the Company, Mr Clemett
was eligible for a bonus of up to 100% of his basic salary in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2008 subject to the terms of his Service Agreement with the Company. This
included a guaranteed bonus of at least 50% of his basic salary. The Committee has approved a bonus payment to Mr Clemett of 97% of his basic salary.
2. Messrs Cragg and Bywater received a fee of £5,000 for acting as chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committee respectively.

(b) Shareholdings
The beneficial interest of the current directors and their families in the ordinary shares of the Company is as follows:
Ordinary Shareholdings

A J Hales
H Platt
G Clemett
B Cragg
R Dickinson
J P Marples
J Bywater
Total

31 March 2008

1 April 2007*

100,000
513,095
27,173
20,000
12,200
133,728
4,200
810,396

50,000
454,069
–
20,000
–
103,501
4,200
631,770

*The interests for Graham Clemett are shown at the date of his appointment as a director.

None of the directors has a beneficial interest in the shares of any other Group Company or non-beneficial interest in the Company or any
other Group Company and there have been no changes in the interests in the period between 31 March 2008 and 6 June 2008.
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(c) Options
Outstanding Options at 31 March 2008 for the current directors of the Company, granted pursuant to the Company’s 2000 Share Option
Scheme.

H Platt

G Clemett
J P Marples

Total

At
01/04/07

Granted
during
the year

175,0001
410,0001
273,0001
138,0001
109,500
86,900
–
3,4002
–
170,0001
130,0001
310,0001
205,0001
96,500
76,500
56,500
–
3,4002
2,243,700

–
–
–
–
–
–
72,100
–
101,400
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
46,900
–
220,400

Exercised
during
the year

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(35,000)3
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
(35,000)

Lapsed
during
the year

At
31/03/08

Exercise
Price

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

175,000
410,000
273,000
138,000
109,500
86,900
72,100
3,400
101,400
135,000
130,000
310,000
205,000
96,500
76,500
56,500
46,900
3,400
2,429,100

£1.0915
£1.1895
£1.1325
£1.8075
£2.445
£3.45
£4.3675
£2.75
£4.0425
£0.9225
£1.0915
£1.1895
£1.1325
£1.0875
£2.445
£3.45
£4.3675
£2.75

Normal Exercise Date
From
To

24.07.2004
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
19.06.2009
15.06.2007
–
25.06.2010
09.08.2003
24.07.2004
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
19.06.2009
15.06.2010
–

Exercise Terms
(see table
following)

24.07.2011
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
19.06.2016
15.06.2017
01.09.2009
25.06.2017
09.08.2010
24.07.2011
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
19.06.2016
15.06.2017
01.09.2009

B
C
D
D
F
F
F
E
F
A
B
C
D
D
F
F
F
E

Notes:
1. Options which have fully satisfied their performance criteria and vested.
2. Options obtained under the Rules of the Group’s SAYE Scheme. All other options have been granted under the Rules of the Company’s Executive Share Option Schemes.
3. The market value of Workspace ordinary shares on the date of exercise of 35,000 share options by Mr Marples on 7 June 2007 was £4.00. The profit arising on exercise was £107,712.

Details of the basis of grant and the performance tests for exercise of options are:
Basis of Grant

Terms for Exercise

A

2 times total earnings

B
C

1 times total earnings
2 times total earnings

D
E
F

1 times salary
Per Inland Revenue Rules
2 times salary for Mr Clemett
1 times salary for Messrs Platt and Marples

1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 3% p.a. compound plus
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 8% p.a. compound (pro rata)
EPS growth of RPI plus 3% p.a. compound
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 5% p.a. compound plus
1 times earnings at EPS growth of RPI plus 12% p.a. compound (pro rata)
EPS growth of RPI plus 5% p.a. compound
SAYE options with no terms for exercise
NAV growth over 3 years in top quartile of listed real estate companies
with market cap exceeding £300m.

The prescribed targets have been met in respect of all options granted in 2004 and earlier years.
There have been no changes in directors’ interests over options in the period between the balance sheet date and 6 June 2008. The middle
market price of Workspace Group PLC ordinary shares at 31 March 2008 was £2.745 and the range during the year was £5.0875 to £2.4225.
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(d) Co-investment Plan
Details of awards made to the current Executive Directors under the Co-investment Plan are shown below:

Date
Awarded

Interests in Shares
as at 1 April 2007
Invested
Matching

Invested
Award
acquired
during
the year

Matching
Shares
granted
during
the year

Market
value
of shares
at date
of award

Shares vested
during the year
Invested
Matching5

Interests in Shares
as at 31 March 20084
Invested
Matching

Vesting
dates of
outstanding
Matching
Shares

H Platt1,2

12/06/2004
11/06/2005
13/06/2006
12/06/2007

32,200
33,013
32,606
–

54,577
55,955
55,265
–

–
–
–
11,826

–
–
–
20,044

£1.810
£2.445
£3.450
£4.013

32,200
–
–
–

54,577
–
–
–

–
33,013
32,606
11,826

–
55,955
55,265
20,044

12/06/2007
11/06/2008
13/06/2009
12/06/2010

J P Marples1,2

12/06/2004
11/06/2005
13/06/2006
12/06/2007

22,540
23,109
22,332
–

38,204
39,168
37,851
–

–
–
–
7,687

–
–
–
13,029

£1.810
£2.445
£3.450
£4.013

22,540
–
–
–

38,204
–
–
–

–
23,109
22,332
7,687

–
39,168
37,851
13,029

12/06/2007
11/06/2008
13/06/2009
12/06/2010

G Clemett2,3
26/06/2007
–
–
22,173
37,582
£4.045
–
–
22,173
37,582
26/06/2010
Notes
1. Messrs Platt and Marples invested 75% of their annual bonus for the year ended 31 March 2007 in Invested Shares.
2. Participants are entitled to dividends payable on the Invested Shares, which are held in Trust. They may also instruct the Trustee how they wish to vote on their shares. The Invested
Shares which are beneficially owned by participants are included in the table detailing Ordinary Shares held by Directors on page 48 of this Report.
3. Mr Clemett, was required to invest a signing-on bonus of £100,000 (less income tax and employee’s national insurance contributions) in acquiring shares in the Company. In addition,
he was required to invest a further £31,000 of his own funds in acquiring shares in the Company. Mr Clemett received matching shares on the shares acquired in accordance with the
Rules of the Co-Investment Plan. The signing-on bonus was paid on condition that Mr Clemett had given up benefits under his current employer’s long term incentive plan with a
value of at least £100,000.
4. The Matching Award made on 11 June 2005 will vest on 11 June 2008 subject to the achievement of performance targets.
5. The profit arising on the vesting of Matching Shares for Messrs Platt and Marples was £146,812 and £101,247 respectively.

(e) Exercisable options
The following table details the notional profit that would arise if the Executive Directors exercised all of the executive share options that are
currently exercisable, based on a share price of £2.745, being the mid-market closing share price on 31 March 2008.
Executive share options

H Platt

Total
J P Marples

Total

Exercisable options
at 31/03/08

Exercise
Price

Total consideration
payable by the director

Notional profit based on a
market share price of £2.745

175,000
410,000
273,000
138,000
996,000
135,000
130,000
310,000
205,000
96,500
876,500

£1.0915
£1.1895
£1.1325
£1.8075

£191,012.50
£487,695.00
£309,172.50
£249,435.00
£1,237,315.00
£124,537.50
£141,895.00
£368,745.00
£232,162.50
£174,423.75
£1,041,763.75

£289,362.50
£637,755.00
£440,212.50
£129,375.00
£1,496,705.00
£246,037.50
£214,955.00
£482,205.00
£330,562.50
£90,468.75
£1,364,228.75

£0.9225
£1.0915
£1.1895
£1.1325
£1.8075

Executive share options granted to Executive Directors on 17 June 2005 will become exercisable from 17 June 2008 subject to the satisfaction
of performance targets.
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4. Remuneration of directors who resigned during the year (audited)
As reported in last year’s Report and Accounts, after twelve years’ service with the Company, Mr Taylor decided to retire and he resigned as
Finance Director and as a director of the Company on 31 July 2007.
Ms Carragher expressed her wish to resign as Operations Director last year. Ms Carragher has worked for the Group some twenty years since
its establishment in 1987 as London Industrial PLC, initially as Estates Surveyor. She resigned as Operations Director and as a director of the
Company on 12 October 2007.
Both Mr Taylor and Ms Carragher worked closely with the Company and with their successors to ensure a smooth and successful transition to
the new members of the team. Ms Carragher continues to work for the Company on a part-time basis, particularly on the Workspace Glebe
joint venture and she has provided valuable assistance to the team in this area.
This section of the Remuneration Report explains their remuneration to the date of their resignation as directors of the Company and the
arrangements made with the Committee with regard to other remuneration including their entitlement to shares under the Company’s share
plans in accordance with the Rules of the relevant plans.
(a) Emoluments to the date of resignation as a director

Executive Directors
M Carragher
(Operations Director)
R M Taylor
(Finance Director)

Pension
scheme
contributions
2008
£000

Total
emoluments
2007
£000

Pension
scheme
contributions
2007
£000

Base
salary
£000

Performance
bonus
£000

Other
benefits
£000

Total
emoluments
2008
£000

111.0

–

9.4

120.4

18.3

285.9

32.2

68.3
179.3

–
–

5.8
15.2

74.1
194.5

11.3
29.6

288.9
574.8

32.2
64.4

The emoluments detailed above include remuneration to the date of their resignation as a director. Mr Taylor and Ms Carragher resigned as a
director on 31 July 2007 and 12 October 2007 respectively.
In addition to the emoluments detailed, to ensure the smooth transition to the new executive management team, as detailed above, Mr Taylor
and Ms Carragher continued to receive a salary of £205,000 per annum until 31 December 2007 (totalling £85,417 and £42,708 respectively).
In addition they also received pension contributions equal to 16.5% of their basic annual salary, cover under the Group’s life insurance
and private medical schemes and entitlement to a company car or car allowance until 31 December 2007.
In this respect Mr Taylor received an employer’s contribution to his pension of £14,094 and other benefit totalling £7,238. Ms Carragher
received an employer’s contribution to her pension of £7,047 and other benefit totalling £3,601.
(b) Ordinary shareholdings

M Carragher
R M Taylor

As at date
of resignation

1 April 2007

250,155
261,378
511,533

218,355
261,378
479,733
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(c) Details of options granted to Ms Carragher and Mr Taylor pursuant to the Company’s 2000 Share Option Scheme
The performance conditions attached to the executive share options granted to Ms Carragher and Mr Taylor in 2005 and 2006 were tested over
a two year period and one year period respectively. The performance conditions were satisfied for both grants. The Committee agreed to allow
Ms Carragher and Mr Taylor to receive pro-rata awards based on these part complete periods in accordance with the Rules of the Share Option
Scheme. The remaining options lapsed.
In accordance with the Rules of the 2000 Share Option Scheme and the Group’s SAYE Scheme Mr Taylor can exercise his options until 30 June
2008, following which date they will lapse. As Ms Carragher continues to be an employee of the Group her options will remain exercisable until
the earlier of six months following the cessation of her employment with the Group or upon their expiry date, at which date they will lapse.
Lapsed
during
the year

At
01/04/07

14,5901
6801
310,000
205,000
96,500
76,500
56,500
3,6401
14,8501
96,500
76,500
56,500
1,007,760

M Carragher

R M Taylor

Total

(25,500)
(37,667)

(25,500)
(37,667)
(126,334)

At
date of
resignation

14,590
680
310,000
205,000
96,500
51,000
18,833
3,640
14,850
96,500
51,000
18,833
881,426

Exercise
Price

£0.985
£2.75
£1.1895
£1.1325
£1.8075
£2.445
£3.45
£0.985
£0.91
£1.8075
£2.445
£3.45

Normal Exercise Date
From
To

–
–
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
19.06.2009
–
–
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
19.06.2009

Exercise Terms
(see table
on page 49)

01.09.2009
01.09.2009
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
19.06.2016
01.09.2009
01.09.2010
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
19.06.2016

E
E
C
D
D
F
F
E
E
D
F
F

Notes:
1. Options obtained under the Rules of the Group’s SAYE Scheme. All other options have been granted under the Rules of the Company’s Executive Share Option Schemes.

(d) Co-investment Plan
Details of awards made to Executive Directors who resigned during the year:
The performance conditions of the Matching Awards made on 11 June 2005 and 13 June 2006 to Ms Carragher and Mr Taylor were tested over
a two-year period and one-year period respectively. The performance conditions were satisfied for both grants. The Committee agreed to allow
them to receive pro-rata awards based on these part complete periods in accordance with the Rules of the Co-Investment Plan. The Invested
Shares, which they beneficially own, vest in full.
The Matching Shares that vested were released to Ms Carragher and Mr Taylor in December 2007. The Company arranged for 41% of the
shares that vested to be sold in respect of income tax and national insurance.

Date
Awarded

M Carragher
R M Taylor

12/06/2004
11/06/2005
12/06/2006
12/06/2004
11/06/2005
13/06/2006

Interests in shares
as at 1 April 2007
Invested1
Matching2

22,540
23,109
21,846
22,540
23,109
22,089

38,204
39,168
37,028
38,204
39,168
37,439

Market
value
of shares
at date
of award

£1.810
£2.445
£3.450
£1.810
£2.445
£3.450

Shares vested
during the year
Invested1
Matching

22,540
23,109
21,846
22,540
23,109
22,089

38,204
26,112
12,342
38,204
26,112
12,480

Matching
shares
lapsed at
date of
retirement

13,056
24,686
13,056
24,959

Vesting shares
released to participants
in December 2007
Invested1
Matching

22,540
23,109
21,846
22,540
23,109
22,089

38,204
26,112
12,342
38,204
26,112
12,480

Notes
1. Participants are entitled to dividends payable on the Invested Shares, which are held in Trust. They may also instruct the Trustee how they wish to vote on
their shares.
2. The Invested Shares which are beneficially owned by Ms Carragher and Mr Taylor are included in the table detailing Ordinary Shares held by Directors in
para 4(b) on page 51 of this Report.
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5. ESOT (audited)
In implementing its remuneration strategy, the Board established in 1999 an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT). The trust is used to
purchase shares in the Company to meet its obligations under share options. Use of the ESOT reduces the dilutive effect of the grant of options
over new shares. The ESOT purchased 2,000,000 shares at an average price of 50.7 pence per share in March 1999, 5,067,700 shares at a price
of £1.03 in September 2002 and 500,000 in July 2007 at a price of £3.82. Of these shares 4,669,840 have been transferred on exercise of options
and the balance has been allocated to meet future exercises. The market value of the ESOT holding at 31 March 2008 was £8.1m compared
with a book cost of £4,521,540. The ESOT also holds 152,746 shares as bare trustee on behalf of the three Executive Directors following
purchases by them under the terms of the Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan, together with a further 258,894 shares held to meet matching
awards under this scheme.
6. Performance graph
The following graph compares the total shareholder return performance (TSR) of the Group with benchmark indices. Given the differing
benchmarks used for such performance measurement your Board has decided to undertake this comparison against all of the FTSE All
Share, FTSE Real Estate and FTSE 250 indices, of all of which the Company is a constituent member.
Total relative shareholder return (TSR) index
Workspace Group
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7. Directors’ appointments
The Group’s policy is to engage all executive directors on rolling service contracts requiring twelve-month notice of termination on either side.
Non-executive directors are ordinarily appointed on three-year contracts.
The details of the service contracts of those who served as directors during the year are:
Contract
Date

A J Hales
H Platt
M Carragher
G Clemett
B Cragg
J P Marples
R M Taylor
J Bywater
R Dickinson

19.11.2005
01.12.1993
01.01.1996
31.07.2007
01.06.2006
27.09.1996
22.09.1995
09.06.2004
02.08.2006

Date of last Reappointment
at Annual General Meeting

Unexpired
Term

2006 8 months
2005
n/a
2007
n/a
n/a
n/a
2006 12 months
2007
n/a
2004
n/a
2007 27 months
2007 16 months

Notice
Period

12 months
12 months
(Resigned 12.10.2007)
12 months
6 months
12 months
(Resigned 31.07.2007)
6 months
6 months

Service contracts do not provide for compensation on termination of contract other than in the form of written notice provisions. In the event of
termination of Mr Clemett’s service contract, the Company reserves the right to make phased payments which are paid in monthly instalments
and subject to mitigation. There are no express mitigation provisions in the service contracts of Messrs Platt and Marples, however ordinary
principles of contract law are implicit in these contracts obliging contract parties to mitigate losses.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

8. Non-executive directors remuneration policy
Fees for non-executive directors are reviewed annually and determined by the Board in the light of market practice and surveys (e.g. by New
Bridge Street Consultants and IRS), and with reference to the time commitment and responsibilities associated with the roles. Generally,
the time commitment of the Chairman is expected to be 50 days a year and for other non-executives approximately 15 to 20 days a year.
Non-executive Directors do not participate in decisions about their own remuneration.
Following review, and with effect from 1 April 2008, basic non-executive directors’ fees have been increased to £40,000 per annum (from
£33,000 previously) with additional fees for Committee Chairs maintained at £5,000 per annum.
Non-executive directors receive no other pay or benefits (other than the reimbursement of expenses incurred in respect of their duties as
directors of the company).
9. Executive directors’ remuneration and wider group remuneration policy
The Group’s wider people policies are reported separately on page 24. The ratio of the average base pay of Executive Directors to the average of
all other full-time staff directly employed by the Group is 9.6.
Following probationary periods, all staff in the Company are eligible to participate in the Company’s bonus scheme, SAYE, pension scheme,
life assurance arrangements, and medical insurance benefits; and some senior staff have share option awards. Some senior staff will also
be eligible to participate in the Company’s new long-term equity incentive plan together with all members of the Executive Committee.
On Behalf of the Board
J Bywater
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
6 June 2008
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The following statement sets out the responsibilities of the directors in
relation to the financial statements of both the Group and the Company.
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union, and for preparing the parent company financial
statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report in accordance
with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:
(1) select appropriate accounting policies and apply them consistently;
(2) make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
(3) state whether applicable accounting standards have been
followed, subject to any material departures being disclosed
and explained; and
(4) prepare those financial statements on the going concern basis,
unless they consider that to be inappropriate.
The applicable accounting standards referred to in (3) above are:
(a) UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP) for
the Company; and (b) International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and implemented in the
UK for the Group.
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company keeps
sufficient accounting records to disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are
also responsible for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of
the Company and the Group and, in that context, to have proper regard
to the establishment of appropriate systems of internal control with a
view to the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the Company’s
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in other jurisdictions. The directors are required to prepare financial
statements and to provide the auditors with every opportunity to take
whatever steps and undertake whatever inspections the auditors
consider to be appropriate for the purpose of enabling them to give
their audit report.
The directors confirm that they have pursued the actions necessary to
meet their responsibilities as set out in this statement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF WORKSPACE GROUP PLC

We have audited the Group financial statements of Workspace
Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2008 which comprise the
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of
Recognised Income and Expense, the Consolidated Balance Sheet,
the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the related notes. These
Group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein.
We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March
2008 and on the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report
that is described as having been audited.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report
and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report,
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of
the Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in
giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group
financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given
in the Directors' Report is consistent with the Group financial
statements. The information given in the Directors’ Report includes
that specific information presented in the Operating and Financial
Review that is cross referred from the Business Review section of
the Directors’ Report.
We also report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and other
transactions is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the Combined
Code 2006 specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal
control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.
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We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial
statements. The other information comprises only the Performance
Highlights, Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s Review,
Business Review, Report of the Directors, Directors’ Responsibilities,
Corporate Governance, Directors’ Remuneration Report, the parent
company financial statements and related notes, and the other items
included in the contents section.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of
any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
group financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.
Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the Group
financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide
us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the
group financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of
information in the Group financial statements.
Opinion
In our opinion:
• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 March 2008 and of its loss and
cash flows for the year then ended;
• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation; and
• the information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with
the Group financial statements.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
6 June 2008

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March

Notes

2008
Trading
operations*
£m

1
1
1

66.9
(19.8)
47.1

Administrative expenses
Change in fair value of investment property
Other income
Profit on disposal of investment properties
Operating (loss)/profit

3
10
2a
2b
3

(9.7)
–
2.2
–
39.6

Finance income – interest receivable
Finance costs – interest payable
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Share in joint venture post tax (losses)/profits
(Loss)/profit before tax

4
4
4
27

0.1
(28.2)
–
(0.4)
11.1

Revenue
Direct costs
Net rental income

Taxation
(Loss)/profit for the period after tax and attributable
to equity shareholders

6

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

8
8

2008
Other
items*
£m

£m

2007
Trading
operations*
£m

2007
Other
items*
£m

2007
Total
(restated†)
£m

66.9
(19.8)
47.1

59.9
(18.3)
41.6

–
–
–

59.9
(18.3)
41.6

(0.4)
(47.5)
–
2.2
(45.7)

(10.1)
(47.5)
2.2
2.2
(6.1)

(9.9)
–
1.8
–
33.5

(0.1)
95.3
–
4.4
99.6

(10.0)
95.3
1.8
4.4
133.1

–
–
–
(2.4)
(48.1)

0.1
(28.2)
–
(2.8)
(37.0)

0.1
(23.3)
–
(0.1)
10.2

–
–
0.9
1.8
102.3

0.1
(23.3)
0.9
1.7
112.5

2.3

2.3

0.5

80.4

80.9

11.1

(45.8)

(34.7)

10.7

182.7

193.4

6.5p
6.5p

(26.7)p
(26.7)p

(20.2)p
(20.2)p

6.4p
6.3p

108.7p
106.2p

115.1p
112.5p

–

–
–
–

2008
Total

* Trading operations and other items are defined in the glossary of terms on page 89.
† Refer to note 2(a)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (SORIE)
For the year ended 31 March

Notes

(Loss)/profit for the financial year
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
Total recognised income and expense for the year

17f

2008
£m

(34.7)
(2.9)
(37.6)

2007
£m

193.4
–
193.4

The notes on pages 60 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 March

Notes

2008
£m

2007
£m

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in joint venture

10
11
12
27

994.3
0.3
3.2
15.7
1,013.5

1,001.6
0.3
3.3
18.5
1,023.7

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Financial assets – derivative financial instruments
Current tax asset
Cash and cash equivalents

13
17f
16
14

12.5
–
4.0
2.5
19.0

8.8
0.1
–
2.4
11.3

17a
17e&f
15
16

(63.4)
(3.1)
(31.5)
–
(98.0)
(79.0)

(20.4)
(0.3)
(32.3)
(17.6)
(70.6)
(59.3)

17a
22a
22b

(378.0)
(0.2)
(19.5)
(397.7)
536.8

(360.7)
(0.2)
(20.9)
(381.8)
582.6

23
25
26
24
25
25

17.4
30.8
(4.5)
(0.9)
494.0
536.8

17.4
30.7
(2.8)
1.3
536.0
582.6

9
9

£3.13
£3.11

£3.40
£3.36

Current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Financial liabilities – derivative financial instruments
Trade and other payables
Current tax liabilities
Net current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities – borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Provisions
Net assets
Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares
Share premium
Investment in own shares
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total shareholders' equity
Net asset value per share (basic)
Diluted adjusted net asset value per share

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2008 and were signed on its behalf by
H Platt
G Clemett
Directors
The notes on pages 60 to 83 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March

2008
£m

2007
£m

41.6
0.1
(30.2)
(18.9)
(7.4)

37.1
0.1
(23.0)
0.1
14.3

(31.3)
(18.7)
10.4
(0.4)
(0.2)
(0.5)
–
(4.0)
(44.7)

(74.6)
(20.3)
160.3
(4.8)
(0.2)
(0.3)
(19.5)
–
40.6

0.1
57.6
–
(0.8)
(0.1)
(7.3)
49.5

0.3
–
(47.0)
1.7
(0.1)
(6.4)
(51.5)

(2.6)

3.4

1.5
(1.1)

(1.9)
1.5

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

59

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received
Interest paid
Tax (paid)/refunded
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment properties
Capital expenditure on investment properties
Net proceeds from disposal of investment properties
Tax paid on disposal of investment properties
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Investment in and loan to joint venture
Movement in short-term funding balances with joint venture
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital
Net proceeds from issue of bank borrowings
Net repayment of bank borrowings
ESOT shares net (purchase)/release
Finance lease principal payments
Dividends paid to shareholders
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

19
20

20

7

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

19
19

The notes on pages 60 to 83 form part of these financial statements.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC
interpretations as adopted by the European Union and with those
parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to companies reporting
under IFRS.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiary undertakings up
to 31 March 2008. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and operating policies. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences to the
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost date control ceases.
convention as modified by the revaluation of investment properties,
derivative financial instruments and share based payments.
Inter company transactions, balances and unrealised gains from
intra group transactions are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, SIGNIFICANT
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
JUDGEMENTS, KEY ASSUMPTIONS AND ESTIMATES
of the asset transferred.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has
judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
shared control, established by contractual agreement. Joint ventures
at the balance sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and
are accounted for under the equity method whereby the consolidated
expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates are
financial statements include the Group’s investment in and
based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, event or
contribution from the joint venture.
actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.
Investment properties
The Group’s significant accounting policies are stated below. Not all
Investment properties are those properties owned or leased under a
of these accounting policies require management to make subjective finance lease by the Group that are held to earn rental income or for
or complex judgements. The following is intended to provide an
capital appreciation or both and are not occupied by the Company or
understanding of the policies that management consider critical
subsidiaries of the Group.
because of the level of judgement or estimation involved in their
application and their impact on the consolidated financial statements. Land or buildings held under operating leases are classified and
accounted for as investment properties where the rest of the
Investment property valuation
definition of investment property is met. The operating lease is
The Group uses the valuation performed by its independent valuers
accounted for as if it were a finance lease.
as the fair value of its investment properties. The valuation is based
upon assumptions including estimated rental values, future rental
Investment property is measured initially at cost, including related
income, anticipated maintenance costs, future development costs
transaction costs. After initial recognition investment property is held
and appropriate discount rate. The valuers also make reference to
at fair value based on a valuation by a professional external valuer at
market evidence of transaction prices for similar properties.
each reporting date. Changes in fair value of investment property at
the reporting date are recorded in the income statement.
Trade receivables
The Group is required to judge when there is sufficient objective
Properties are treated as acquired at the point the Group assumes
evidence to require the impairment of individual trade receivables. It
the significant risks and returns of ownership and are treated as
does this on the basis of the age of the relevant receivables, external
disposed when these are transferred outside of the Group’s control.
evidence of the credit status of the debtor entity and the status of any
disputed amounts.
Existing investment property which undergoes redevelopment for
continued future use as investment property remains in investment
Compliance with the Real Estate Investment Trust (REIT) regime
property. Property that is being constructed or developed for future
On 1 January 2007 the Group converted to a group REIT. In order to
use as investment property, but has not previously been classified
achieve and retain group REIT status, several entrance tests had to
as such, is classified as property, plant and equipment and initially
be met and certain ongoing criteria must be maintained. The main
recognised at cost until construction or development is complete,
criteria are as follows:
at which time it is reclassified as investment property at fair value.
• at the start of each account period, the assets of the tax exempt
business must be at least 75% of the total value of the Group’s assets Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
• at least 75% of the Group’s total profits each year must arise from
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
the tax exempt business
with the expenditure will flow to the Group, and the cost of each item
• at least 90% of the taxable profit of the property rental business
can be reliably measured. All other repairs and maintenance costs
must be distributed
are charged to the income statement during the period in which they
• the Group must take reasonable steps to avoid payment of
are incurred.
dividends to an entity controlling (directly or indirectly) 10% or
more of the voting rights of Workspace Group PLC.
In the case of existing investment properties undergoing
redevelopment, capitalised interest on the redevelopment
The directors intend that the Group should continue as a group REIT
expenditure is added to the asset’s carrying amount. Borrowing
for the foreseeable future, with the result that deferred tax is no
costs capitalised are calculated by reference to the actual interest
longer recognised on temporary differences relating to the property
rate payable on borrowings, or if financed out of general borrowings
rental business and relevant property rental income is treated as
by reference to the average rate payable on funding the assets
exempt from taxation.
employed by the Group and applied to the direct expenditure on the
property undergoing redevelopment. Interest capitalised is from the
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
date of commencement of the re-development activity until the date
The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
for its intended use are complete.
consistently applied to all years presented, as explained below.
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Assets held for sale
Properties and land held for sale are included in the balance sheet at
fair value less costs of sale and presented on the balance sheet as
investment properties held for sale.
Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
Group and the cost of each item can be reliably measured. All other
repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement
during the period in which they are incurred. In the case of properties
undergoing construction or development, capitalised interest on the
development expenditure is added to the asset’s carrying amount.
Depreciation is provided using the straight line method to allocate the
cost less estimated residual value over the asset’s estimated useful
lives as follows:
Land
Buildings
Motor vehicles
Equipment and fixtures

not depreciated
50 years
4 years
4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at least at each financial year end. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
Intangibles
Acquired computer software licenses and external costs of
implementing or developing computer software programmes are
capitalised. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful
lives of four years on a straight-line basis. Intangibles are stated at
historical cost.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes
are recognised as an expense as they fall due.
Leases
A group company as lessee
i) Operating leases – leases in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by another party, the lessor, are
classified as operating leases. Payments, including prepayments,
made under operating leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.
ii) Finance leases – leases of assets where the Group has
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as finance leases. Assets acquired under finance leases are
capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair
value of the leased property and the net present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations,
net of finance charges, are included in current and non current
borrowings. Each lease payment is allocated between liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance cost is
charged to the income statement. The investment properties
acquired under finance leases are subsequently carried at
fair value.

A group company as lessor
i) Operating leases – properties leased out under operating leases
are included in investment property in the balance sheet. Rental
income from operating leases is recognised in the income
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. When the
Group provides incentives to its customers the cost of the incentives
are recognised over the lease term on a straight line basis as a
reduction of rental income.
ii) Finance leases – when assets are leased out under a finance lease,
the present value of the minimum lease payments is recognised as
a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the
present value of the receivable represents unearned finance
income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease
using the net investment method before tax, which reflects a
constant periodic rate of return. Where the buildings element of a
property lease is classified as a finance lease, the land element is
treated as an operating lease.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at cost less provision for impairment where
it is established there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivable. The amount of the provision is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows. The provision is recorded in the income statement.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at cost.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held on
call with banks and other short term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are
included within cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the
cash flow statement.
Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost, any difference between the initial amount (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings, using the effective
interest method, except for interest capitalised on redevelopments.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least twelve months after the balance sheet date.
Compound financial instruments
At the date of issue of compound financial instruments, the fair value
of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-compound debt. The difference between
the proceeds of issue and the fair value of the liability is included in
equity. The interest payable and amortisation of the carrying value
of the liability component are recognised as interest expense so as
to maintain a constant rate of interest on the carrying value.
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The Group enters into derivative transactions such as interest
rate swaps, collars and hedges in order to manage its interest rate
risk. Derivatives are recorded at fair value calculated by valuation
techniques based on market prices and estimated cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

The Group applies hedge accounting under IAS 39 for transactions
which meet the specific criteria for this under the relevant standard.
Changes in the carrying value of financial instruments that are
designated and effective as hedges of future cashflows (cash flow
hedges) are recognised directly in equity. Any ineffective portion is
recognised within the income statement.

Income for the sale of assets is recognised when the significant risks
and returns of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. In the
case of sales of properties this is generally taken on completion.
Where any aspect of consideration is conditional then the revenue
associated with that conditional item is deferred.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives which do not qualify for hedge
accounting are recognised in the income statement as they arise.

Direct costs
Minimum lease payments payable under head leases categorised
as finance leases are allocated between liability and finance charges
so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the income
statement. Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are
not fixed at the inception of the lease, for example increases arising
on rent reviews, are recorded as an expense in the income statement
in the period in which they are incurred.

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Share-based payment
Incentives in the form of shares are provided to employees under
share option schemes. The fair value of the options granted is
recognised over the vesting period.

Investment in own shares
The Group operates an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT).
When the Trust purchases Company shares, the consideration
paid is deducted from shareholders’ equity as investment in own
shares until the shares are re-issued, cancelled or disposed of.
Where shares are re-issued or disposed of any consideration due
is included in shareholders’ equity as investment in own shares.

Fair value is measured by the use of Black-Scholes and Monte-Carlo
option pricing models. The expected life used in the models has been
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument
expires or is sold or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that
time, any cumulative gains or losses relating to the cash flow hedges
recognised in equity are initially retained in equity and subsequently
released into the income statement.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a current obligation
arising from a past event and it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the
directors’ best estimate of the present value of the expenditure
required to settle that obligation at the balance sheet date.
Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises rental income, service charges and other
sums receivable from the Group’s investment properties. Other
sums comprise insurance charges, supplies of utilities, premia
associated with surrender of tenancies, commissions, fees and
other sundry income.
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the income
statement on a straight line basis over the lease term. When the
Group provides lease incentives to its tenants the cost of incentives
are recognised over the lease term, on a straight line basis, as a
reduction to income.
Service charge and other sums receivable from tenants are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the relevant
service or transactions at the reporting date.
Rental income from property let out under a finance lease is
accounted for by allocating each lease payment between receivable
and finance income so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance
balance outstanding. The interest element of the finance income is
credited to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the receivable for each period. Contingent rents, being those lease
payments that are not fixed at the inception of the lease, for example
increases arising on rent reviews, are recorded as income in the
periods in which they are earned.
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The Company has established an ESOT to satisfy part of its
obligation to provide shares when employees exercise their options.
The Company provides funding to the ESOT to purchase these shares.
Pensions
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme.
Contributions are charged to the income statement as they fall due.
Income tax
Income tax on the profit for the year comprises current and
deferred tax.
Current income tax is tax payable on the taxable income for the year
and any prior year adjustment and is calculated using tax rates that
have been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that
have been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax is realised or
the deferred tax liability settled. Deferred tax is provided in full on the
difference between the original cost of investment properties and
their carrying amounts at the reporting date without taking into
account deductions and allowances, which would apply if the assets
concerned were disposed of. As a REIT deferred tax is not required to
be provided on the investment properties held within the REIT.
No provision is made for temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor
taxable profit or relating to investments in subsidiaries where it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Dividend distributions
Final dividend distributions to the Company’s shareholders are
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are approved, while interim dividends
are recognised when paid.
New Standards
During the year, the following accounting standards and guidance
were adopted by the Group:
• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures,
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Capital disclosures
• IAS 39 (Amendment) cashflow hedge accounting.
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective 2007/8 but
have no effect on the Group’s operations:
• IFRS 4 Insurance contracts,
• IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement approach under IAS 29,
Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies,
• IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded derivatives,
• IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment.
Published standards and interpretations to existing standards which
are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group
(it is not expected that they will have any significant future impact on
the Group’s accounts):
• IFRIC 11 Group and treasury share transactions,
• IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements,
• IFRIC 14 IAS 9 The unit on defined benefit,
• IAS 23 (Amendment) Borrowing costs,
• IFRS 8 Operating Segments.
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1. Analysis of net rental income
2008
Revenue
£m

Rental income
Service charges and other recoveries
Services, fees, commissions and sundry income

51.4
13.5
2.0
66.9

Direct
costs
£m

(0.5)
(18.2)
(1.1)
(19.8)

2007 (restated†)
Net
rental
income
£m

50.9
(4.7)
0.9
47.1

Revenue
£m

45.6
12.3
2.0
59.9

Direct
costs
£m

(0.2)
(17.1)
(1.0)
(18.3)

Net
rental
income
£m

45.4
(4.8)
1.0
41.6

† Refer to note 2(a).

The Group operates a single business segment providing business accommodation for rent in London and the South East of England,
which is continuing.
2(a) Other income

Non-refundable option fees for potential sale of property
Insurance proceeds less diminution in value at Westwood Business Centre

2008
£m

2007
(restated†)
£m

2.2
–
2.2

1.1
0.7
1.8

†The March 2007 comparatives have been restated to include £1.1m non-refundable option fees. These fees were formerly disclosed in Revenue – Services, fees, commissions and
sundry income.

2(b) Profit on disposal of investment properties
2008
£m

Gross proceeds from sale of investment properties
Book value at time of sale plus sale costs
Unrealised profit on sale of properties to joint venture
Pre tax profit on sale
Movement in provision for tax indemnity (see note 22(b) )
Pre-tax profit on sale

11.0
(10.2)
0.8
–
0.8
1.4
2.2

2007
£m

168.3
(161.2)
7.1
(2.7)
4.4
–
4.4

3. Operating (loss)/profit
The following items have been charged in arriving at operating (loss)/profit. This analysis has been prepared by nature of expense.

Direct costs:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets
Staff costs (note 5)
Repairs and maintenance expenditure on investment property
Trade receivables impairment
Administrative expenses:
Amortisation of intangibles
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment – owned assets
Staff costs (note 5)
Other operating lease rentals payable:
– motor vehicles – minimum lease payments
Audit fees payable to the Company’s auditors

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.3
2.7
3.0
0.1

0.4
2.4
3.0
0.1

0.1
0.3
6.1

0.1
0.2
4.9

0.1
0.2

0.1
0.2

Audit fees payable to the Company’s auditors include £28,500 (2007: £26,000) of other services supplied pursuant to legislation, in respect of
the half year review of the consolidated Group accounts and the statutory audits of the subsidiaries in the Group. Amounts payable to the
Company’s auditors for other non-audit services totalled £62,000 (2007: £15,200).
Depreciation in direct costs relates to that of fixtures and fittings installed within investment properties.
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3. Operating (loss)/profit continued
Total administrative expenses can be analysed as:
2008
£m

2007
£m

6.1
(0.8)
4.8
10.1

4.9
1.2
3.9
10.0

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.1

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts
Amortisation of issue costs of bank loans
Interest payable on finance leases
Interest payable on 11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
Interest payable on 11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
Interest payable on 11% Convertible Loan Stock 2011
Interest capitalised on property refurbishments
Finance expense

(27.9)
(0.5)
(0.1)
(0.3)
(0.2)
–
0.8
(28.2)

(20.9)
(0.5)
(0.1)
(1.4)
(0.8)
(0.1)
0.5
(23.3)

Change in fair value of financial instruments through the income statement
Net finance costs

–
(28.1)

0.9
(22.3)

Staff costs (as above)
Provision for cash settled share based payment
Other

4. Finance income and costs

Interest income on bank deposits
Finance income

The decrease in fair value on the cash flow hedge of £2.9m (2007: nil) has been recognised directly in equity within the hedging reserve and is
therefore not included in the above note.
5. Employees and directors
Staff costs for the Group during the year were:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Defined contribution pension plan costs (see note 30)
Share based payments (see note 26)

2008
£m

2007
£m

7.5
0.8
0.5
(0.1)
8.7

6.2
0.7
0.4
1.9
9.2

The staff costs above are net of recharges for staff employed at joint venture properties.
Number of people (including executive directors) employed at the year end:

Executive directors
Head office staff
Estates staff – directly owned properties
– joint venture properties

2008
Number

2007
Number

3
78
102
11
194

4
63
91
13
171
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5. Employees and directors continued
The average number of persons employed during the year was 185 (2007: 173).
Excluding joint venture staff, the average number of persons employed during the year was 177 (2007: 162).
Key management for the purposes of related party disclosure under IAS 24 are taken to be the executive Board directors, the non-Board
executive directors and the non-executive directors. Included within staff costs above is remuneration payable to key management personnel
as follows:
Key management compensation

Salaries and short-term employee benefits
Pensions and other post-employment benefits
Share-based payments

2008
£m

2007
£m

2.4
0.2
0.3
2.9

1.6
0.1
0.5
2.2

The remuneration of the executive directors is determined by the Remuneration Committee of the Board. A table of the directors’ emoluments
and details of directors' beneficial interests in the shares of the Company and in options to acquire shares in the Company are given in the
Report of the Remuneration Committee on pages 48 and 49. These form part of the financial statements.
6. Taxation
2008
£m

Current tax
Deferred tax
Total taxation credit

(2.3)
–
(2.3)

2007
£m

20.6
(101.5)
(80.9)

The charge in the period is analysed as follows:

Current tax:
UK corporation tax
REIT conversion charge
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods
Deferred tax:
On fair value gains of investment properties
On accelerated tax depreciation
On derivative financial instruments
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods
Others
Total taxation credit
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2008
£m

2007
£m

–
–
(2.3)
(2.3)

2.2
18.8
(0.4)
20.6

–
–
–
–
–
–
(2.3)

(93.7)
(8.3)
0.4
–
0.1
(101.5)
(80.9)

6. Taxation continued
The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit for the period differs from the standard applicable corporation tax rate in the UK (30%).
The differences are explained below:

Loss/(profit) on ordinary activities before taxation
Add/(deduct) share of post tax (losses)/profits in joint venture
Tax at standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2007: 30%)
Effects of:
Accelerated capital allowances
Capitalised interest
Income taxed as capital gains
Contaminated land relief
Capital gains adjustments on property disposals
Sale of properties to joint venture
Share scheme deductions
Adjustments to tax in respect of previous periods
Losses carried forward
REIT conversion charge
REIT exempt income
Other items not subject to tax
Changes in fair value not subject to tax as a REIT
Deferred tax released on REIT conversion
Total taxation credit

2008
£m

2007
£m

(37.0)
2.8
(34.2)
(10.3)

112.5
(1.7)
110.8
33.2

–
–
–
–
–
–
(0.3)
(2.3)
1.1
–
(4.5)
(0.3)
14.3
–
(2.3)

(1.9)
(0.1)
(0.4)
(0.1)
(0.7)
(3.7)
–
(0.4)
–
18.8
(1.1)
0.1
(28.3)
(96.3)
(80.9)

On 1 January 2007, the Group converted to a REIT. A conversion charge of £18.8m was paid as a single instalment in July 2007. The Group’s
UK property rental business (both income and capital gains) is now exempt from tax. The Glebe joint venture does not form part of the REIT.
The Group’s ‘residual’ business (subject to tax) is small and consists mainly of ancillary services and commissions.
The Group currently has £2.4m of tax losses carried forward which have not been recognised as an asset as they are unlikely to be utilised in
the foreseeable future.
7. Dividends
2008
£m

2007
£m

Final dividend 2006/07: 2.76p (2005/06: 2.51p) per ordinary share

4.7

4.1

Interim dividend 2007/08: 1.52p (2006/07: 1.38p) per ordinary share
Dividends paid

2.6
7.3

2.3
6.4

In addition the directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2008 of 3.04p per Ordinary Share
which will absorb an estimated £5.2m of shareholders’ funds. If approved by the shareholders at the AGM, it will be paid on 6 August 2008
to shareholders who are on the register of members on 11 July 2008. It is intended that the full amount of this dividend will be paid as a PID,
net of withholding tax where appropriate.
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8. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the employee share ownership trust (ESOT).
For diluted earnings per share the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Group now has a single class of instruments dilutive to ordinary shares: employee share options. All the
remaining convertible stocks converted on 16 August 2006. In accordance with IAS 33 ‘Earnings Per Share’ no calculation of dilution is
made where it would have an anti-dilutive effect of increasing the loss per share.
Reconciliations of the earnings and weighted average number of shares used in the calculations are set out below.
Earnings used for calculation of earnings per share
(Loss)/profit
2008
2007
£m
£m

Earnings per share
2008
2007
pence
pence

Earnings used for basic earnings per share

(34.7)

193.4

(20.2)

115.1

Interest saving net of taxation on 11% Convertible Loan Stock dilution
Share option scheme dilution
Total diluted earnings
Less non trading items
Trading diluted earnings

–
–
(34.7)
45.8
11.1

0.1
–
193.5
(182.7)
10.8

–
–
(20.2)
26.7
6.5

(1.1)
(1.5)
112.5
(106.2)
6.3

Weighted average number of shares used for calculating earnings per share
Weighted average number of shares (excluding shares held in the ESOT)
Dilution due to Share Option Schemes
Dilution due to Convertible Loan Stock
Used for calculating diluted earnings per share

2008
Number

2007
Number

171,397,941
2,318,044
–
173,715,985

168,083,460
2,179,100
1,651,507
171,914,067

9. Net assets per share
Net assets used for calculation of net assets per share

Net assets at end of year (basic)
Derivative financial instruments at fair value*
Deferred tax on fair value change of investment properties*
Deferred tax on derivative financial instruments*
Diluted adjusted net assets

2008
£m

2007
£m

536.8
3.3
(0.2)
(0.1)
539.8

582.6
(0.9)
0.4
0.3
582.4

* Including share of joint venture (comparatives have been restated).

Net assets have been adjusted to derive a diluted net assets measure as defined by the European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA).
Number of shares used for calculating net assets per share
2008
Number

Shares in issue at year end
Less ESOT shares
Number of shares for calculating basic net assets per share
Dilution due to Share Option Schemes
Number of shares for calculating diluted adjusted net assets per share
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174,313,887
(2,937,951)
171,375,936
2,161,114
173,537,050

2007
Number

174,221,087
(2,738,360)
171,482,727
2,179,100
173,661,827

10. Investment properties
2008
£m

Balance at 1 April
Additions during the year
Capitalised interest on refurbishments
Disposals during the year
Diminution in value due to fire loss (see note 2(a))
Net (loss)/gain from fair value of investment property
Balance at 31 March

1,001.6
49.6
0.8
(10.2)
–
(47.5)
994.3

2007
£m

954.0
102.1
0.5
(149.5)
(0.8)
95.3
1,001.6

Within additions for the year are property purchases, including costs and IAS17 finance leases, of £31.5m (2007: £82.7m). The balance of
additions is improvements made to properties.
Capitalised interest is included at a rate of capitalisation of 6.7% (2007: 6.0%). The total amount of capitalised interest included in investment
properties is £2.8m (2007: £2.0m).
Investment property includes buildings under finance leases of which the carrying amount is £4.1m (2007: £3.6m). Investment property
finance lease commitment details are shown in note 17(g).
The Group has determined that all tenant leases are operating leases within the meaning of IAS17. The majority of the Group’s tenant leases
are granted with a rolling three month tenant break clause. The future minimum rental receipts under non-cancellable operating leases
granted to tenants are as follows:

Within one year
Between two and five years
Beyond five years

2008
£m

2007
£m

12.4
4.3
1.8
18.5

10.6
7.5
2.5
20.6

Valuation
The Group’s investment properties were revalued at 31 March 2008 by CB Richard Ellis, Chartered Surveyors, a firm of independent qualified
valuers. The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal and Valuation Standards on
the basis of market value. Market value is defined as the estimated amount for which a property should exchange on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction.
The reconciliation of the valuation report total to the amount shown in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as non-current assets, investment
properties, is as follows:
2008
£m

2007
£m

Total per CB Richard Ellis valuation report

993.2

1,000.9

Owner occupied property
Head leases treated as finance leases under IAS 17
Short leases valued as head leases
Total investment properties per balance sheet

(2.7)
4.1
(0.3)
994.3

(2.5)
3.6
(0.4)
1,001.6
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11. Intangible assets
2008
£m

2007
£m

Computer software
Cost
Balance at 1 April
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at 31 March

0.6
0.1
–
0.7

0.7
0.2
(0.3)
0.6

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 April
Charge for the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at 31 March

0.3
0.1
–
0.4

0.5
0.1
(0.3)
0.3

Net book value at end of year

0.3

0.3

None of the Group’s intangible assets have been internally generated. All are regarded as having a finite life and are amortised accordingly.
12. Property, plant and equipment
Owner
occupied
land
£m

Owner
occupied
buildings
£m

0.5
–
–
0.5
–
0.5

1.6
–
–
1.6
–
1.6

4.7
0.3
(1.6)
3.4
0.5
3.9

6.8
0.3
(1.6)
5.5
0.5
6.0

–
–
–
–
–
–

0.1
–
–
0.1
–
0.1

3.1
0.6
(1.6)
2.1
0.6
2.7

3.2
0.6
(1.6)
2.2
0.6
2.8

Net book amount at 31 March 2007

0.5

1.5

1.3

3.3

Net book amount at 31 March 2008

0.5

1.5

1.2

3.2

2008
£m

2007
£m

5.4
(0.3)
5.1
4.1
3.3
–
12.5

3.1
(0.3)
2.8
5.3
–
0.7
8.8

Cost
Balance at 1 April 2006
Additions during the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at 31 March 2007
Additions during the year
Balance at 31 March 2008
Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 April 2006
Charge for the year
Disposals during the year
Balance at 31 March 2007
Charge for the year
Balance at 31 March 2008

Equipment
and fixtures
£m

Total
£m

13. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables
Less provision for impairment of receivables
Trade receivables – net (see note 18(b) )
Prepayments and accrued income
Amounts due from related parties (see note 27)
Other receivables

There is no concentration of credit risk with regard to trade receivables as the Group has a large number of unrelated customers. No single
debtor represents more than 5% of trade debtors.
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There is no material difference between the above amounts and their fair values due to the short term nature of the receivables. All the Group’s
trade and other receivables are denominated in sterling.
Trade receivables are impaired when there is evidence that the amounts may not be collectable under the original terms of the receivable.
Movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are shown below:

Balance at 1 April
Provision for receivables impairment
Receivables written off during the year
Balance at 31 March

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.3
0.1
(0.1)
0.3

0.3
0.1
(0.1)
0.3

2008
£m

2007
£m

–
2.5
2.5

–
2.4
2.4

14. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds

Tenants’ deposit deeds represent returnable cash security deposits received from tenants and are ring-fenced under the terms of the
individual lease contracts.
Bank overdrafts are included within cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash flow statement.
15. Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Taxation and social security payable
Tenants’ deposit deeds (see note 14)
Tenants’ deposits
Accrued expenses and deferred income
Deferred income-rent and service charges
Amounts due to related parties (see note 27)

2008
£m

2007
£m

2.0
1.9
2.5
6.4
13.9
4.8
–
31.5

2.4
2.1
2.4
5.5
14.6
4.6
0.7
32.3

There is no material difference between the above amounts and their fair values due to the short term nature of the payables.
16. Current taxes

Current tax asset
Current tax liabilities

2008
£m

2007
£m

4.0
–

–
17.6

The liabilities at 31 March 2007 included the REIT conversion charge of £18.8m which was paid in July 2007. The Group currently has a tax
debtor of £4.0m which represents the recovery of tax paid.
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17 Financial liabilities – borrowings
a) Balances

Current
Bank loan and overdrafts due within one year or on demand (secured)
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007 (secured)
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007 (secured)
Non –current
Other loans (secured)
Finance lease obligations (part secured)

2008
£m

2007
£m

63.4
–
–
63.4

0.9
12.5
7.0
20.4

373.9
4.1
378.0
441.4

357.1
3.6
360.7
381.1

The secured loans and overdraft facility are secured on properties with balance sheet values totalling £841.3m (2007: £739.4m).
b) Maturity

Secured (excluding finance leases)
Repayable in less than one year
Repayable between one year and two years
Repayable between two years and three years
Repayable between three years and four years
Repayable between four years and five years
Less cost of raising finance
Finance leases (part secured)
Repayable in five years or more

2008
£m

2007
£m

63.4
–
225.0
–
150.0
438.4
(1.1)
437.3

20.4
–
132.7
225.0
–
378.1
(0.6)
377.5

4.1
441.4

3.6
381.1

c) Interest rate and repayment profile

Current
Bank loan and overdrafts due within one year or on demand
Other loans
Non-current
Other loans
Hedged Loan

Principal
£m

Interest
rate

Interest
payable

Repayable

3.6
59.8

Variable
LIBOR +0.95%

Variable
Variable

On demand
June 2008

225.0
150.0

LIBOR +0.94%
5.4% + 0.95%

Variable
3 monthly

August 2010
November 2012

Amount
hedged
£m

Interest
cap
%

Interest
floor
%

Expiry

75.0
45.0

6.95%
7.00%

4.05%
2.99%

July 2009
Oct 2010

d) Financial instruments held at fair value through profit and loss
The following interest rate collars are held:

Interest rate collar
Interest rate collar (increasing amount)

The above instruments are treated as financial instruments at fair value with changes in value dealt with in the income statement during each
reporting period.
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17 Financial liabilities – borrowings continued
e) Financial instruments held at fair value taken to equity
The following cash flow hedge is held:

Cash flow hedge

Amount
hedged
£m

Rate
payable
%

Rate
receivable
%

Expiry

150.0

5.40%

3 month LIBOR

November 2012

A cash flow hedge was entered into on 19 November 2007 to match a £150m loan as part of the Group’s policy to manage its interest rate risk.
It is treated as a cash flow hedge under IAS 39 hedge accounting as it meets all the relevant criteria. The hedge is deemed to be fully effective.
f) Fair values of financial instruments

Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss
Bank overdraft
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock 2007
Other loans
Finance lease obligations
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments:
Liabilities
Assets
Financial liabilities at fair value through equity
Cash flow hedge

2008
Book Value
£m

2008
Fair Value
£m

2007
Book Value
£m

2007
Fair Value
£m

3.6
–
–
433.7
4.1
441.4

3.6
–
–
433.7
4.1
441.4

0.9
12.5
7.0
357.1
3.6
381.1

0.9
12.7
7.1
357.1
3.6
381.4

0.2
–
0.2

0.2
–
0.2

0.3
(0.1)
0.2

0.3
(0.1)
0.2

2.9

2.9

–

–

The total change recorded in the income statement was £nil (2007: £0.9m gain) for changes of fair value of derivative financial instruments.
The decrease in fair value on the cash flow hedge of £2.9m (2007: £nil) has been recognised directly in equity within the hedging reserve.
The fair value of the interest rate collars and hedges has been determined by reference to market prices and discounted expected cash flows
at prevailing interest rates. All other fair values have been calculated by discounting expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The total
fair value adjustment equates to 1.8p per share (31 March 2007: 0.2p).
g) Finance leases
Finance lease liabilities are in respect of leased investment property.
Minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows:

Within one year
Between two and five years
Beyond five years
Future finance charges on finance leases
Present value of finance lease liabilities

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.4
1.3
23.4
25.1
(21.0)
4.1

0.4
1.2
21.0
22.6
(19.0)
3.6
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18. Financial instrument risk management objectives and policy
The Group has identified exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
Market risk
Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Capital risk
The policies for managing each of these risks and the principal effects of these policies on the results for the year are summarised below.
a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market conditions such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s
income or valuations.
The Group’s exposure to market risk is restricted to that of interest rate changes on its borrowings.
The Group finances its operations through a mixture of retained profits and borrowings. The Group borrows at both fixed and floating rates of
interest and then uses interest rate swaps, collars and hedges to generate the desired interest and risk profile.
The Group’s policy is to fix or cap interest rates on at least 50% of its borrowings. At 31 March 2008 62% (2007: 60%) of Group borrowings were
fixed or hedged through the use of interest rate hedges and collars.
All transactions entered into are approved by the Board and in accordance with the Group’s treasury policy. The Board also monitor variances
on interest rates to budget and forecast rates to ensure that the risk relating to interest rates is being sufficiently safeguarded against.
Sensitivity analysis
The following analysis required by IFRS 7 is intended to illustrate the sensitivity of the Group's financial performance to reasonable changes in
interest rates.
The sensitivity analysis has been prepared by reviewing year end loan balances and the interest rates applied on these balances at the end of
both financial years, adjusting for a reasonable variation in rates based on internal management information.
The following table shows the illustrative effect on the income statement and items that are recognised directly in equity that would result from
reasonably possible movements in interest rates, before the effects of taxation.
2008

UK interest rate +/- 1.0%

Income
statement
+/- £m

3.0

2007
Equity
+/- £m

Income
statement
+/- £m

Equity
+/- £m

3.0

3.6

3.6

b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a tenant or a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.
The Group’s exposure to this risk principally relates to receivables from tenants.
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the characteristics of individual tenants occupying its rental properties.
The Group has nearly 4,500 tenants in over 106 properties generating net rental income. The largest single tenant generates
less than 0.6% of net rental income. As such, the credit risk attributable to individual tenants is low.
Monitoring of bad debts and any potential bad debts occurs every month with information being reported to Board level for monitoring as
part of the monthly performance monitoring process.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk from its customers as exposure is spread over a large number of entities.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

Cash and cash equivalents (note 14)
Trade receivables
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss
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2008
£m

2007
£m

2.5
5.4
–
7.9

2.4
3.1
0.1
5.6

18. Financial instrument risk management objectives and policy continued
As at 31 March 2008, the ageing of trade receivables was as follows:
Total
2008
£m

Up to 3 months past due
3 to 6 months past due
Over 6 months past due

4.3
0.6
0.5
5.4

Impairment
2008
£m

–
(0.1)
(0.2)
(0.3)

Unimpaired
2008
£m

Total
2007
£m

4.3
0.5
0.3
5.1

2.5
0.2
0.4
3.1

Impairment
2007
£m

Unimpaired
2007
£m

–
(0.1)
(0.2)
(0.3)

2.5
0.1
0.2
2.8

The trade receivables balance is deemed to be all past due as rental payments are due on demand. Trade receivables that are not impaired
are expected to be fully recovered as there is no recent history of default or indications that debtors will not meet their obligations. Impaired
receivables have been fully provided against (see note 13).
c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure it will always have sufficient funds to meet obligations as they fall due. This is performed
via a variety of methods including regular cash flow review and forecasting, monitoring the maturity profile of debt and the regular revision of
borrowing facilities.
The Group maintains the following lines of credit to ensure it can effectively manage its liquidity risk; an overdraft facility of £4m available on
demand and headroom on loan balances at 31 March 2008 of £60.6m (31 March 2007: £65.4m) that can be drawn down to meet short-term
financing needs.
Cashflow is monitored formally on a monthly basis as part of internal performance monitoring with regular daily monitoring and forecasting
undertaken to manage day-to-day cash flow. The Board reviews compliance with loan covenants which include agreed interest cover ratios,
alongside a review of available headroom on loan facilities.
The following is an analysis of the contractual undiscounted cash flows payable under financial liabilities and derivative assets and liabilities
existing at the balance sheet date. Interest payments are based upon the loan balances and applicable interest rates payable on these at each
year end.

As at 31 March 2008
Non-derivative Financial Liabilities
Bank loans
Interest payable on bank loans
Finance lease liabilities
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft
Derivative Financial Liabilities
Cash flow hedge
inflow
outflow

Carrying
amount
£m

Due
within 1 year
£m

Due
between 1
and 2 years
£m

Due
between 2
and 3 years
£m

Due 3 years
and beyond
£m

Total
contracted
cashflows
£m

434.8
–
4.1
31.5
3.6

59.8
15.5
0.4
31.5
3.6

–
14.6
0.4
–
–

225.0
5.5
0.3
–
–

150.0
–
23.9
–
–

434.8
35.6
25.0
31.5
3.6

–
–
474.0

(1.8)
9.9
118.9

(1.8)
9.9
23.1

(1.8)
9.9
238.9

(2.8)
15.7
186.8

(8.2)
45.4
567.7
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18. Financial instrument risk management objectives and policy continued

As at 31 March 2007
Non-derivative Financial Liabilities
Bank loans
Interest payable on bank loans
Finance lease liabilities
11.125% First Mortgage Debentures
11.625% First Mortgage Debentures
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft

Carrying
amount
£m

Due
within 1 year
£m

Due
between 1
and 2 years
£m

Due
between 2
and 3 years
£m

Due 3 years
and beyond
£m

Total
contracted
cashflows
£m

357.1
–
3.6
12.5
7.0
32.3
0.9
413.4

–
23.2
0.4
12.8
7.2
32.3
0.9
76.8

–
23.2
0.4
–
–
–
–
23.6

132.1
17.1
0.4
–
–
–
–
149.6

225.0
5.2
21.4
–
–
–
–
251.6

357.1
68.7
22.6
12.8
7.2
32.3
0.9
501.6

d) Capital risk management
The Group’s capital consists of equity and net debt. Capital risk management is a key area for the Group, and the Board aim to maintain a
strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to further grow and develop the business. The Group's policy is to
borrow using a mixture of short and long-term loans and cash from operations. The Board regularly monitors shareholders’ return on capital
and NAV and has specific measures which are monitored each month as part of the normal performance review process.
19. Notes to cash flow statement
Reconciliation of profit for the period to cash generated from operations:

(Loss)/profit for the period
Tax
Depreciation
Amortisation of intangibles
Profit on disposal of investment properties
Net loss/(gain) from fair value adjustments on investment property
Diminution in value due to fire loss
Share based payments
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial instruments
Interest income
Interest expense
Share in joint venture post tax loss/(profit)
Changes in working capital:
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

2008
£m

2007
£m

(34.7)
(2.3)
0.6
0.1
(2.2)
47.5
–
0.4
–
(0.1)
28.2
2.8

193.4
(80.9)
0.6
0.1
(4.4)
(95.3)
0.8
–
(0.9)
(0.1)
23.3
(1.7)

(0.5)
1.8
41.6

(1.1)
3.3
37.1

2008
£m

2007
£m

–
2.5
(3.6)
(1.1)

–
2.4
(0.9)
1.5

2008
£m

2007
£m

18.9
0.4
19.3

(0.1)
4.8
4.7

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash – tenants deposit deeds
Bank overdrafts

20. Tax paid

Tax paid/(refunded) on operating activities
Tax paid on investing activities
Total tax paid
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21. Analysis of net debt
At 1 April
2007
£m

Cash at bank and in hand
Restricted cash – tenants’ deposit deeds
Bank overdrafts

11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock
Bank loans
Less cost of raising finance
Finance lease obligations
Total

Cash Flow
£m

Non-cash
Items
£m

At 31 March
2008
£m

–
2.4
(0.9)
1.5

–
0.1
(2.7)
(2.6)

–
–
–
–

–
2.5
(3.6)
(1.1)

(12.5)
(7.0)
(357.7)
0.6
(3.6)
(380.2)
(378.7)

12.5
7.0
(77.1)
0.9
(0.4)
(57.1)
(59.7)

–
–
–
(0.4)
(0.1)
(0.5)
(0.5)

–
–
(434.8)
1.1
(4.1)
(437.8)
(438.9)

22(a). Deferred tax liabilities
2008
£m

Balance at 1 April
Deferred tax credit
Balance at 31 March

0.2
–
0.2

2007
£m

122.6
(122.4)
0.2

If the Group’s directly owned investment properties were sold for their revalued amount there would be no potential liability to corporation tax
following the Group’s conversion to a REIT. The current year provision is based on the corporation tax rate of 28% effective from 1 April 2008.
22(b). Provisions

Balance at 1 April
Provision for tax indemnity
Balance at 31 March

2008
£m

2007
£m

20.9
(1.4)
19.5

–
20.9
20.9

On the formation of the joint venture with Glebe (which was created by a merger and so triggered no tax liabilities) the Group gave an indemnity
that should a tax liability arise in the future on the disposal of any of the properties that have been transferred, then the Group would pay to
the joint venture a proportion of the liability based on the pre-merger gain. An appropriate provision under current tax law has been made
for this liability. The reduction in the year represents a recalculation at the corporation tax rate of 28% effective from 1 April 2008.
23(a). Share capital

Authorised: Ordinary shares of 10p each
Issued: Fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each

Issued: Fully paid ordinary shares of 10p each

Movements in share capital were as follows:
Number of shares at 1 April
Executive share options exercised over new shares
Save as You Earn share options exercised
Convertible Loan Stock converted
Number of shares at 31 March

2008
Number

2007
Number

240,000,000
174,313,887

240,000,000
174,221,087

2008
£

2007
£

17,431,389

17,422,109

2008
Number

2007
Number

174,221,087
–
92,800
–
174,313,887

169,509,640
186,000
125,447
4,400,000
174,221,087

Consideration of £0.1m was received on the issue of shares in the year.
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23(b). Share-based payments
i) Employee share schemes.
The Group operates an Executive Share Option Scheme (‘ESOS’) and a Save as You Earn (‘SAYE’) share option scheme. Grants under ESOS are
normally exercisable between three and ten years from the date of grant and normally granted at the market price ruling at the date of grant.
Grants under the SAYE scheme are normally exercisable after three or five years saving. In accordance with UK practice, the majority of
options under the SAYE schemes are granted at a price 20% below the market price ruling at the date of grant.
Details of the movements for the equity-settled ESOS and SAYE schemes during the year were as follows:
ESOS
Weighted
exercise
Number
price

Options outstanding

At 1 April 2006
Options granted
Options exercised
Options lapsed
At 31 March 2007
Options granted
Options exercised
Options lapsed
At 31 March 2008

6,523,650
479,550
(2,388,600)
–
4,614,600
627,560
(370,500)
(319,384)
4,552,276

131p
345p
103p
–
168p
412p
121p
313p
142p

Number

SAYE
Weighted
exercise
price

363,114
77,102
(124,680)
(4,083)
311,453
66,401
(92,800)
(39,475)
245,579

125p
275p
88p
235p
176p
318p
146p
155p
149p

Of the 4,552,276 outstanding ESOS options at 31 March 2008 (2007: 4,614,600) 3,206,666 were exercisable immediately (2007: 2,767,000).
At 31 March 2008 there were 4,797,855 (2007: 4,926,053) share options exercisable on the Company’s ordinary share capital. Of these 3,310,526
were current and retired directors’ share options and are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report. 1,487,329 options are held by
employees who are not directors and these are analysed below:

Scheme

Exercise
price
pence

9 August 2000
29 July 2002
30 June 2003
30 June 2004
17 June 2005
1 September 2005
19 June 2006
15 June 2007
12 February 2008

ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
ESOS

0.9225
1.1895
1.1325
1.8075
2.4450
2.6600
3.450
4.368
3.3700

25,000
130,000
138,000
193,500
198,250
60,150
172,550
243,200
121,660

27 July 2001
22 July 2003
22 July 2003
23 July 2004
20 July 2005
20 July 2005
21 June 2006
21 June 2006
30 July 2007
30 July 2007
Total

SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE
SAYE

0.950
0.910
0.910
1.450
2.000
2.000
2.750
2.750
3.180
3.180

2,320
19,600
740
11,710
53,430
16,358
44,948
4,682
33,625
17,606
1,487,329

Date of grant

Ordinary
Shares
Number

Exercisable between

09.08.2003
29.07.2005
30.06.2006
30.06.2007
17.06.2008
01.09.2008
19.06.2009
15.06.2010
12.02.2011

09.08.2010
29.07.2012
30.06.2013
30.06.2014
17.06.2015
01.09.2015
19.06.2016
15.06.2017
12.02.2018
Exercisable on

01.09.2008
01.09.2008
01.09.2010
01.09.2009
01.09.2008
01.09.2010
01.09.2011
01.09.2013
01.09.2010
01.09.2012

The exercise of all options, other than those obtained under the Group’s Save As You Earn scheme, is dependent upon the Group achieving
specified performance targets as disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 49.
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23(b). Share-based payments continued
ii) Fair value of ESOS and SAYE share-based payments
The estimated fair value of the share-based payments granted during the year have been calculated using the Black-Scholes model. Inputs to
the model are summarised as follows:

Weighted average share price at grant
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Average expected life (years)
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting

2008
ESOS

2008
SAYE
3 year

2008
SAYE
5 year

2007
ESOS

2007
SAYE
3 year

2007
SAYE
5 year

412p
412p
29%
10
5%
1%
10%

398p
318p
29%
3
5%
1%
12%

398p
318p
29%
5
5%
1%
28%

345p
345p
23%
10
5%
1%
5%

344p
275p
23%
3
5%
1%
18%

344p
275p
23%
5
5%
1%
27%

The expected volatility is based on historic volatility over a five year period. The expected life is the average expected period to exercise. The risk
free rate of return is the yield on zero-coupon UK government bonds of a term consistent with the assumed option life. The expected dividend
yield is based on the present value of expected future dividend payments to expiry.
Fair values per share of these options were:
2008
Fair value
Grant
of award
date
pence

ESOS
ESOS
ESOS
SAYE – 3 year
SAYE – 5 year

15 June 2007
25 June 2007
12 February 2008
30 July 2007
30 July 2007

194p
179p
133p
136p
116p

Grant
date

2007
Fair value
of award
pence

19 June 2006
–
–
21 June 2006
21 June 2006

82p
–
–
107p
122p

iii) Co-Investment Plan
The Group operates a Co-Investment Plan for Directors, the exercise of which depends on the achievement of certain market related
performance conditions.
The scheme and its performance criteria are fully explained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 50.
iv) Fair value of Co-Investment Plan share based payments
The Monte Carlo model has been used to determine fair value of Co-Investment Plan grants. Assumptions used in the model were as follows:
Share price at grant (pence)
Exercise price (pence)
Average expected life (years)
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
Average share price volatility FTSE Real Estate comparator group (market related performance condition assumption)
Average correlation FTSE Real Estate comparator group (market related performance condition assumption)
Fair value per option

2008

2007

405p
Nil
3
5%
1%
23%
80%
188p

345p
Nil
3
5%
1%
23%
80%
165p

The expected Workspace share price volatility was determined by taking account of the daily share price movement over a five year period. The
respective FTSE 250 Real Estate share price volatility and correlations were also determined over the same periods. The average expected
term to exercise used in the models has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions and behavioural conditions and historical experience.
The risk free rate has been determined from market yield curves for government gilts with outstanding terms equal to the average expected
term to exercise for each relevant grant. The expected dividend yield was determined by calculating the present value of expected future
dividend payments to expiry.
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23(b). Share-based payments continued
v) Cash settled share based payments
National Insurance payments due on the exercise of non-approved ESOS options are considered cash settled share based payments.
vi) Fair value of cash settled share-based payments
The estimated fair value of the National Insurance cash settled share based payments have been calculated using the Black-Scholes model.
Inputs to the model for the grants during the year are summarised as follows:
Share price at 31 March
Exercise price
Expected volatility
Term of option remaining (years)
Risk free rate
Expected dividend yield
Possibility of ceasing employment
Fair value of cash-based payment per share

2008

2007

275p
393p
29%
9.45
5%
1%
10%
67p

503p
345p
15%
9.22
5%
1%
4%
248p

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.7
(0.8)

0.7
1.2

vii) Share-based payment charges
The Group recognised a total charge/(credit) in relation to share based payments as follows:

Equity settled share-based payments charged to equity
Cash settled share-based payments charged to the income statement
24. Other reserves

Hedging
reserve
£m

Balance at 1 April 2006
Loan stock conversion
Value of employee services
Balance at 31 March 2007
Fair value movement on derivatives
Value of employee services
Balance at 31 March 2008

–
–
–
–
(2.9)
–
(2.9)

Equity
element of
convertible
loan stock
£m

0.2
(0.2)
–
–
–
–
–

Equity
settled share
based
payments
£m

0.6
–
0.7
1.3
–
0.7
2.0

Total
£m

0.8
(0.2)
0.7
1.3
(2.9)
0.7
(0.9)

25. Statement of changes in shareholders’ equity

Balance at 1 April 2006
Share issues
ESOT shares released
Dividends paid
Loan stock conversion
Value of employee services
Profit for the year
Balance at 31 March 2007
Share issues
ESOT shares net (purchase)/release
Dividends paid
Fair value movement on derivatives
Value of employee services
Loss for the year
Balance at 31 March 2008
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Share
capital
£m

Share
premium
£m

16.9
0.1
–
–
0.4
–
–
17.4
–
–
–
–
–
–
17.4

28.7
0.2
–
–
1.8
–
–
30.7
0.1
–
–
–
–
–
30.8

Investment
in own
shares
£m

(5.1)
–
2.3
–
–
–
–
(2.8)
(1.7)
–
–
–
–
(4.5)

Other
reserves
£m

0.8
–
–
–
(0.2)
0.7
–
1.3
–
–
–
(2.9)
0.7
–
(0.9)

Retained
earnings
£m

349.0
–
–
(6.4)
–
–
193.4
536.0
–
–
(7.3)
–
–
(34.7)
494.0

Total
equity
£m

390.3
0.3
2.3
(6.4)
2.0
0.7
193.4
582.6
0.1
(1.7)
(7.3)
(2.9)
0.7
(34.7)
536.8

26. Investment in own shares
The Company has established an Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) to purchase shares in the market for distribution at a later date
in accordance with the terms of the 1993 and 2000 Executive Share Option Schemes. The shares are held by an independent trustee and
the rights to dividends on the shares have been waived except where the shares are beneficially owned by participants. On 18 July 2007, the
Trust purchased 500,000 shares in the Company for a cash consideration of £1.9m. During the year the Trust transferred 370,500 shares
to employees on exercise of options for a cash consideration of £0.4m. At 31 March 2008, the number of shares held by the Trust totalled
2,937,951 (2007: 2,738,360). The shares have been included at cost in shareholders’ equity. At 31 March 2008 the market value of shares
held in the ESOT was £8.1m (2007: £13.8m) compared to a nominal value of £0.3m (2007: £0.3m).
In addition, the ESOT holds 258,894 (2007: 504,565) shares earmarked for the provision of matching awards under the Company’s
Co-Investment plan.
27. Joint Venture
Workspace Group PLC holds 50% of the ordinary share capital of Workspace Glebe Limited. Its interest in this joint venture has been equity
accounted for in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Investment in joint venture:
31 March 2008 31 March 2007
£m
£m

Share of joint venture at start of year
Share of joint venture (loss)/profit after tax for the year
Net equity movements in joint venture
Net loan movements with joint venture
Unrealised profit on sale of properties to joint venture
Share of joint venture at end of year
Comprising:
Unlisted shares at cost
Group’s share of post acquisition retained (loss)/profit after tax
Unrealised profit on sale of properties to joint venture
Loan to joint venture

18.5
(2.8)
–
–
–
15.7

–
1.7
1.0
18.5
(2.7)
18.5

1.0
(1.1)
(2.7)
18.5
15.7

1.0
1.7
(2.7)
18.5
18.5

The Group’s share of amounts of each of current assets, long term assets, current liabilities and long term liabilities, income and expenses are
shown below:
Assets and liabilities:
31 March 2008 31 March 2007
£m
£m

Investment properties
Current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Group share of joint venture net assets

81.9
1.3
83.2
(2.7)
(64.8)
(67.5)
15.7

78.8
2.2
81.0
(1.8)
(60.7)
(62.5)
18.5
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27. Joint Venture continued
Income and expenses:
Year ended
Year ended
31 March 2008 31 March 2007
£m
£m

Revenue
Direct costs
Net rental income
Administrative expenses
Change in fair value of investment property
Finance costs – interest payable
Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments
(Loss)/profit before tax
Taxation
(Loss)/profit after tax

5.0
(1.3)
3.7
(0.1)
(2.0)
(3.9)
(1.5)
(3.8)
1.0
(2.8)

4.2
(1.1)
3.1
(0.1)
1.4
(3.1)
1.2
2.5
(0.8)
1.7

The Group’s share of capital commitments of the Workspace Glebe joint venture were £2.2m (2007: £0.2m) for commitments under contract
and £5.9m (2007: £5.0m) authorised by directors but not contracted.
Transactions between the Group and its joint venture are set out below. These are related party transactions as defined in IAS24.
31 March 2008 31 March 2007
£m
£m

Transactions:
Sale of properties to joint venture
Recharges to joint venture
Recharges from joint venture
Balances with joint venture at 31 March:
Amounts receivable
Amounts payable

–
0.6
(0.1)
3.3
–

146.0
0.4
(0.2)
–
(0.7)

Workspace Group manages the funding of the joint venture, collecting rents and settling expenses. Amounts receivable and payable represent
short-term funding balances between the Group’s and the joint venture’s bank accounts.
28. Capital commitments
At the year end the estimated amounts of contractual commitments for future capital expenditure not provided for were:

Under contract:
Purchases, construction or re-development of investment property
Repairs, maintenance or enhancement of investment property

Authorised by directors but not contracted :
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Purchases, construction or re-development of investment property
Repairs, maintenance or enhancement of investment property
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2008
£m

2007
£m

13.3
0.2
13.5

10.5
0.1
10.6

0.1
0.1
12.9
5.1
18.2

0.5
–
6.4
7.5
14.4

29. Subsidiary undertakings
Except where indicated otherwise, the Company (incorporated in the UK) wholly owns the following subsidiary undertakings incorporated in
the UK and registered in England, all of which are consolidated in the Group‘s financial statements:
Name

Nature of business

Share capital (ordinary shares)

Workspace 11 Ltd
Workspace 13 Ltd
Workspace 14 Ltd*
Workspace 15 Ltd
Workspace 6 Ltd
Workspace 10 Ltd
Redhill Workspace Ltd
Workspace Holdings Ltd
London Industrial (Kingsland Viaduct) Ltd
LI Property Services Ltd
Workspace Management Ltd
Enerjet Limited
Vylan Limited

Property Investment
Property Investment
Property Investment
Property Investment
Dormant
Dormant
Dormant
Holding Company
Dormant
Insurance Agents
Property Management
Dormant
Dormant

88,861,629 shares of £1 each
138,769,656 shares of £1 each
426,861,210 shares of £1 each
37,772,814 shares of £1 each
1 share of £1
1 share of £1
1 share of £1
2 shares of £1 each
1 share of £1
100 shares of £1 each
2 shares of £1 each
1 share of £1
1,176,753 shares of £1 each

*The share capital of this subsidiary is held by another Group company.

In addition the Group holds a 50% interest in the share capital of Workspace Glebe Limited a property investment company incorporated in the
UK and registered in England. The share capital of Workspace Glebe Limited is 2,000,000 ordinary shares of £1 each.
30. Pension commitments
The Group operates a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The pension cost charge for the year totals £0.5m (2007: £0.4m) and represents contributions payable by the
Group to the fund.
The Group’s commitment with regard to pension contributions range from 6% to 16.5% of an employee’s salary and employee contributions
range from 3% to 15%. The pension scheme is open to every employee after 3 months’ qualifying service. The number of employees in the
scheme at the year end was 88 (2007: 88).
31. Operating lease commitments
The following future minimum lease payments are due under non cancellable operating leases:

Motor vehicles:
Due within one year
Due between two and five years

2008
£m

2007
£m

0.1
–
0.1

0.1
0.1
0.2

Workspace Group PLC
Annual Report and Accounts 2008

83

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
MEMBERS OF WORKSPACE GROUP PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of
Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2008 which
comprise the Balance Sheet and the related notes. These parent
company financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described
as having been audited.
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of
Workspace Group PLC for the year ended 31 March 2008.
Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the
Directors’ Remuneration Report and the parent company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors’
Responsibilities.
Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements
and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report,
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
company’s members as a body in accordance with Section 235 of the
Companies Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the
parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you
whether in our opinion the information given in the Directors' Report
is consistent with the parent company financial statements. The
information given in the Directors’ Report includes that specific
information presented in the Operating and Financial Review that
is cross referred from the Business Review section of the Directors’
Report. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has
not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration
and other transactions is not disclosed.
We read other information contained in the Annual Report and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company
financial statements. The other information comprises only the
Performance Highlights, the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief
Executive’s Review, the Business Review, the Report of the Directors,
Directors’ Responsibilities, the Corporate Governance Report, the
unaudited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report, the Group
financial statements and related notes, and the other items included
in the contents section.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any
apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the parent
company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to
any other information.
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Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board.
An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant
to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation
of the parent company financial statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the parent company financial statements and the
part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent
company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.
Opinion
In our opinion:
• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2008;
• the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and
• the information given in the Directors' Report is consistent with
the parent company financial statements.
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
London
6 June 2008

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
As at 31 March

Notes

2008
£m

2007
£m

Fixed assets
Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Investment in joint venture

C
D

265.4
19.5
284.9

–
19.5
19.5

Current assets
Debtors

E

43.3

401.3

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current (liabilities)/assets
Total assets less current liabilities

F

(52.4)
(9.1)
275.8

(136.0)
265.3
284.8

Provisions for liabilities and charges
Net assets

G

(19.5)
256.3

(20.9)
263.9

H
H
H
H

17.4
30.8
(4.5)
212.6
256.3

17.4
30.7
(2.8)
218.6
263.9
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Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium account
Investment in own shares
Profit and loss account
Total shareholders’ funds
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 June 2008 and were signed on its behalf by
H Platt
G Clemett
Directors
The notes on pages 86 and 87 form part of these financial statements.

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A. Accounting policies
Although the group consolidated accounts are prepared under IFRS,
the Workspace Group plc company accounts are prepared under UK
GAAP. The principal accounting policies of the Company are:
(a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost
convention and in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and
UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP). FRS 29
Financial Instruments – Disclosure (the UK GAAP equivalent of
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosure) has been adopted by
the Company, but the disclosure requirements are met in note 18
of the Group accounts. The adoption of the standard did not result
in any adjustments to the financial statements.
(b) Cash flow statement
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS1 not
to produce a cash flow statement as one is prepared for the Group
financial statements.
(c) Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Interests in subsidiary undertakings are carried in the Company’s
balance sheet at cost less impairment. Impairment in subsidiaries
is taken to the profit and loss account.
(d) Compound financial instruments
At the date of issue of compound financial instruments, the fair value
of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-compound debt. The difference between
the proceeds of issue and the fair value of the liability is included in
equity. The interest payable and amortisation of the carrying value
of the liability component are recognised as interest expense so as
to maintain a constant rate of interest on the carrying value.
(e) Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided on taxable profits at the
current rate.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from differences between
the recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and
their recognition in a tax computation.
In accordance with FRS 19 deferred tax has been recognised in
respect of all timing differences which have originated, but not
reversed, by the balance sheet date, except that deferred tax has
not been recognised on any potential capital gain where a binding
sale commitment is not in place.

B. Profit for the year
As permitted by Section 230(3) of the Companies Act 1985, the profit
and loss account of the Company is not presented as part of these
financial statements. The profit attributable to shareholders, before
dividend payments, dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company was £1.3m (2007: £142.0m).
Auditors’ remuneration of £10,000 (2007: £10,000) has been borne
by a subsidiary undertaking.
Proposed dividends are disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.
C. Investment in subsidiary undertakings
Refer to note 29 (page 83) for the list of subsidiary undertakings.
£m

Balance at 1 April 2007
New shares issued
Balance at 31 March 2008

–
265.4
265.4

During the year the Company was issued with 265,404,096 additional
£1 shares at par from Workspace 11 Limited, Workspace 13 Limited
and Workspace 15 Limited. Payment for these was made via
intercompany accounts.
D. Investment in joint venture
£m

Balance at 1 April 2007
Net investment in joint venture
Balance at 31 March 2008

19.5
–
19.5

E. Debtors
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Amounts owed by related parties
Prepayments and accrued income
Corporation tax – payment on account

2008
£m

2007
£m

30.1
8.8
–
4.4
43.3

396.7
–
0.6
4.0
401.3

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and
repayable on demand. Interest is charged to subsidiary undertakings.

The Company has not discounted deferred tax assets and liabilities.
(f) Share schemes
Incentives are provided to employees under share option schemes.
The Company has established an Employee Share Ownership Trust
(ESOT) to satisfy part of its obligation to provide shares when Group
employees exercise their options. The Company provides funding to
the ESOT to purchase these shares.
The Company itself has no employees. When the Company grants
share options to Group employees as part of their remuneration, the
expense of the share options is reflected in a subsidiary undertaking,
Workspace Management Limited.

F. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Amounts owed to related parties
11.125% First Mortgage Debenture Stock (secured)
11.625% First Mortgage Debenture Stock (secured)
Taxation and social security payable
Accruals

2008
£m

2007
£m

46.4
5.5
–
–
0.4
0.1
52.4

116.4
–
12.5
7.0
–
0.1
136.0

The debentures were repaid on 30 June 2007.
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured and
repayable on demand. Interest is paid to subsidiary undertakings.
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G. Provisions for liabilities and charges
Total
£m

Balance at 1 April 2007
Credit for the year
Balance at 31 March 2008

20.9
(1.4)
19.5

The provision comprises an indemnity to the joint venture (refer note
22(b) of the consolidated financial statements).
H. Capital and reserves
Movements and notes applicable to share capital, share premium
account and investment in own shares are shown in notes 23, 25
and 26 (of the consolidated financial statements).
Profit and loss account:
£m

Balance at 1 April 2007
Profit for the year
Dividends paid
Balance at 31 March 2008

218.6
1.3
(7.3)
212.6

I. Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds

Profit for the financial year
Dividends paid
Issue of shares
Net (purchase)/distribution of own shares
Net movement in shareholders’ funds
Opening shareholders’ funds
Closing shareholders’ funds

2008
£m

2007
£m

1.3
(7.3)
0.1
(1.7)
(7.6)
263.9
256.3

142.0
(6.5)
2.5
2.3
140.3
123.6
263.9
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FIVE YEARS PERFORMANCE
2004-2008

31 March
2008
£m

Rents receivable
Service charges and other income
Revenue
Profit before taxation (on trading operations)
Profit before taxation
Profit after taxation
Earnings per share
Earnings per share on trading operations
Dividends per share
Investment properties
Less: net liabilities
Less: long-term indebtedness
Net assets
Gearing
Net assets per share
Diluted adjusted net assets per share

51.4
15.5
66.9
11.1
(37.0)
(34.7)
(20.2)p
6.5p
4.56p
994.3
(79.5)
(378.0)
536.8
82%
£3.13
£3.11

31 March
2007
£m

45.6
14.3
59.9
10.2
112.5
193.4
115.1p
6.4p
4.14p
1,001.6
(58.3)
(360.7)
582.6
65%
£3.40
£3.36

31 March
2006
£m

49.2
14.0
63.2
15.1
149.0
106.6
65.1p
7.1p
3.76p
962.2
(145.8)
(426.1)
390.3
110%
£2.37
£3.01

31 March
2005
£m

43.3
11.7
55.0
14.5
82.8
58.5
36.1p
6.3p
3.41p
716.5
(105.6)
(322.4)
288.5
112%
£1.77
£2.23

31 March
2004
£m

39.5
11.6
51.1
14.1
68.9
48.3
30.1p
6.1p
3.10p
626.8
(86.7)
(306.5)
233.6
132%
£1.46
£1.82

Five Year
Growth
(compound)

Ten Year
Growth
(compound)

7.6%

12.0%

8.3%
(2.4)%
n/a
n/a
n/a
1.6%
10.2%
14.5%

12.2%
7.1%
n/a
n/a
n/a
9.2%
10.4%
18.3%

23.0%

19.2%

21.3%
15.7%

18.2%
19.1%

Earnings per share and net assets per share reflect bonus share issue in March 2005.
2004 reflects the major UKGAAP to IFRS adjustments only (IAS40, IAS12, IAS10, IAS23 and IAS39).

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
Key property statistics

31 March
2008

31 March
2007†

31 March
2006

31 March
2005

31 March
2004

31 March
2003

31 March
2002

106
5.16
4,611
1,118
3,972
639
£52.56m
£11.88
85.82%
9,414
1,007

101
4.91
4,304
1,139
3,734
571
£47.15m
£11.34
84.84%
7,913
1,149

104
5.77
4,952
1,166
4,053
899
£46.59m
£9.58
84.26%
6,623
1,054

103
5.16
4,717
1,093
3,940
777
£42.28m
£9.29
88.26%
7,764
1,012

101
5.32
4,547
1,169
3,773
774
£38.09m
£8.55
83.82%
6,052
1,060

92
5.10
4,164
1,218
3,640
550
£35.91m
£8.21
85.65%
6,171
819

87
4.85
3,726
1,302
3,247
479
£29.56m
£7.20
84.67%
4,792
738

Workspace Glebe Joint Venture:

31 March
2008

31 March
2007

Number of estates
Lettable floorspace (m sq ft)◆
Number of lettable units (units)
Average unit size (sq ft)
Number of units occupied (units)
Number of units vacant (units)•
Rent roll of occupied units (£m)
Average rent per sq ft
Overall occupancy•
Enquiries (no.)
Lettings (no.)

18
1.2
866
1,337
623
260
£7.16m
£7.80
79.8%
1,324
86

15
1.2
813
1,424
744
69
£8.12m
£7.49
89.8%
1,265
116

Workspace Group:

Number of estates
Lettable floorspace (m sq ft)◆
Number of lettable units (units)
Average unit size (sq ft)
Number of units occupied (units)
Number of units vacant (units)•
Rent roll of occupied units (£m)
Average rent per sq ft
Overall occupancy•
Enquiries (no.)
Lettings (no.)

◆ Excludes storage space.
• Includes floorspace/units withdrawn for refurbishment/development.
† During 2007 a portfolio of properties totalling 1.24m sq ft with a rental income of £7.18m was transferred to the joint venture.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Bps abbreviation for basis points. One basis point being 0.01%.
Diluted adjusted NAV per share is NAV as adjusted for fair value
adjustments on derivatives (less tax) and deferred tax on fair value
adjustments of investment properties and then the effect of those
shares potentially issuable under employee share schemes.
Earnings per share (EPS) is the profit after taxation divided by the
weighted average number of shares in issue during the period.
Diluted EPS is determined as set out under NAV.
Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT) is the trust created by the
Group to hold shares pending exercise of employee share options.
EPRA NAV is the definition of net asset value as set out by the
European Public Real Estate Association.
Equivalent yield is a weighted average of the initial yield and
reversionary yield and represents the return a property will produce
based upon the timing of the occupancy of the property and timing of
the income receivable. This is approximated by the reversionary yield
multiplied by the Group trend occupancy of 90%.

Other items in the Income Statement include profits and losses
(together with their related taxation) on sales of investment properties
and items of a non trading nature such as: valuation adjustments
arising from the fair valuing of investment properties and derivative
financial instruments; adjustments arising from the treatment of
head lease payments as interest; insurance claim proceeds; and
certain adjustments arising from the estimation of the cost of
employee share-based payments.
Profit/(loss) before tax (PBT) is income less all expenditure other
than taxation.
Property Income Distribution (PID) a dividend generally subject
to withholding tax that a UK REIT is required to pay from its
tax-exempted property-rental business and which is taxable
for UK resident shareholders at their marginal tax rate.
REIT (Real Estate Investment Trust) is a listed public company that
fulfils the qualification criteria set by FA 2006 s106 and 107 and has
notified HMRC that it wishes to convert. REITs pay no corporation
tax on income derived from their property rental business.

Rent per sq ft is the current net rent divided by the occupied area.
Estimated rental value (ERV) or market rental value is the Group’s
external valuers’ opinion as to the open market rent, which on the date Reversion/Reversionary income is the increase in rent estimated
of valuation, could reasonably be expected to be obtained on a new
by the Group’s external valuers, where the net rent is below the
letting or rent review.
current estimated rental value. The increases to rent arise on rent
reviews, letting of vacant space, expiry of rent free periods or rental
Gearing is the Group’s net debt as a percentage of net assets.
increase steps.
Initial yield is the net rents generated by a property or by the portfolio
as a whole expressed as a percentage of its valuation.
Interest cover is the number of times net interest payable is covered
by operating profit.
IPD is the Investment Property Databank Ltd, a company that
produces an independent benchmark of property returns.
LIBOR the British Bankers’ Association London Interbank Offer Rate.
Like-for-like are those properties that have been held throughout a
12 month period and have not been subject to a refurbishment
programme in the last 24 months.

Reversionary yield is the anticipated yield, which the initial yield will
rise to once the rent reaches the estimated rental value. It is
calculated by dividing the ERV by the valuation.
Small and Medium Sized Enterprises (SMEs) are those businesses
with a turnover of less than £1m p.a. or staff of less than 50. Most
Workspace customers are SME businesses with staffing of up to 20.
Total Shareholder Return (TSR) is the return obtained by a
shareholder calculated by combining both share price movements
and dividend receipts.
Trading Operations/earnings/PBT etc is that element of
earnings/PBT etc that arises from trading activity alone. It therefore
excludes Other Items (above).

Market rental values (see ERV).
Net assets per share (NAV) are shareholders’ funds, divided by the
number of shares in issue at the period end (excluding shares held in
the ESOT).

Valuation surplus/deficit is measured as the property valuation
movement in the period, excluding the effect of capital expenditure,
property acquisitions or property disposals.

Net rents are current rents excluding any contracted increases and
after deduction of inclusive service charge revenue.
Occupancy percentage is the area of space let divided by the total net
lettable area (excluding land used for open storage).
Open market value is an opinion of the best price at which the sale of
an interest in the property would complete unconditionally for cash
consideration on the date of valuation (as determined by the Group’s
external valuers).
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
1 Embankment Place
London WC2N 6RH
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Norton Rose
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Shareholder enquiries should be addressed
in the first instance to:
Computershare Services PLC
PO Box 82
The Pavilions,
Bridgwater Road,
Bristol BS99 7NH
Telephone number: 0870 707 1413
Alternatively, shareholders can contact Computershare
online via their free Investor Centre facility. Shareholders
have the ability to set up or amend bank details for direct
credit of dividend payments, amend address details, view
payment history and access information on the Company’s
share price. For more information or to register please visit
www-uk.computershare.com/investor
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Registered Office and Headquarters
Magenta House
85 Whitechapel Road
London E1 1DU
Tel: 020 7247 7614
Fax: 020 7247 0157
Email: info@workspacegroup.co.uk
Website: www.workspacegroup.co.uk
Registered Number
2041612
Company Secretary
Amanda Whalley

PUBLICATIONS INDEX

Workspace publishes a wide range of material to assist customers, investors and other interested parties. The following are the principal
documents which are available on the Company’s website or in hard copy. Should you need to order a hard copy or need assistance in accessing
any of this material then contact the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office (details on page 90).
Document/
Area of interest

Available in
hard copy

Investors:
Investors homepage
Annual Accounts
Quarterly Statements
Announcements and Presentations
Listing of our Property Portfolio
Customers:
Customer Charter
Small business help and advice – useful links
Tradelink – On line forum for communication,
advertising, and trading throughout the
Workspace customer community
The Beginners’ Guide to finding the Right
Business Space – a self help guide to
finding accommodation for SMEs
Space to Rent - available property information,
including property descriptions, virtual tours,
location maps and brochures.
Taking space with Workspace –
A selection of Frequently Asked Questions

•
•
•

Other Stakeholder publications
My Life, My Work, My Space – a book
documenting the business stories of
some Workspace SME customers,
in their own words
Changing Environments – a book tracking
the uses of a number of Workspace properties,
past and present
Dynamic Environments – a book illustrating
the diversity of Workspace SME customers
in their activities and industry sectors
Changing Spaces – a brochure detailing
a number of Workspace refurbishment,
intensification of use and change of use schemes

www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/financial_reports/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/financial_reports/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/financial_reports/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/

www.workspacegroup.co.uk/customercharter/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/tradelink/customerinfo/advice/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/tradelink/
•

www.workspacegroup.co.uk/london-commercial-property/helpful/planning/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/london-commercial-property/
Or call our lettings team on 020 7369 2389
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/london-commercial-property/helpful/faqs/

Corporate Governance:
Governance matters – up to date information
on such matters as Compliance with the
Combined Code, matters reserved for the
Board, Board Committees terms of reference
Risk Management – Details of the principal
risks facing the Company and details of
how these risks are mitigated.
Sustainability
Sustainability Report 2008
Sustainability Report 2007

Website link

www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/corporate_governance/

www.workspacegroup.co.uk/investors/risk_management/

•
•

www.workspacegroup.co.uk/sustainability/
www.workspacegroup.co.uk/sustainability/

•

•
•
•
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HELPING LONDON’S BUSINESSES GROW

We provide space and support to a wide variety of
businesses across London: Design space, IT space,
Architectural space, Drinks space, Manufacturing
space, Diet space, Clothing space, Sports space,
Entertainment space, Relaxation space, Travel space,
Job space, Advice space, Natural space, Eating space,
Social space, Consulting space, Reading space,
Thinking space, Green space, Creative Space,
Building space, Virtual space, New space, Think
space, Modern space, Contemporary space, Affordable
space, Different space, Financial space, Help space,
Talk space, Big space, Small space, Bright space,
Motivational space, Spiritual space, Network space,
Next space, Glass space, Practical space, Interactive
space, Engineering space, Health space, Eating space,
Car rental space, Furniture space, Lighting space,
Jewellery space, Restaurant space, Clean living
space, Advertising space, Writing space, Movie
making space, Cinema space, Environmental space,
Consulting space, Workspace – helping London’s
businesses grow.
If you require information regarding business
space in London, visit workspacegroup.co.uk or
call 020 7369 2389.
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FIND OUT MORE ABOUT WORKSPACE

Key investor publications:
1. Annual Report and Accounts 2008
2. Sustainability Report 2008
3. Sustainability Report 2006

This annual report is printed on Take 2 Offset, which contains 100% de-inked
pulp from post-consumer recycled waste. This product is biodegradable,
100% recyclable and elemental chlorine free. Vegetable based inks were used
during production.
Both the paper mill and printer involved in the production support the growth
of responsible forest management and are both accredited to ISO 14001 which
specifies a process for continuous environmental improvement.
Photography by Andy Stewart
Designed by Carnegie Orr (a Workspace Group customer)
020 7610 6140

1.

2.

3.

2.

3.

2.

3.

Customer publications:
1. The Beginners’ Guide to finding
the right business space
2. Blue & Yellow Make Green

1.

2.

Stakeholder publications:
1. My Life, My Work, My Space
2. Changing Environments
3. Dynamic Environments
4. Changing Spaces

1.

Promotional publications:
1-3. Property marketing brochures

1.

Online:
• Business space search
• Tradelink
• Investors
• Refurbishments, Regenerations and Acquisitions

4.

Workspace Group PLC
Magenta House
85 Whitechapel Road
London E1 1DU
T 020 7247 7614
F 020 7247 0157
W workspacegroup.co.uk
E info@workspacegroup.co.uk
If you require information
regarding business space in
London, call 020 7369 2389 or
visit workspacegroup.co.uk

